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(the “Group”) manufacture and distribute quality dairy products in China. It is one of the L ol
leading dairy product manufacturers in China, with MENGNIL as its core brand. gt
Mengniu’s diversified products include liquid milk products (such as UHT milk, milk : ..' ”
beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and other products (such as cheese). |
Data from Nielsen Company reveals that Mengniu’s liquid milk retained its top \
market share in 2014. By the end of December 2014, the Group’s annual
production capacity reached 8.10 million tons. In March 2014, Mengniu
became a Hang Seng Index constituent, making it the first blue chip

Chinese dairy product manufacturer.
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HIGHLIGHTS

S

2014

—E-{F

RMB’000

AR¥ T
Revenue WA 50,049,243 43,356,908
Gross profit EF 15,433,613 11,697,245
Profit attributable to owners of the Company — ZANA R A A &G FIE 2,350,803 1,630,925
Net cash flows from operating activities B E L RIS TRE 3,079,889 3,283,679

Earnings per share (RMB) SREFI(ARET)

— Basic —ERK 1.210 0.904
— Diluted — e 1.203 0.896

Mengniu has continued to integrate strategic resources,
improve operational efficiency, optimize product portfolio
and launch new marketing initiatives and these efforts have
boosted its revenue and profit attributable to owners of the
Company by 15.4% and 44.1% respectively.

China Mengniu International Company Limited (“Mengniu
International”), Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone
Asia”) and Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”) signed
a share subscription agreement, under which Danone Asia
acquired 25% equity interest in Yashili and became its second-
largest shareholder. Upon completion of the subscription in
2015, Mengniu International still holds 51% equity interest in
Yashili and remains as its controlling shareholder. The share
subscription is set to strengthen their cooperation in the infant
milk formula segment.

Mengniu has cooperated with The WhiteWave Foods
Company (“WhiteWave”) from the US to enter the high-
end plant-based nutrition product sector by launching the
plant-based protein beverages under the Silk brand. The
collaboration will optimize its business footprint and make it an
innovation-led food company offering nutrition and health.

Launching the branding campaign “A Drop of Goodness”,
Mengniu will not only produce quality milk, but also deliver
care through its products, thus rebuilding its brand value.

Data from Nielsen Company reveals that Mengniu’s liquid milk
retained its top market share. With a focus on key products,
Mengniu also continuously introduces new products across
different categories. Milk Deluxe continuously upgraded its
products and retained its leadership in market share within the
high-end pure milk market while star products such as Milk
Deluxe, Just Yoghurt, Champion and Yoyi C were also well-
received by the market with substantial growth in sales.

Milk sources provided by ranches and scaled farms accounted
for 96% of Mengniu’s total, maintaining the top spot in the
industry.
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Revenue by Product Mix (For the year ended 31 December)
BREREDZWA(BE+-A=1+—HILLFE)

RMB Million ARBBHE T

) - Liquid Milk ' ~ Ice Cream ) - Milk Formula “v\ Other Products
J T J ACE J % m;j} HipES,

2014

q '

43,036.1 2,716.1  3961.0 336.0

2013

37,902.8 30234 2,177.3 2535

Revenue by Product Mix in qumd Milk Segment (For the year ended 31 December)
RARTNERESZWA(BE+T=-A=1T—HLEFE)
RMB Milion AR¥EE & T

UHT Milk Milk Beverages ~ Yogurt
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23,7016 11,9206 74139
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22,053.3 10,4255 54240
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
FERBERHKE

The Group

Ranked 14th on the “2014 Global Dairy Top 20" list released by
Rabobank

Garnered the “Best Investor Relations” award from Institutional
Investor magazine

Ranked as one of the “Best Performers 50 China” by Global
Entrepreneur magazine

Garnered the “Best Working Capital Management” award by Standard
Chartered Bank

Garnered the “Socially Responsible Enterprise of the Year” award at
the fourth “Seven-star Awards”

Management

Ms. Sun Yiping, CEO, was ranked 5th in the “2014 Forbes China
Business Women List”

Ms. Sun Yiping, CEO, was honored with the “Best CEO in Asia
Consumer Goods Industry” award by Institutional Investor magazine

Ms. Sun Yiping, CEO, garnered the “2014 China Corporate Social
Responsibility Outstanding Entrepreneur” award in the seventh “China
Corporate Social Responsibility Summit”

Ms. Sun Yiping, CEO, was selected as one of the “2014 Most Influential
Business Women” by China Entrepreneur magazine

Mengniu Brand

Ranked 3rd (among fast-moving consumer goods) by Kantar
Worldpanel Consumer Index

Ranked 38th on the 2014 Hurun Brand list

Included in the “2014 China’s Most Valuable Brand List” of Interbrand, a
leading global brand consultation institution

Mengniu Products

Milk Deluxe garnered the award of “2014 Leading Brands that Influence
China”

The development of Milk Deluxe Chunxian was granted the “Outstanding
Award in Science and Technology” by China National Light Industry
Council

Yoyi C received the “Wellcome Favourite Brands” award by Hong Kong
supermarket chain Wellcome

Awakening Youth was honored with the “China Bone Health
Enhancement Project Outstanding Contribution” award by the China
Health Promotion Foundation and International Osteoporosis Foundation

Mengniu’s ice cream was elected as the “2014 University Students’
Favourite Ice Cream Brand” in the “2014 University Students’ Favourite
Brand Carnival and the 9th University Students’ Favourite Brand Award
Presentation Ceremony”

Mengniu was granted the C-BPI champion in four categories — ice
cream (excluding the ice cream sold in the brand stores), lactobacillus
drinks (including milk beverages), fresh milk (pure milk) and yogurt —
“the Third Chinese Brand Leader Summit 2014”
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2014 MILESTONES

March 3H

Becomes the first blue chip Chinese
dairy product manufacturer

At the close of market on 7 March,
Mengniu became a Hang Seng Index
constituent, making it the first blue chip
Chinese dairy product manufacturer.

BRERTEARRECEERR
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March 38

Danone S.A. and its subsidiaries (the
“Danone Group”) become Mengniu’s
second largest strategic shareholder
Completed share placement to Danone
Group, the world’s largest fresh dairy
enterprise. With its shareholding in Mengniu
raised from 4.0% to 9.9% of the enlarged
share capital, Danone Group has become
the second largest strategic shareholder of
Mengniu.

Danone S.A. & H ¥ A 8 (##[ Danone
H ) RASE - REBERR

SEAK A 2 BR & — B 7L &L @ 1 2 Danone & B iR
ER(D : Danonek EIF A KR4 AR A H4.0%
BELIEBRBBANII%  KASFLEFE K

April 48

COFCO Group, Mengniu and

Arla Foods collaborate closely to
advance research and innovation on
food nutrition and health

The China-Denmark Milk Technology
Cooperation Center formally debuted
at the COFCO Nutrition and Health
Research Institute in Beijing on 26 April.
Arla China Innovation Center, which
focuses on developing cheese products
for Chinese consumers, was also
inaugurated at the same time and place,
marking another milestone in the close
collaboration among the COFCO Group,
Mengniu and Arla Foods.

FEEE R4 HArla FoodsBH A
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August 8 B

Commences the branding campaign
“A Drop of Goodness” to spread love
and care

Mengniu has launched the branding
campaign “A Drop of Goodness”, fully
complementing the brand proposition
“Little Happiness Matters”. Through the
simplest and most persistent action of
“A Drop of Goodness”, Mengniu showed
the consumers every little change it had
made for better quality and conveyed its
care and developed the resonance and
value recognition between the brand and
consumers through its milk.

BB - ANTF I RETE  EEMN
TR

RRE) — B — R AF | MEETTE) - B R
REEEAE | mEER 0 EFEIRZM
TEEM - BB —H—BNFIE &
8 BRENTR  RHEE TR
ERETREREREEEITANE K
g YRTNRMMAEREE - 238
BEEEDEOBRASNEERR -




October 108

Mengniu and Danone Group strengthen
strategic alliance as Danone Asia becomes
a shareholder of Yashili

On 30 October, Mengniu, Yashili and Danone
Asia jointly entered into a share subscription
agreement whereby Danone Asia is to engage
in the private issuance of shares by Yashili at
the issue price of HK$3.7 per share. The private
issuance transaction was completed in February
2015. After completion of the transaction,
Danone Asia became the second largest
shareholder of Yashili, with 256% of its shares
while Mengniu still held 51% of the shares as the
controlling shareholder of Yashili.
S4-EDanone REE B SEFAR  FRETMA
FR 7 ==
+A=+8 T4 B - EDMNEEES
TRABE T o BB - EEM G2
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November 11 8

Unveils a new cross-industry
cooperative model with Didi

On 24 November, Mengniu and Didi held
a launch ceremony to mark a strategic
alliance in Beijing and commenced a
series of collaborative online and offline
activities. Mengniu was the first fast-
moving consumer goods enterprise in
the country to engage in cross-over
partnership with Didi, opening up a
new model of cross-over cooperation
between a traditional enterprise and an
internet enterprise.
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November 11 8

Launches collaborations in New Zealand to accelerate
implementation of Mengniu’s internationalization strategy
China President Xi Jinping and New Zealand Prime Minister
John Key jointly witnessed Mengniu and Yashili signing
contracts for a series of cooperative projects in New Zealand,
encouraging the globalization of the dairy enterprises of both
countries. Mengniu and New Zealand partners, Pengxin and
Miraka, jointly launched Milk Deluxe Global Selection Pure Milk
from New Zealand, which is a crucial step towards Mengniu’s
internationalization strategy.
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November 11 A8

The SAP system achieves phased progress,
substantially improving the Group’s operational
efficiency

As one of the revolutionary innovative projects of the
Group during 2014, all of the milestone projects of
SAP system within the year have been completed on
time at the end of November with satisfactory results
in both quality and quantity. Through the SAP system,
the Group created an integrated platform, unified
management standards and a consolidated database
for the whole business involved in the supply chain
of Mengniu, at the same time, integrated Mengniu’s
financial and operational functions.
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December 124

Forms joint venture to debut in the
plant-based beverage market

Mengniu and leading North American
food enterprise, WhiteWave formed a joint
venture in January, with each party holding
51% and 49% interest respectively.
In  December, Mengniu introduced
ZhiPuMoFang, a high-end plant-based
protein beverage made with leading
original nut grinding technology, entering
the plant-based beverage market.
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Ongoing in 2014 £ &

Builds a win-win ecosystem to promote the
industry’s sustainable development

Based on the ecosystem philosophy of
“harmony, symbiosis and regeneration”, after
thorough discussion with several strategic
cooperation partners, the management of
Mengniu has resolved to launch a win-win
ecosystem project and implement the related
sub-projects for enhancing the Group’s
competitiveness.
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CEO’S STATEMENT

ENHANCING

OUR STRENGTH
AND ADVANCING
THROUGH
COLLABORATION
AND INNOVATION

FEER BRI
EEHFHECH

Ms. Sun Yiping
BFE

Chief Executive Officer
ABE

In 2014, Mengniu successfully maintained stable growth
through proactive collaboration with its strategic partners while
strengthening its milk sources, bolstering its product offerings,
reinforcing its sales channels and enhancing branding and
corporate management. Through constant effort, Mengniu has
made substantial progress and laid a solid foundation for its long-
term growth in the future. The achievements are gained through the
dedicated efforts of each and every one in the Group to enhance
the quality, build the brand, initiate sincere communication, drive
system transformation, develop win-win ecosystem and realize
internationalization.

In the past year, Mengniu has optimized its business structure
and perfected its product mix through closer integration of global
resources and bolstering cooperation with its strategic partners. To
tap into the huge Chinese yogurt market, the joint venture between
Mengniu and Danone Group has gradually but comprehensively
upgraded its chilled plant and optimized its sales channel in line
with Danone Group’s worldwide production and quality control
standards. Building on the successful cooperation in the chilled
business operation, Mengniu and Danone Group are now pooling
their respective strengths again in the milk formula sector. With a
25%-shareholding, Danone Asia has become the second largest
shareholder of Yashili. Leveraging Danone Group’s expertise in the
global infant milk formula market, Yashili plans to offer more infant
milk formula products that meet international standards to domestic
consumers. To enhance Yashili’s competitiveness, Mengniu is
also advancing Yashili’s organizational, branding, channel and
product restructuring. In other important strategic relationships, the
cooperation between Mengniu and Arla Foods in areas such as the
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import business, advanced ranch technologies and dairy product
nutritional studies is progressing as planned, while ZhiPuMoFang,
the plant-based protein beverage launched in collaboration with
WhiteWave have also been rolled out during the year, thereby
diversifying Mengniu’s product line. Mengniu appreciates the solid
support of these industry-leading strategic partners.

As quality and stable milk sources are vital to Mengniu, it spares
no effort to foster a win-win ecosystem hand in hand with leading
players in the industry, whether upstream or downstream. The
aim here is to optimize the structure of the Group’s milk sources,
ensure their quality, and facilitate the transformation, upgrade and
achieve sustainable development of the industry as a whole. To do
so, during the year, Mengniu has actively promoted development
of small- and medium-sized family-based ranches, helped
upgrade the equipment of its milk sources, introduced high quality
production services, established a resources sharing network, and
set up “University of Ranchers”, bearing the principle of “talented
people can raise good cows, good cows can produce quality milk”,
to provide theoretical and practical training to the managerial staff
of ranches.

Innovation has been the key component of Mengniu’s
transformation in 2014. In the internet age, Mengniu has redefined
milk with product category, taste, packaging and other innovations,
and has launched products such as Just Yoghurt, Minion Banana
Milk, M-PLUS Sport Milk and ZhiPuMoFang, with “WOW” effects
that cater to the varied tastes of the consumers. At the World
Dairy Innovation Awards 2014, Mengniu’s star products including
XinYangDao, Champion and milk containing grain were among the
products nominated for the World Dairy Innovation Awards.
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CEO’s Statement #2#, 35
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CEO’s Statement & 3E

In respect of brand building, Mengniu has also utilized the
internet as well as new social media to more creatively connect
with consumers. It has moved from merely launching marketing
campaigns to emphasizing consumer interactions that bring best
brand experience. For example, Mengniu has pioneered the first
“Cloud Ranch” concept in the industry to enhance consumers’
confidence by offering “visible” quality using Baidu’s cloud
technology and 2-D barcode tracking system. Meanwhile, its
creative Mengniu Life Experience Hall, the first of its kind in the
world, offers the consumers a range of amazing activities, such as
“A Happy Year of Luck and Red Packets”, “Just Yoghurt World”.
Furthermore, through cooperating with Didi, Mengniu became the
first domestic fast-moving consumer goods enterprise to initiate
cross-over cooperation between a traditional enterprise and an
internet enterprise. Our ever-improving innovation capability was
amply demonstrated through the various mobile internet awards we
have garnered during the year.

Channel reform has also been implemented by Mengniu. By
promoting the Central Business Unit (“CBU”) in key markets,
Mengniu has streamlined and more clearly delineated its sales
channels while enhancing the penetration and coverage of its
channels network. Mengniu has also bolstered collaboration with
distributors in order to strengthen direct control over the points-of-
sale and improve its market competitiveness, thereby enhancing the
overall profitability of the channels. In addition, Mengniu has also
enlarged its e-commerce business by riding on the development
of the internet and integrating mobile and online platforms, such
as Tmall.com, Yhd.com and JD.com, with the offline services of its
distributors.

We have also carried out a full internal system upgrade. The
implementation of the SAP intelligent information management
system has been progressing as scheduled, while both the
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) and Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) systems have been successfully rolled
out. These initiatives have enhanced our operating efficiency,
synergies and collaboration. Furthermore, we have broken system
barriers, streamlining management structure. We have also utilized
Wechat and continued to improve the flexibility, efficiency and
creativity of our system.

To achieve delicacy management, systematization and
internationalization, talent are indispensible to Mengniu. To
develop its human resources, the Group has launched two talent
selection and training programs, namely the “Management 100
Series” (including “Mengniu TOP20”, “Mengniu 100", “Mengniu
100 Junior” and “Mengniu 100 MT”) and the “Professional 100
Series” (including “Technology 1007, “Milk Source 100", “Quality
1007, “Sales 100”), in 2014. With the aim of motivating its staff to
grow together with the Group, Mengniu has put in place a five-
tier incentive system including the awarding of restricted shares
to employees who have made outstanding contributions to the
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Group’s sustainable development. We believe that for innovation to
take root in Mengniu’s corporate culture, we must encourage every
staff to innovate instead of just passively waiting for management
instructions.

The world is rapidly changing, and these changes are shaped by
the intangible power of culture and values. As such, the foundation
for Mengniu’s future growth and development rests on a better
corporate culture. Alongside our brand philosophy of “Openness,
Integrity, Accountability and Innovation”, we place “Openness” and
“Integrity” as our top corporate values because they are the duties
of every food enterprise, whose everyday activities affect the safety
and health of 1.3 billion lives. Therefore, we dedicate considerable
effort to improving our quality and strictly implementing safety
controls throughout our entire operation, and striving for growth
with quality.

In 2015, after a series of improvements, Mengniu is well prepared
to embark on a new start. It will drive business reform by
formulating better strategies, building superior brands, improving
its systems and procedures, developing more professional staff
and nurturing its culture. Looking forward, to realize its aim to
achieve comprehensive progress, Mengniu has to go beyond
China and utilize global resources. The Group must not only offer
dairy products, but also provide nutritional and healthy foods
while leading the industry in both product mix and innovation.
We continue to strengthen cooperation with our global strategic
partners in order to acquire advanced technologies and
management techniques from around the world. To strengthen
our business structure, we intend to bolster efforts in product
innovation and research and development. We are striving to
establish streamlined and more efficient sales channels and a
stronger and more effective internal organizational structure,
refine our systems and procedures, and implement digitalized
management, thereby enhancing the overall competitiveness of
Mengniu. We are dedicated to transformational innovations and
the use of the internet to achieve closer interaction with consumers
and forge closer collaboration between upstream and downstream
players across the industry.

Eventually, every little change together will bring forth a modern
Mengniu. While change in the world continues to accelerate,
innovation and creativity will give us the strength to move forward,
while practical actions will make Mengniu stronger. Mengniu will
continue to advance toward becoming a consumer-oriented and
innovation-led food company offering nutrition and health.

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MARKET REVIEW

Data from Nielsen Company indicates that China’s liquid milk
achieved a 11.8% growth in total sales in 2014. Dairy consumption
of China’s urban residents was comprised mainly of liquid milk
products, among which basic pure milk, high-end pure milk, UHT
yogurt and lactobacillus drinks are the categories which are most
rapidly growing. With the upgrade of the dairy industry’s product
structure, the market share of high-end dairy products continued to
increase and has become the main contributor of profit growth.

A number of policies and measures implemented by the
government in recent years have been a shot to the arm to restore
consumer confidence in domestic dairy products. However, the per
capita consumption of dairy products in China remains much lower
than the levels of other countries, so there is still huge room for the
development of the industry. During the year, local dairy companies
have worked more closely with overseas players and this
strategic collaboration has consolidated the foundation for further
development of the industry. While the demand for dairy products
in China has advanced to a stage of steady growth, companies
still must strive to reinforce their foundation and enhance their core
strengths so to maintain a leading presence in this industry over the
long run.

As for milk sources, the excess supply around the world has
caused the global milk cost to drop, which is favorable to
downstream dairy companies because lower raw material costs
can result in higher gross profit margin.
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Mengniu becomes NBA's official partner in China
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Launches “Innovative Youths are the Most Beautiful” for nutrition-
related projects of university students
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2014, through adhering to the development vision of “becoming
a consumer-oriented and innovation-led food company offering
health and nutrition”, Mengniu embarked on a new portfolio strategy
in collaboration with business partners in order to further integrate
capital, technology, product and management, aimed at improving
its business coverage and enhancing its comprehensive strength.
Mengniu more closely linked its upstream and downstream
operations as well as its industry partners in the business chain so
as to develop a harmonious and sustaining business ecosystem
and creating an environment where everybody wins. Mengniu
actively expanded sales channels, implemented product innovation,
created a more highly interactive experience, rebuilt its brand value
and opened up a new era for traditional fast-moving consumer
goods companies in the internet age. At the same time, Mengniu
strengthened itself and tightened quality control and through internal
reforms, and completed the transformation from an amalgamation
of individual systems into an operating model featuring systematic
cooperation, enhancing management efficiency of the Group.

Data from Nielsen Company reveals that Mengniu’s liquid milk
retained its top market share. Milk Deluxe continuously upgraded
its products and retained its throne in its market share in the high-
end pure milk market while star products such as Milk Deluxe,
Just Yoghurt, Champion and Yoyi C were also well-received by the
market with substantial growth in sales.

Continues “A Drop of Goodness — Sweeping Haze Together” activity
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On 7 March 2014, Mengniu became a Hang Seng Index
constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese dairy product
manufacturer, and indicating the full confidence of the capital
market in Mengniu’s comprehensive business strength and
development prospects. During the year, Mengniu was ranked
as one of the “Best Performers 50 China” by Global Entrepreneur
magazine and was included on the “Global Dairy Top 20” list
released by Rabobank for six consecutive years. Mengniu’s position
in Fortune magazine’s China 500 climbed nine places from last year
to 128th.

Strategic Cooperation and Integration

Chilled business: The Danone Group

As of 27 March 2014, Mengniu has completed placing its
shares to Danone Group, the world’s largest fresh dairy
enterprise. With its shareholdings in Mengniu raised from 4.0%
to 9.9% of the enlarged share capital, Danone Group has
become the second largest strategic shareholder of Mengniu.
Currently, COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Danone Asia Pte Ltd
and Arla Foods Amba (“Arla Foods”) are collaborating in a
joint venture, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited, which holds
approximately 31.5% of the shares of Mengniu in total with
each of them holding 16.3%, 9.9% and 5.3% of the shares of
Mengniu respectively.

In June 2014, the Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy
Co. Ltd., (“Mengniu Danone”), a joint venture established by
Mengniu and Danone Group, have fully commenced operation
through which the chilled business of both parties in China
was integrated. Mengniu and Danone Group hold 80% and
20% of the shares in the joint venture respectively.

During the year, Danone Group dispatched experts based
in the Asia-Pacific region to the plant in Ma’anshan City to
launch an efficiency-enhancing project and the Ma’anshan
plant has been upgraded in accordance with the global
production and quality management standards of Danone
Group. Since June, certain products under the Bio brand
have been produced at the Ma’anshan plant. After full
upgrading, the Ma’anshan plant’s operation efficiency was
substantially increased to world-leading level in the second
half of the year. With the Ma’anshan plant as the pilot project,
both parties provided training to the staff of other Mengniu
chilled products plants to enhance operational efficiency.
Starting in October, the Qingyuan chilled plant became the
second plant targeted for upgrade after the Ma’anshan plant.
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From July to October 2014, the joint venture team carried out
uniform inspections to 13 chilled plants in accordance with
international standards, identifying and resolving potential
risks by using Danone Group quality management methods.
At the same time, a series of training programs focusing
on the “training in expertise for safety and quality chilled
products” were held with a total attendance of 240. The joint
venture continues to enhance its quality, and to provide high-
quality chilled dairy products to consumers.

Mengniu Danone streamlined the product line and focused
on promoting three star brands — Yoyi C, Champion and Bio.
While consolidating product strengths, Mengniu Danone has
also actively conducted research and development on new
products to meet the needs of different consumers. During
the year, as part of its focus on the top three brands, the
joint venture introduced Champion in 200g cups, which was
approved as a “Health Product” by the China Food and Drug
Administration, flavored Yoyi C in 100ml containers which
targeted child consumers and Bio Fruity MIXI which focused
on convenience store sales channels. All of the products were
well-received by the market. Moreover, Mengniu Danone
enhanced its operating efficiency and lowered its operating
costs by improving the asset utilization ratio, enhancing its
strength in economies of scale and prudently managing its
investment cost and capital expenditure in order to effectively
improve the profitability of the chilled products business.

Through introducing the advanced quality management
technique and product innovation capability of Danone Group
and, at the same time, utilizing the leading market position
and the enormous distribution strength of Mengniu, the joint
venture is well-positioned to fully realize the huge potential of
China’s yogurt market.

Yoyi C booth at Mengniu Life Experience Hall
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Arla Foods

On 26 April 2014, the China-Denmark Milk Technology
Cooperation Center — the first national dairy project led by
the ministries of agriculture of China and Denmark — formally
debuted in the COFCO Nutrition and Health Research Institute
in Beijing. Arla China Innovation Center, which focuses on
developing cheese products for Chinese consumers, was also
inaugurated at the same time and place. The China-Denmark
Milk Technology Cooperation Center, already in operation,
and the newly established Arla China Innovation Center
marked another milestone in the close collaboration among
the COFCO Group, Mengniu and Arla Foods. The location of
the two centers at the COFCO Nutrition and Health Research
Institute facilitates the three parties in consolidating their
experiences and resources, thereby further strengthening
their partnership. Mengniu is to conduct further research and
innovation in food nutrition and health leveraging the research
strengths that COFCO Group has accumulated over the
years. By introducing advanced Danish technologies in dairy
breeding, product processing and packaging, Mengniu aims
to produce and provide high-quality, safe and tasty products
to consumers.

As its exclusive distributor in China, Mengniu principally
cooperates with Arla Foods in the import business. During the
year, Mengniu introduced cheese and butter products from
Arla Foods; apart from the plain and mild flavor cheese sticks,
the newly-launched fruit flavor Kids Cheese Sticks provided
consumers with a wider variety of choices. Mengniu also
first launched Arla Foods Organic Whole Milk for Children in
October. Furthermore, Mengniu and Arla Foods entered into
an expansion agreement, pursuant to which Arla Foods and
Yashili will embark on strategic cooperation in raw materials
and production of an infant milk formula series. Arla Foods
will endorse a high-end Merla series under the Scient brand
of Yashili, Arla Merla, which will be introduced to the Chinese
market through direct imports in April 2015.

Arla Foods

BHE - FHEMBERESEER VN EETL
¥ERKEE —FAARBEMEEROLR
ZE—NFMHAZFANBERERMCRIER
HRRREERERRR - AR - BERIAR
[ Bl b 1B B Arladh BIBI#T R OB TE I 18
o BRAZENPEME ER O RFTK
S EArlaR AR LR IEEE - R4
Arla FoodsZ2H S EM X — 22 - MEF
DEPRPRBEEREMRER - BFRES
ZFREBRNEIR - MREERR - F4HK
BT REEEZEROMRESN ERRE
BlRFEHEE—SHRMANET - FENRKE
RESIAPFENE E@NT - BEFEK
FERM - BHRBEBEEERRREZS
AOMESESERm -

YEBArla FoodsTE R BIM B R AL S + S4F
B Arla FoodsF Ef#E O XEKHTHEIE - F
A 43| AArla Foods B §3 B & & S &=
M BT BRERAR KBS RSN - FT BT ARIOK
RORZETHIFBEBELSREZREE -
SEER T B aAra Foods B #E2E T Z
4 o AN SH B Arla FoodsBE T IERE
W% + Arla FoodsHa # 1= FI| #& 78 [R 1 R Fn 22
NRMMRINERHFARAEBRKEAE - A
Arla Foods@m W AT FIFE T8 MmN S
i RN ZE S A E W U 2E ST TR EE R
R -ZE—RFEMNANREEONFERSIA
RETTE o



FESFAEERLA
—T—FEFR

Management Discussion and Analysis &I BT & 247

Milk formula business: Yashili

On 30 October 2014, Mengniu International, Yashili and
Danone Asia have entered into a share subscription
agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, Danone Asia is to
engage in the private issuance of shares by Yashili at the issue
price of HK$3.7 per share. The private issuance transaction
was completed in February 2015. After completion of
the transaction, Danone Asia became the second largest
shareholder of Yashili, with 25% of its shares while Mengniu
still held 51% of the shares as the controlling shareholder
of Yashili. The share subscription is set to strengthen their
cooperation in the infant milk formula segment.

In January 2015, Mr. Minfang Lu, a former member of the
senior management team of Danone Early Life Nutrition
Greater China has been appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of Yashili. Danone Group is to share more concepts
and experience in international management with Yashili.
These efforts, combined with the extensive network of
Mengniu in China and leveraging the global expertise of
Danone Group in infant milk formula, would facilitate Yashili in
providing domestic consumers with more infant milk formula
products that meet international standards. Mengniu would
continue expediting the reform and innovative quality of Yashili
in organizational functions, branding, channels and products
and, also facilitates the internationalization of Yashili.

In 2014, Yashili has actively pushed forward internal
organizational restructuring, clearly defined and optimized
an authorization and approval system, enhanced the
collaboration between the milk formula business division
and functional departments, and boosted overall operational
and management efficiencies. Meanwhile, it has devoted
considerable efforts on channel transformation and attempting
to improve its sales model through developing a membership
cumulative points service system and opening membership
shops to recruit members. It has also set up a special
e-commerce team and developed designated channels for
products to cope with evolution of trends in the channels.
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In November 2014, Yashili entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with UniServices, the research and development
institution of Auckland University, to jointly advance the
research work in the fields of infant and pregnant woman
nutrition as well as the growth and nourishment of infants. At
the same time, Yashili’s overseas production base in Waikato,
North Island, New Zealand, commanding an annual capacity
of approximately 50,000 tons is to commence production
in May 2015. The plant adopts production standard
of an even higher specification, and a comprehensive
management system. This marked an important step in the
internationalization of Yashili’'s progress and Mengniu’s milk
formula business has been further strengthened.

In 2014, Yashili was at the initial stage of channel
transformation and reforming its sales model. In 2015, with
“Focus, Brand, Resource” as its core strategy, Yashili will
implement rebranding and optimization, with a focus on
developing star product Yashily Super « - Golden Stage
series. It will launch more products customized for designated
channels so as to open more market sectors and ultimately
become more competitive.

Plant-based nutrition product business: WhiteWave
Mengniu and WhiteWave have completed the acquisition of
Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd. through a joint-
equity company established at the end of April 2014, with
Mengniu and WhiteWave holding 51% and 49% of the joint-
equity company respectively. The joint-equity company
is mainly engaged in the manufacturing, packaging and
distribution of nutrition products in the PRC.

Mengniu introduced Silk, the plant-based beverage from
WhiteWave, to China and the brand ZhiPuMoFang is
therefore becoming established in the country. ZhiPuMofFang
fills the gaps of domestic high-end plant-based protein
beverage market by introduction of the international advanced
techniques of zero additive and 100% original nut grinding.
There are two series in the ZhiPuMofang plant-based
protein beverage, namely, walnut and almond. Both were
introduced on a trial basis on 18 November on electronic
business platforms including JD Online Shopping Mall and
were fully launched on 12 December. The defining product
characteristics of ZzhiPuMoFang including zero cholesterol,
low fat and richness in calcium and vitamin E were designed
to satisfy the needs of different health-conscious customers.
The successful launch of ZhiPuMoFang marked a vital step
forward in Mengniu’s becoming “an innovation-led food
company offering health and nutrition” and opened a new
chapter in the Group’s internationalization and expansion of
product portfolio.
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Quality Management

To build up Mengniu’s strength step by step, the “four carriages”,
namely the quality and safety management system and three
quality management centers on milk sources, operations and sales
respectively are operationally coordinated. New and amended
standards have refined and strengthened end-to-end quality control
system throughout the whole operation. Mengniu cooperated
closely with every outside party, including ranch owners, raw
material suppliers, distributors and retailers along the value chain
ranging from ranches and factories to the market in order to ensure
the quality and safety of its dairy products. In addition, Mengniu
has consolidated all of its quality information in a database so as to
achieve comprehensive digitalized management.

Mengniu was among the first to introduce a risk management
mechanism as part of the quality and safety management system,
under which the compliance risks in its production and operation
processes are evaluated and highlighted. This system facilitates
Mengniu’s management of legal risks and ensures the compliance
of the Group’s operation. Mengniu has also enhanced its quality
management standard by fostering and providing technical support
to its factories, implementing standardized management over its
suppliers, and eliminating every flaw in its quality management
system.

The quality management center on milk sources has worked closely
in line with the quality and safety management system to modify the
technical quality management system by improvements in seven
aspects, including regional risk, source suppliers, safety of milk
sources, factory management, laboratory inspection capabilities,
control over substandard milk and supplier management. 13
ranches under Mengniu’s milk supplier system have been
successfully certified under both the national and EU certification
systems. Furthermore, as of the end of 2014, 13 of Mengniu’s
laboratories have been certified by the National Accreditation
Service and provide strong support to the quality of its products.

The quality management center on operations has established a
factory standard evaluation system to implement on-site quality
management. It has also completed six quality improvements and
three quality innovation projects that have significantly enhanced
the pass rate of the finished products and reduced the number of
complaints. In addition, this center has also greatly improved the
efficiency of testing through the use of raw milk microorganism
quick testing machine and a commercial sterile quick testing
method.
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The quality management center on sales has prepared a School
Milk Nutritional Facts and Safety Control Standard Manual.
Business associates at the points-of-sale are required to implement
the manual comprehensively over the operations supplying milk
to schools ranging from storage and distribution to consumption
and after-sales services so as to ensure the quality and safety of
the milk. During the year, six farms supplying Mengniu raw milk to
produce school milk were named as “National School Milk Sources
Demonstration Base”.

Mengniu has joined the milk formula enterprises quality and
safety tracing system introduced by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology as a pilot participant in June 2014.
It is setting up a system platform that is linked to the relevant
government departments, answering consumers’ enquiries
and providing information about Mengniu and its products. The
establishment of the quality and safety tracing platform has
profound significance for the perfection and upgrade of the safety
system of Mengniu as well as the Chinese dairy industry as a
whole.

In August 2014, Mengniu has entered into strategic agreements
with two industry leaders, namely SGS-CSTC Standards Technical
Services Co., Ltd. and Lloyd’s Register Quality Assurance (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd., to enhance its end-to-end quality management. This
cooperation will not only significantly reduce Mengniu’s cost
of certification and audits, but also continuously improve its
management system through sharing and learning new quality
management concepts from domestic and foreign experts.

AsureQuality, a state-owned enterprise in New Zealand and one of
Mengniu’s partners, has also deployed its experts to inspect and
study the ranches of Mengniu. These authoritative experts have
identified the potential risks of its ranches and offered relevant
solutions. It is expected that in early 2015, AsureQuality will start to
set audit standards for ranches cooperating with Mengniu in order
to boost the development of these partners’ ranches.
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Students from Mengniu’s “University of Ranchers” care for
the cows
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Raw Milk Sourcing

Mengniu has continued to strengthen the development of milk
sources and ensure their quality. Aiming at building a harmonious,
symbiotic and mutually supportive ecosystem, Mengniu has
implemented a series of measures and reforms that has effectively
improved the structure of its milk sources and production
capacity, the matching of its milk sources and product mix, and
the development of scientific farming in the ranches. Synergies
have started to become realized. During the year, Mengniu’s milk
sources provided by ranches and scaled farms reached 96%.

Mengniu has launched the FM Project to stimulate the
transformation of small- and medium-scale family-based ranches
into mass production. Through the joint fund-raising efforts
between Mengniu, banks and ranches, the project has nurtured
and established a hundred 300- to 3,000-head small- and medium-
scale family-based ranches across the country, 94% of which are
located in northeastern, northern and northwestern China. The
FM Project has further optimized the structure of Mengniu’s milk
sources and pushed the ranches to transform and upgrade, further
assuring food safety.

The Mengniu Excellent Supplier System (“MES”) has enlisted
experts from around China and Denmark to conduct
comprehensive profitability assessment according to the operation
management and performance indicators of 54 target ranches,
and help prepare practical and effective improvement schemes to
gradually increase the profits of the raw milk suppliers. As of the
end of November 2014, the average annual yield per cow of all the
MES pilot suppliers has increased by 0.12 tons while maintaining
the quality of their raw milk.

Mengniu’s “University of Ranchers”, the first-institution-of-its-
kind, provides theoretical and practical training to the managerial
staff of numerous large and medium scale ranches. After rounds
of assessment, 100 ranchers with 300-3,000 cows were selected
to be the first batch of students to enroll at the “University of
Ranchers”. Currently, 10 training bases have been established
across various regions in the country. Mengniu has also become
the first to introduce advanced satellite real-time broadcasting
technology to milk sources bases in order to provide a cloud-
computing based technical service platform to ranchers. Mengniu
believes that the improvement in the expertise and management
skills of the cow ranchers will be the tireless engine of the industry’s
sustainable and healthy growth, which will also benefit Mengniu.
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During the year, Mengniu has commenced a ranch material
sourcing service that introduces quality products and services
to raw milk suppliers through a number of measures such as
establishing unified negotiations, resource channels and a resource
sharing system, and upgrades the suppliers’ equipment to reduce
their operating and sourcing costs. At the same time, this new
service strengthened control on the suppliers to ensure the quality
of the raw milk.

Mengniu has also set up model ranches and established the
Mengniu Gaarden Ranch Quality Management System, which is
a standardized ranch operation procedure covering 11 sections,
70 processes and 661 points-of-control, with reference to the
advanced ranch management experience of Arla Foods.

Sales Channels

In 2014, Mengniu has enhanced its sales management system in
three principle aspects: refining organizational structure in regional
markets, establishing independent financial accounting centers and
setting up a scientific management system, so as to further expand
its sales network, realize fine management over its sales channels
and enhance its control over points-of-sale.

During the year, Mengniu set up 18 CBU that focus on ice cream
in first- and second-tier cities and formulated a systematic CBU
management model, thus laying the foundation for future expansion
of the scale and product mix of CBUs. The CBU model achieved
significant results in strengthening direct control over points-of-sale,
enlarging market share and enhancing their core competitiveness in
key markets through a more streamlined structure and standardized
operations. The CBUs in general delivered outstanding market
performance.

Through its investee and subsidiary sales branches, Mengniu has
reinforced its control over the points-of-sale in key markets and
set up successful management models. With the establishment of
standardized corporate governance and operations management
systems, the business performance of the sales branches has
continuously improved.

Furthermore, the 160 Regional Business Units (“RBU”) have helped
Mengniu to provide a comprehensive range of services to more
than 3,000 distributors in third- and fourth-tier cities and refined
their allocation of resources, thereby enhancing their operating
capacity and market competitiveness. Under this flexible and
service-oriented regional sales and financial management structure,
Mengniu partially assigned its controlling power to the independent
financial accounting centers established in the regions.
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With respect to modern sales channels, the three-level key account
(“KA”) service team comprising the headquarters-based client
team, the regional team and the distributor team has enlarged its
operation from supporting sales to directly accounting for retailers’
sales. The KA team has extended its role from being merely a
supplier of products to a strategic partner of the retailers through
cooperation in the management of product categories. The use of
the KA-EPOS intelligent data system has assisted the KA team to
implement sophisticated management over 5,000 hypermarkets
and supermarkets, and has led to considerable savings in labor
cost.

In addition, Mengniu has aggressively enlarged its e-commerce
business through closer cooperation with mobile and internet
platforms, such as Tmall.com, Yhd.com and JD.COM, and
coordinating offline distribution by its distributors.

Sales in Hong Kong, Macau and foreign markets have also grown
rapidly. Mengniu’s products are currently sold in Hong Kong,
Macau, as well as two foreign markets, namely Singapore and
Mongolia. Given a wide variety of flexible promotional campaigns,
the network coverage and total sales in Hong Kong, Macau and
foreign markets saw strong growth during the year.

Branding Strategy

Mengniu has further streamlined the number of products and
has optimized its brand structure. One aspect of this strategic
direction is a focus on its key products and adhering strongly to
its brand merits. At the same time, Mengniu is utilizing the internet
and the new social media to create an interactive and new brand
experience, attracting consumers to jointly build up its core brand
value.

During the year, Mengniu launched the branding campaign
of “A Drop of Goodness” through a series of nationwide flash
mob activities, fully complementing the brand proposition “Little
Happiness Matters”. Subsequently, Mengniu launched the activity
“Little Things that Make My Day”, and started a Weibo topic
of “Expressions of Love” using a creative approach. The topic
recorded a total of 38.9 million page views. Mengniu has also
debuted the star citizen project of “A Drop of Goodness” and
invited celebrities including Tian Liang and Chen Chusheng, calling
for charity contributions from everyone in society, regardless of
the amount. Focusing on the topic “A Drop of Goodness” and
through competitions such as marathons, charity run, family
activities and photo contests, Mengniu has engaged in numerous
interactive activities. Mengniu has also led the staff to carry out a
spokesperson solicitation campaign while the whole Group sang
the theme song “A Drop of Goodness”. The Branding campaign
“A Drop of Goodness” was awarded the “Golden Award in Brand
Management” at the “First Chinese Creative Communication
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Awards — Suqgin Awards”. Through this simplest and most
persistent action of “A Drop of Goodness”, Mengniu showed the
consumers every little change Mengniu had made and conveyed
its care to consumers through its milk. At the same time, Mengniu
attracted consumers’ attention to “A Drop of Goodness” in their
own lives.

Mengniu has actively embraced the internet in its branding and
marketing. Through creative branding campaigns, Mengniu has
highlighted the functions of its products and enhanced brand value.
As the new media era is coming, Mengniu has thoroughly revised
its mode of communication with consumers. By utilizing social
media platforms such as APPs, Weibo and WeChat, Mengniu
strengthened its interaction with consumers. As for products
targeted at young consumers, Mengniu increased its investment in
digital media. As the first fast-moving consumer goods enterprise
in the country to engage in cross-over partnership with Didi,
Mengniu has opened up a new model of cross-over cooperation
between a traditional enterprise and an internet enterprise. The
two parties selected the 2015 Chinese New Year as the key time
to embark on close cooperation in a series of online and offline
activities. Consumers as well as Mengniu’s partners and staff could
obtain “Cow Luck Red Packets” coupon through a range of social
media including Weibo, WeChat, Didi APP, etc. Mengniu has also
launched the caring activity of “A Fortunate Year with Cow Luck
Red Packets” whereby passengers of Didi taxis might have the
chance to enjoy the milk surprise from Mengniu.

Cross-over cooperation between Mengniu and Didi. “Cow Luck Red Packets”
have been sent out through a range of social media
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During the year, Mengniu has introduced the Prime Ranch Pure
Milk, the first 2-D barcode traceable milk in China. By utilizing the
cloud technology of Baidu and the tracking system of 2-D barcode,
Mengniu has created the brand-new “Cloud Ranch” concept in
the industry, allowing the consumers to access the descriptions,
pictures and even the video of the whole production process of
ranches and factories. Shortly after the launch, more than 19
million people participated in the “Rob the Prime Ranches” shake
promotion through the “Cloud Ranch” while the sales of Mengniu
Prime Ranch Tmall Flagship Store exceeded 100,000 packs in 62
hours, making Prime Ranch Pure Milk the top product in the dairy
category in web sales. Widely praised in both the mobile internet
and professional advertising and marketing sectors, “Cloud Ranch”
was awarded “MMA Mobile Technology Innovation Gold Award —
Technology Application Category”, the “2014 Chinese Innovative
Marketing Case Gold Award”, the “TMA Mobile Marketing Award —
Creative Category Best Case”, “Modern Advertisement Great Wall
Awards — Cross Media Integrated Gold Award”, etc. The “Cloud
Ranch” App is the revolutionary innovation created by Mengniu in
internet space as the realization of open, transparent and sincere
communication. Prime Ranch Pure Milk’s breakthrough in mobile
marketing has bolstered consumers’ confidence with quality they
could see, enhancing the product image of the parent brand
Mengniu.

In step with Milk Deluxe’s new product launch, Mengniu put forward
the brand proposition of “For a Better Beginning, Begin with Milk
Deluxe”. Creatively adopting the internet concept of crowdfunding,
Mengniu launched the “99 Better Schemes” for strengthening
the brand value of Milk Deluxe so as to gain the recognition from
consumers with Milk Deluxe’s “Better Beginning”. Transforming
from simple functional benefits to a clear brand proposition, the
leading position and perception as an innovation of Milk Deluxe
was enhanced, as it added new brand value and was subsequently
honoured with the award of “2014 Leading Brands that Influence
China”.

Just Yoghurt has launched a yogurt tasting challenge campaign
“Witness the Miracle with Taste”, which achieved two Guinness
World Records — “The Yogurt Tasting Survey with the Most
Participants” and the “Largest Online Photo Album of Handwritten
Notes”. Just Yoghurt sponsored “Rising Star”, a complete media
music reality show without sound modification and video editing
and a perfect match with the product concept. Through the
integration of the large platform of “Rising Star”, Just Yoghurt
achieved outstanding results in both online and offline and
promotion of every aspect. Regional sales of Just Yoghurt were
also effectively increased through sponsorship of Zhang Jie’s
concert. By utilizing integrated marketing through major events and
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Mengniu produces New Year MV “The Best and Happiest Year” featuring an all-star cast
SHEF2HERRTITEERMV KT =E85F

large platforms, the concept of “Delicious Taste without Additives”
of Just Yoghurt was widely promoted, making Just Yoghurt the
UHT yogurt brand with the fastest growth.

During the year, through interesting themed marketing activities
such as “The Indigestible Affairs during the Chinese New Year”, “Call
of the Great Bowel Gang”, “Mission Six-Pack Abs” and “Mission
Sin of Rice”, Mengniu widely trumpeted the benefits of Yoyi C while
also carrying out social media promotion through SNS and video
websites. Through the creative combination of digital with offline
activities such as the refreshing of visual images and giveaways of
millions-of-bottles, Yoyi C’s image was effectively enhanced, which
in turn drove up sales.

Mengniu cooperated with Hunan Satellite TV to promote Fruit
Milk Drink in its top variety show “I Am a Singer 2”. Breaking from
the conventional format of embedded advertisements, Mengniu
perfectly incorporated the branding elements within the visual
elements of the show’s logo. At the same time, taking advantage
of the popularity of “I Am a Singer 2” and following the trend of
changing habits in media usage among young consumer groups,
Mengniu initiated cross-media interactive marketing with mobile
digital platforms such as Weibo, WeChat and the Hunan Satellite
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TV official App WhoNow. Fruit Milk Drink was the first in the dairy
industry to open a WeChat services account, leading the way
through a new model in interactive marketing. Fruit Milk Drink was
embedded in three romantic comedies “Girls”, “Women Who Flirt”
and “Meet Miss Anxiety”, forming an ideal match with the tone of
the brand. During the year, Fruit Milk Drink’s market share and
reputation rose and the brand garnered 11 awards including the
“2014 Chinese Advertisement Great Wall Awards — Advertiser
Brand Marketing Communications Gold Award” and the “China
Advertising Association Effective Campaign Award”.

Its efforts in rebuilding the Mengniu brand not only created a
favourable impression among consumers and earned their trust,
but were also recognized by professional institutions.

Management System

To enhance its operating efficiency and competitiveness, Mengniu
introduced the state-of-the-art SAP system in 2013 to build up
and boost its management capabilities in six aspects — precision
marketing and in-depth sales channel management; integrated
management platform for business and finance; responsive
synergetic system for production, supply and sales; integrated
quality management and refined quality tracking; rational industrial
planning; and efficient management on procurement and logistics.
The deployment is planned to leverage the system’s advanced
management concept in line with the Group’s specific needs and
circumstances.

The SAP project is being implemented in three stages: the
foundational implementation phase between 2013 and 2014, the
operational refinement phase between 2015 and 2016, and the
coordination and optimization stage between 2016 and 2017. The
first phase of the project is focused on two sub-projects, namely
Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) and Customer Relationship
Management (“CRM”), which have already been completed and are
running successfully.

The ERP system monitors the eight sectors of milk sources,
procurement, planning, production, sales, logistics, quality and
finance and is used in four major product categories, namely
UHT, chilled business, ice cream and cheese. The ERP system
has been fully operative since February 2015 and offers an
integrated platform, unified management standards and a
consolidated database for the whole business involved in the
supply chain of Mengniu, and integrates Mengniu’s financial and
operational functions. It has created synergies between upstream
and downstream operations as well as between operations and
finances while enhancing the operational and financial management
standards.
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The implementation of the CRM system during the year also
provided comprehensive management across sales operations and
closed-loop management of promotion expenses spanning from
promotional budgeting to the analysis of investment returns from
promotional investment, thereby realizing collaboration among all
marketing channels while strengthening its marketing capability in
general.

FINANCIAL REVIEW!

Revenue

Mengniu has continued its adjustments to its internal organizational
structure and has streamlined its product portfolio in order to
utilize resources more effectively on key brands. These efforts
have yielded significant results aided by the support of innovative
marketing initiatives. As the Group has carried out a series of
reforms to stimulate organic growth, in addition to the revenue
contribution of RMB2,816.4 million (2013: RMB1,499.1 million)
from Yashili during 2014 (Yashili was consolidated into the Group
in August 2013), the Group’s revenue for 2014 grew by 15.4%
year-on-year to RMB50,049.2 million (2013: RMB43,356.9
million). Excluding Yashili, the Group’s revenue rose by 12.8% to
RMB47,232.8 million (2013: RMB41,857.8 million). The products
with a greater contribution to revenue growth were Mengniu Pure
Milk, Milk Deluxe, Yoyi C and Just Yoghurt, while Milk Deluxe, Yoyi C,
Champion and Just Yoghurt maintained strong double-digit growth.

Gross Profit

The Group has proactively seized the market development trends.
Efforts were made to restructure product portfolio and develop key
products, as a result, gross margin was improved. Raw milk prices
dropped from the high levels recorded at the beginning of the year
due to the increase in domestic supply of raw milk, so the costs of
raw milk rose less than the Group expected. In addition, the price
of Mengniu’s products increased at different times last year, leading
to the further growth of the Group’s gross profit for the year. The
gross profit of the Group increased to RMB15,433.6 million (2013:
RMB11,697.2 million), while gross margin reached 30.8% (2013:
27.0%), rising 3.8 percentage points as compared with last year.
Excluding Yashili, the Group’s gross profit was RMB13,969.8
million (2013: RMB10,918.4 million), while gross margin rose 3.5
percentage points year-on-year to 29.6%.

The Group’s gross profit contributed from Yashili for the year was
RMB1,463.8 million (2013: RMB778.8 million).

L Yashili was consolidated into the Group in August 2013, hence the
2013 figures in respect to the Group and Yashili as set out in this
report are figures after the consolidation.
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Operating Expenses

The Group has proactively modified its strategies on expenditures
in response to market conditions. As a result, operating expenses
rose to RMB13,218.1 million (2013: RMB10,134.1 million),
representing approximately 26.4% (2013: 238.4%) of the Group’s
revenue. Excluding Yashili, the Group’s operating expenses were
RMB11,870.3 million (2013: RMB9,464.1 million), representing
25.1% (2013: 22.6%) of the revenue excluding Yashili.

Due to the greater investment in sales channels in response to
market competition, selling and distribution expenses increased by
29.3% to RMB10,563.7 million (2013: RMB8,168.2 million), and
its percentage to the Group’s revenue increased to 21.1% (2013:
18.8%). Excluding Yashili, the selling and distribution expenses of
the Group were RMB9,456.9 million (2013: RMB7,604.0 million),
representing 20.0% (2013: 18.2%) of the revenue excluding the
contribution of Yashili, up 1.8 percentage points year-on-year.

The Group’s continued increase in its investment in digital media
and offline marketing activities led to rising advertising and
promotion expenses of 54.1% to RMB4,177.3 million (2013:
RMB2,710.1 million) for the year, and its percentage to the Group’s
revenue increased to 8.3% (2013: 6.3%). Excluding Yashili, the
Group’s advertising and promotion expenses rose by 49.5% to
RMB3,742.3 million (2013: RMB2,502.5 million), representing 7.9%
(20183: 6.0%) of the revenue excluding Yashili’'s contribution, up 1.9
percentage points year-on-year.

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by 35.0% to
RMB2,654.4 million (2013: RMB1,965.9 million), and its percentage
to the Group’s revenue increased to 5.3% (2013: 4.5%). Excluding
Yashili, the Group’s administrative and other operating expenses
was RMB2,413.4 million (2013: RMB1,860.1 million), representing
5.1% (2013: 4.4%) of the revenue excluding Yashili’'s contribution,
up 0.7 percentage points year-on-year.

Profit from Operating Activities and Net Profit

Despite the growth in revenue and gross profit being partially
offset by the increase in cost and operating expenses, the Group’s
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) increased by 31.9% to RMB4,283.9 million (2013:
RMB3,247.4 million), while the EBITDA margin grew to 8.6% (2013:
7.5%). Excluding Yashili's contribution, the Group’s EBITDA was
RMB3,946.7 million (2013: RMBS3,086.5 million), and the EBITDA
margin rose to 8.4% (2013: 7.4%).
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
RMB2,350.8 million (2013: RMB1,630.9 million), representing a
year-on-year growth of 44.1%. In particular, the profit contribution
from Yashili to the Group amounted to RMB121.5 million. Basic
earnings per share amounted to RMB1.210 (2013: RMB0.904),
representing a year-on-year increase of 33.8%. Excluding Yashili’s
contribution, profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to RMB2,229.3 million (2013: RMB1,535.6 million),
representing a year-on-year growth of 45.2%.

Income Tax Expenses

In 2014, the effective income tax rate for the Group was 14.6%
(2013: 16.6%), representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.0
percentage points over last year. Excluding Yashili, the effective
income tax rate dropped to 14.1% (2013: 17.0%), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 2.9 percentage points. The decrease
in income tax rate was due to the increased profits attributable
to associates that are not subject to tax and the previous
unrecognised tax loss arising from deferred tax and temporary
difference utilised in the year of 2014.

Capital Expenditure

As of the end of 2014, the capital expenditure (CAPEX) of the
Group amounted to RMB3,278.3 million (2013: RMB12,596.5
million), representing a 74.0% decrease year-on-year. The CAPEX
was used for construction of production plants and equipment
amounting to RMB2,812.9 million; purchase of biological assets
amounting to RMB118.5 million and additions in equity investment
in respect of Danone Beijing and Danone Shanghai amounting to
RMB295.1 million. Excluding Yashili, the CAPEX of the Group was
RMB2,554.0 million (2013: RMB12,374.6 million). The CAPEX of
Yashili amounted to RMB724.3 million, which was mainly used
for the construction of the plant in New Zealand. The Group
has adopted a prudent policy in its CAPEX so as to lay a solid
foundation for future development.

Mengniu’s CAPEX in 2013 included a total consideration of
RMB9,729.4 million of equity investment in China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. and Yashili, etc.
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Working Capital, Financial Resource and Capital
Structure

The Group’s net cash inflow from operating activities decreased to
RMB3,079.9 million (2013: RMB3,283.7 million). The decrease was
primarily attributable to the increase in raw material inventory.

On 27 March 2014, Mengniu announced the completion of
the placement of shares to Danone Group with proceeds of
HK$5,152.5 million (approximately US$665.0 million), which were
used to repay the related outstanding amount of loans for the
acquisition of Yashili and other outstanding corporate debts in
order to improve Mengniu’s capital structure.

In May 2014, the Group has closed a US$200 million three-year
syndicated loan facility. The facility marks the Group’s debut in the
offshore loans market. The funds were used for refinancing the
existing debts.

As of 31 December 2014, the Group’s outstanding bank loans and
bonds were reduced to RMB9,824.7 million (31 December 2013:
RMB11,697.0 million). Excluding Yashili, the Group’s outstanding
bank loans and bonds amounted to RMB9,062.1 million (31
December 2013: RMB11,495.5 million).

As of 31 December 2014, the Group’s net borrowings (total bank
loans and bonds net of cash and bank deposits) amounted to
RMB5,175.1 million (31 December 2013: RMB4,595.5 million).
Excluding Yashili, the Group’s net borrowings were RMB5,212.3
million (2013: RMB5,204.0 million).

The total equity of the Group was RMB24,492.9 million as of 31
December 2014 (31 December 2013: RMB18,011.1 million), while
the debt-to-equity ratio (total bank loans and bonds over total
equity) was 40.1% (31 December 2013: 64.9%).

The Group’s finance costs amounted to RMB339.9 million (2013:
RMB160.4 million), accounting for approximately 0.7% of the
Group’s revenue (2013: 0.4%). Excluding Yashili, the Group’s
finance costs were RMB333.2 million (2013: RMB150.3 million),
representing 0.7% (2013: 0.4%) of the revenue excluding Yashili,
up 0.3 percentage points year-on-year.
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Products

During the year, Mengniu strengthened its business structure
through cooperation with its worldwide strategic partners. Besides
reinforcing its leadership position in the liquid milk products
market, it has also aggressively expanded in the yogurt and infant
milk formula market as well as entered the plant-based beverage
market through the launch of its first plant-based protein drink —
ZhiPuMoFang. Mengniu has focused on the establishment of a
product mix that caters to consumers’ wants. To better satisfy
the varied needs of the consumers, it has utilized the internet
to redefine milk with innovations in product categories, tastes,
packaging, distribution channels, branding and beyond. In addition,
based on the market situation, Mengniu has further rationalized its
product portfolio in a way that highlights key products in order to
upgrade its product structure.

Mengniu’s principal businesses comprise liquid milk, ice cream,
milk formula and other products. Their performance during the year
is as follows:

Product
category
EmmE

Financial performance
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Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB43,036.1 million (2013: RMB37,902.8 million), accounting for 86.0% of Mengniu's total revenue (2013: 87.4%)
RN WABARE430.361BL(ZE—=F : AR¥379.028(ET0) + (EKFHBMARIS6.0%(ZF—=7F : 87.4%)
UHT milk Revenue amounted to RMB23,701.6 million (2013: - Milk Deluxe Global Selection Pure Milk and Milk Deluxe Grain were

.

UHTH} RMB22,053.3 million), accounting for 55.1% (2013:
58.2%) of the liquid milk segment’s revenue
WABARE237.016BT(ZE—=F : AEH
22053318 7C) * MEREBIHRALS.1%(ZB—=F :
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Milk Deluxe Global ~ Milk Deluxe Grain  Arla Foods Organic

Selection Pure Milk FF AR Pure Milk
FFm AR I I Arla Foods & #4644}
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added to Milk Deluxe’s portfolio. Milk Deluxe Global Selection Pure Milk
advocates the search of milk sources that meet the stringent standard of
Milk Deluxe from around the world so as to bring international premium
milk to its consumers. Milk Deluxe Grain is the first domestic milk product
with natural grain and helps to reinforce the leading position of the Milk
Deluxe brand in the high-end milk market by completing its portfolio and
strengthening its creativity
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR FAFM

- M-PLUS Sport Milk is the first intelligent body-shaping and body-building
milk in the world designed specifically for private training. Leveraging
cloud-based technologies, intelligent health equipment and the M-PLUS
APP, this product provides consumers with protein required for their
training and body shaping, thereby offering them a healthier lifestyle

- M-PLUSEBHIIRZIRETERABEN A - EHERRBRRRR
fEHIM-PLUSEBAPP - RERFMRIENERBGLMTEEAE 1T
HMREREENA

- Launch of Future Star Kid Organic Milk to differentiate from the highly
homogenous market for children’s milk and reinforce the high-end image
Pf’”;; gj;gﬁgi;g"/’”k Awakeg'g«;%m Milk of Future Star; introduction of two flavored milk products, namely Future
Star Kid Walnut Milk and Future Star Kid Strawberry Milk, to suit children’s
tastes. The Future Star Kid Nutritious Flavored Yogurt in a banana,
strawberry and oatmeal mixed flavor was launched in October as the first
children’s UHT yogurt of its kind in China and lifted Mengniu to become
the topnotch UHT yogurt brand in the domestic market
- RUEAXEZZARY HEREFNTHRECRENER - NEAK
Enanly  AREAXEZEA RGN IRAREZEAREE
4 MRRENORER - EREERERANRNAXEZELEH
REFHRTALT - BRTENZERRRANTSEED - BARFK
RERERENE—miE

- Using integrated and digitalized marketing, Latte is positioned as a “unique
milk” that delivers “unique enjoyment” to consumers
- BAEFER RIOFTERIRRNSN] REBETEIRAINE

%)

- Awakening Youth Milk aims to become the leading high-end milk brand
among the middle-aged and elderly. The packaging of Awakening Youth
Strengthener and Energiser Milk was upgraded in March to enhance the
brand’s image and value and has been well-received by consumers
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MBRE FAEM

- XinYangDao, a lactose-free functional milk, targets at people with lactose
intolerance and discomfort with milk. A packaging upgrade for the three
product versions, namely whole milk, low-fat milk and nutritious milk,
provides consumers a fresh brand image

— FEERTIREANIAELN  HUIRIRERKNTEE  AK2
fe - B DEFERNREZAAR  SREBEHRAFK

- Ara Foods has introduced a new product Organic Whole Milk for Children
into China which is 100% directly imported and has attained certification
as an organic food from both the European Union and China. The new
product not only serves as a healthy nutritional milk, but also symbolizes
the tender and caring love from a mother
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Milk beverages  Revenue amounted to RMB11,920.6 million (2013: - Yoyi C launched the brand new orange flavor and low-sugar series,
AgH RMB10,425.5 million), accounting for 27.7% (2013: as well as the 100ml plain, apple and strawberry flavors, offering more
27.5%) of the liquid milk segment’s revenue healthy choices to the consumers
WABARE119.206ET(ZF—=4: AR¥ - BHCELPHERANERZI - REBERUSKICNRRES T
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-l:,,,s.,.,' - Featuring the cute and funny Minion, a popular figure among the post-
'\\ﬂlﬂ

90s generation, Minion Banana Milk successfully delivers enjoyment to
consumers
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

EmmR MBRR FAFM

Yogurt Revenue amounted to RMB7,413.9 million (2013: - Joint launch of Bio Fruity MIXI with Danone Group in June targeting the
B RMB5,424.0 million), accounting for 17.2% (2013: high-potential convenience store channel
14.3%) of the liquid milk segment’s revenue —  EDanoneEEMN AR EELAFERED B EREN TS

WARARKT4139BT(ZF—=F : AR¥54.240 i
BIL)  EREMMAI7.2%(ZF—=F : 14.3%)
- Through “Rising Star”, Just Yoghurt whipped up a blue storm online and

= offline, and successfully shaped its pure image using integrated marketing
| &= strategies encompassing big events and large platforms, becoming the
-ﬁ- fastest-growing UHT yogurt
) - AFEFIRA(PELEE) MERRTECRR  MAKEHAX
- TARMBERH RNZETAGNBEINE  RAERERNZER

e S
ﬁgy’gﬂg fgguryijéftr C'}.;g;.’;” - An upgrade for Champion from blue to platinum packaging and
%éﬁiﬁiﬁ@% positioning the brand as the “Champion in health” through in-depth

consumer interactive promotion

- BadmEERENAARSER YU RREERTE ARiERy

B 7@ 0 STHERERTREED
' - Launch of yogurt under the joint brands of Mengniu and Danone

o - REFRFEEBSDERD
Ice cream Revenue amounted to RMB2,716.1 million (2013: - Launch of Suibianbaoliao ice cream which has a base of puffed milk and
TKE RMBS,023.4 million), accounting for 5.4% (2013: 7.0%) cookie crumbs covered with chocolate, wheat flakes and cookie crumbs
of the total revenue to deliver a new crispy texture to the consumers
WARARKT 161BT(ZF—=F : AR%30.23¢ — BERHSHELT ERORNRERERERFLY - BEBFDHRCH
fB70)  1EBKA5.4%(ZF—=% : 7.0%) REMER  HRBEETRERMANEBRR

- Launch of Deluxe Wheat Flake and Cookie Ice Cream that highlights the
classic combination of ice cream and wheat flakes to enlarge the variety
of tastes offered by Deluxe ice cream

- FREZREELGZADN  REKDNERBENEARER - M
FREZKERNARSEA

Suibianbaoliao

; p Deluxe
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Product

category
EnmE

Financial performance

MBRE

Milk formula

ik

Revenue amounted to RMB3,961.0 million (2013:
RMB2,177.3 million), accounting for 7.9% (2013: 5.0%)
of the total revenue
WABAREI610EL(ZE—=F : AR¥21.773
fEe) - 1EEBRAT9%(ZF—=5 : 50%)

Méiie
i 4 ¢ ‘? IEE
Yashily o - golden Milex Arla Merla
et Fla-2 EEH JprE St
Other products Revenue amounted to RMB336.0 million (2013:

HttER RMB253.5 million), accounting for 0.7% (2013: 0.6%)
of the total revenue
WABARES360ET(ZE—=F : AR¥2535(8

7o) EERA0.7%( =B —=% : 0.6%)

Kids Cheese Sticks
SEEIIBEIE

ZhiPuMoFang
1EREY

Highlights
FrBm

Introduction in June of the second infant milk formula brand, Milex,
tailored for Chinese infants for easy digestion and nutrient absorption,
improving intestinal functions and boosting the immune system to enter
the mid-range to high-end maternal and infant milk formula market.
Introduction of high-end new product Ruipuen in September, further
strengthening Mengniu’s position in the mid-range to high-end infant milk
formula market

NAREE_ERY RSN mEEEL  EBTRRTRNNTS
(REREIR D TR RICRRY  BEBENA  RRERD - LAKES
mH RS - E—SRERFER BRI TSN

Launch of the upgraded infant milk formula of Yashily « -golden* Stage
with nutrition and taste similar to breast milk to strengthen the immune
system of babies

BORRANPELF o -2 R T - EBNORBELRI BS
BYRERN

A packaging upgrade for Kids Cheese Sticks of Arla Foods. Apart from
the plain and mild tastes, strawberry and banana tastes were newly
added to enlarge the variety of tastes for the kids

Avla Foodsm M ZEBFENT T BEAR - BT RERMARNE G
M EREEENAEREKRORNRG LERENORER

Launch of ZhiPuMoFang, the first joint brand with WhiteWave from
America in China, in December with new almond and walnut plant-based
beverages to enter the plant-based beverage market
BERWhiteWaveEEE — (A5 EmEEAES N+ — B L1 - XFAES
TEEX  BHmRENRSH® - EEBENRRES
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PRODUCTION

Mengniu’s allocation of production capacity is based on market
potential and product strategy. As of December 2014, Mengniu has
33 production bases across the country, with a total production
capacity of 8.10 million tons (December 2013: 7.77 million tons).
The enhancement of production capacity was mainly achieved
by adding new production lines, product category expansion and
technical upgrade of existing production capacity.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Mengniu has always actively strived to fulfill its corporate social
responsibilities and incorporate these social responsibilities in
its daily operations and management. In addition to the staffs’
active involvement, Mengniu has also collaborated with upstream
and downstream partners along the value chain in social charity,
low-carbon and green development, work safety and talent
development to jointly create a sustainable ecosystem and give
back to society.

Immediately after the 6.5-magnitude earthquake in Longtoushan
Township, Ludian County, Zhaotong City, Yunnan Province on 3
August 2014, Mengniu set up an emergency earthquake relief team
providing relief supplies to the disaster zone on the same night as it
applied its experience during the earthquakes in Wenchuan County,
Sichuan Province, Ya’'an City, Sichuan Province and Yushu City,
Qinghai Province. Mengniu has donated in aggregate RMB645,000,
as well as other supplies (including medicine, water, instant noodles
and raincoats) valued at RMB77,000 and more than 10,000 cartons
of milk to the earthquake disaster zone in Yunnan.

Mengniu has also launched a series of charity activities according
to social conditions. In view of the dropping age of HIV-positive
people and the high risk of university students being infected with
AIDS, the Committee on Prevention of AIDS of the State Council
has held a red-ribbon health ambassador campaign on campuses
advocating a beautiful youth, in which Mengniu joined as a
supporting partner of national charities to support and participate in
all the activities with the aim of uniting efforts across society to fight
against AIDS.
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During the year, Mengniu continued to cooperate with its partners
to do public service by pooling together the efforts of these
partners. Mengniu and its partners have jointly carried out a
series of campaigns such as “Looking for Teachers with the Most
Beautiful Hearts in Rural Areas”, “Give a Lecture in My Hometown”,
“Happy Gift” and “Exchange of Calories”. As of 2014, Mengniu has
extended the reach of “Give a Lecture in My Hometown” with the
help of 108 partners and 88 celebrities. Chief Executive Officer, Ms.
Sun Yiping, has joined the team to organize lectures together with
the students and visited the rural teachers in the primary school
in Shimiaozi Town, Sichuan Province. A total of almost 500 rural
schools in 22 provinces and municipalities has been covered by
this activity, benefiting more than 70,000 teachers and students.

Furthermore, since November 2013, Mengniu has joined hands
with more than 60 partners along the value chain and tens of
thousands of netizens to “Run for Love” and conduct an “Exchange
of Calories”. These activities target almost 500 rural schools in
need across 22 provinces and municipalities across the country.
More than 300,000 volunteers donated nearly 120,000 pairs of
gloves, 1,000 pairs of shoes and 2,000 workbooks, a number of
stationery and sports equipment as well as other daily utensils for
the communities in need.

Mengniu carried on with the “Sweeping Haze Together” activity
in 2014. On 10 October, Mengniu, the China Environmental
Protection Foundation and the Foreign Trade Office of the Ministry
of Environmental Protection joined hands to organize the “A
Drop of Goodness — Sweeping Haze Together” charity walk to
promote environmental protection. In view of the desertification
and deterioration of the ecosystems around oases in Dunhuang, an
important hub on the Silk Road, Mengniu led about 50 volunteers to
collect specimens of wetland plants and conduct plot observation
in the core areas of the natural reserve in Yangguan, Dunhuang. In
November, Mengniu organized several “Sweeping Haze Together”
activities such as the “Sweeping Haze Together — Nature’s
Notebook” in the Shanghai Botanical Garden and the “Sweeping
Haze Together — Wetland Recovery” in the wetlands in Shanghai
Science & Technology Museum and Dongtan, respectively.

oy
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Chief Executive Officer, Ms. Sun Yiping, has joined the “Give
a Lecture in My Hometown” activity and given lectures to
primary students in the rural area
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Mengniu not only enthusiastically participated in charity and
environmental protection activities, it also infused green concepts
into each step of its production process as it was dedicated to
enhancing energy efficiency. Mengniu’s ecosystem 1+1 project
was implemented in June 2014. Through optimization of cleaning
schemes, adoption of water management technology and
implementation of chemical swaps, Mengniu realized the recycling
of water resources, reduced the impact of chemicals to the
environment and boosted the operation efficiency of equipment.
Mengniu also actively used biofuel boilers and carried out dust
removal modification of coal burning boilers; it also recovered and
utilized biogas as well as set up solar power projects, contributing
its every effort to energy saving and environmental protection.
During the year, water consumption and energy consumption
per ton of Mengniu declined 3.7% and 0.28% respectively. In the
coming five years, Mengniu plans to make the best use of the
advanced technology of its ecosystem partners to develop the
world’s best energy consumption operation solution within the
Group in order to achieve sustainable development goals in saving
both water and energy as well as more efficient operations.

During the year, Mengniu improved the “Safe Production Key
Control Points Management System” by setting up 333 key control
points and 889 signboards. Through developing a comprehensive
safety guarantee system and a safety culture promotion
promenade, the Group has implemented safe production in a
practical manner and created a safe and comfortable working
environment for its staff.

Joined by its ecosystem partners and China Agricultural University,
Mengniu has launched a venture capital program “Innovative
Youths are the Most Beautiful” for nutrition-related projects of
university students. This program lasted for around five months and
gathered 10 professional mentors to jointly offer training to selected
elite students. These students participated in a session introducing
the whole research and development process of the Group’s
products and the outstanding ones were admitted to the “Direct
Offer” program so as to nurture next-generation talent and create
synergies among the ecosystem alliance partners.

Mengniu’s unceasing efforts in fulfilling its social responsibilities
have been recognized by the society and its peers. In 2014,
Mengniu garnered the socially responsible enterprise of the year
award at the fourth “Seven-star Awards”. The charity activity
“Exchange of Calories” captured the gold award in the sixth “Golden
Internet Award” while Mengniu’s CSR Report was honored with the
“Golden Bee Award for Excellent CSR Reports — Innovative Report
Prize”. In addition, Mengniu was further named among others, as
the Most Socially Responsible Brand Influencing China in 2014 and
the Top 10 China Happy Enterprises for 2014.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2014, the Group has a total of about 38,100
employees in China and Hong Kong, including around 4,950
from Yashili. During the year, total staff costs (including salaries
of directors and senior executives) amounted to approximately
RMB3,307.9 million (2013: RMB2,793.6 million). The increase was
principally caused by the rise in the average salary, social welfare
costs as well as the grant of restricted shares.

With the aim of motivating its staff to grow side-by-side with the
Group, Mengniu has put in place a five-tier incentive system that
centers around amicable competition and motivation including,
in particular, personal performance incentives, group benefit
sharing incentives, group over-turnover incentives, group appraisal
incentives and group share award scheme. As at 17 April 2014,
Mengniu granted 6,055,000 shares under share award scheme,
representing approximately 0.34% of Mengniu’s issued share
capital as at the adoption date, to employees (representing
approximately 10% of the total head count of the Group) who
have made an outstanding contribution to the Group’s sustainable
development.

To achieve professional development of its talent in two different
fields, Mengniu has launched two talent selection and training
programs, namely the “Management 100 Series” and the
“Professional 100 Series”. The “Management 100 Series” included
“Mengniu TOP20”, “Mengniu 100”, “Mengniu 100 Junior”, “Mengniu
100 MT” and “Mengniu 100 GT”. For example, under “Mengniu
100", training was provided to 100 management elites from
Mengniu, Yashili, Junlebao and Mengniu Danone. The “Professional
100 Series”, including “Technology 100, Milk Source 100, Quality
100, and Sales 100", was offering trainings to various professional
and technical talents so as to nurture outstanding technical experts.

During the year, Mengniu also applied the “Big Dipper” leadership
model (encompassing vision, innovation, teamwork, execution,
organization, decision-making and training skills) to recruitment and
selection, performance management, talent training and succession
plan so as to improve the leadership skills of Mengniu’s staff.

PROSPECTS

Given the overall quality improvement in the Chinese dairy product
industry, a gradual rebound of consumers’ confidence over
dairy products and continuous rise in per capita consumption,
the domestic dairy product industry will continue to enjoy stable
growth momentum. At the same time, industrial upgrade and
transformation, coupled with the national support for merger and
acquisitions, will further intensify the shuffling and consolidation of
the dairy product industry. As one of the leaders in the industry,
Mengniu will continue its efforts to capture the development
opportunities.
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As urbanization accelerates and rural retail networks proliferate,
chilled products such as yogurt and lactobacillus drink can now
extend their reach beyond first- and second-tier cities to rural
counties and towns through the cold chain system, thus enhancing
the market penetration and generating a new growth impetus for
dairy companies.

In addition to reinforcing its position in the liquid milk market,
Mengniu will also speed up its expansion in the UHT, chilled
products and milk formula businesses so as to tap into these
markets and bolster its business structure. Through in-depth
cooperation with worldwide strategic partners in terms of equity,
sharing technologies, management collaboration, joint research
and development, etc., Mengniu will accelerate its globalization,
integrate its global resources and persist in product innovation and
portfolio upgrade. Mengniu will also collaborate with upstream and
downstream partners along the value chain to create a win-win
ecosystem and foster the sustainable growth of the industry.

To enhance its marketing strength and operating efficiency,
Mengniu will focus on channel management and distribution
reforms in the most challenging and pressing areas as well as basic
aspects such as coverage, penetration and efficiency. With respect
to the first-tier cities and some second-tier ones, Mengniu will
continue to engage in direct sales so as to respond more quickly to
consumers’ rapidly changing preferences and tastes. Meanwhile,
it will also aggressively promote its CBU structure with the aim of
tightening direct control on points-of-sale and enhancing its core
competitiveness in key markets.

Serving the consumers using internet technologies and building a
topnotch brand are the principal objectives of Mengniu’s consumer
interaction and product marketing efforts. Mengniu will continue
to more closely interact with the consumers through innovative
branding activities and utilizing social media. In 2015, Mengniu’s
strategic cooperation with internet platforms such as Tencent, Didi,
JD.com, dianping.com and womai.com is expected to cover 900
million netizens.

Mengniu’s internal reforms will continue to center around three
aspects, namely “People, System and Culture”. Mengniu will
strive to establish a more rational, efficient and innovative internal
management structure. Through further refining of the SAP
intelligent information system, scientific and digitalized management
will be enhanced. Adhering to its corporate cultures of “Openness,
Integrity, Accountability and Innovation”, Mengniu will step up its
innovation through the passion and intelligence of each and every
staff member.

In an ever-changing world, Mengniu will never waver in its
quality, innovation and passionate consumer service. Mengniu
will constantly advance towards its goal to become a consumer-
oriented and innovation-led food company offering nutrition and
health.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Sun Yiping, aged 47, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) of the Group and an executive Director of the
Company in April 2012. Ms. Sun graduated from China Agricultural
University (formerly known as Beijing Agricultural Engineering
University) with a Bachelor’'s degree with specialisation in food
engineering and a Master’s degree with specialisation in agricultural
products processing engineering. She also holds an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree from the Olin School
of Business of the University of Washington in the United States.
She joined the COFCO Group in 1993 and was involved in the
management of COFCO Group’s investment in Coca-Cola bottling
business. She became the deputy general manager of Swire
Guangdong Coca-Cola Limited in 1997 and the general manager
of Hainan Coca-Cola Beverages Co., Ltd. in 2002. Ms. Sun
concurrently became the general manager of Zhanjiang COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Ltd. in 2005. Prior to joining the Group
as CEO, Ms. Sun was the deputy general manager of COFCO
Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen. Ms. Sun
currently serves as a non-executive director and the chairman of
the board of directors of Yashili, a company listed in Hong Kong.
Throughout her 20 years of work experience, Ms. Sun has acquired
extensive management experience in the sale and marketing of
branded food, processing of food and oil, and real estate as well
as more than 10 years of extensive management experience in the
fast-moving consumer goods industry.

Mr. Bai Ying, aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company in July 2008 and is an executive vice president
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited
(“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”). With effect from 6 June 2014, Mr.
Bai has been appointed as the chief operation officer of the
Company. Mr. Bai graduated with a Master’s degree from Inner
Mongolia Agricultural University and holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from China Europe International Business
School. Mr. Bai was the vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu
and the general manager of UHT milk division of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. He has been working in the dairy industry for 22 years
and has extensive management experience in the dairy business.
In 2010, Mr. Bai was elected as “Progressive Staff of Hohhot” and
“Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region Labour Model” for the second
time. Mr. Bai was elected as a committee member in the third
session of the Standing Committee (Enlarged) meeting of the Third
Young Federation of the Central Enterprises held on 12 October
2013. Mr. Bai is currently a non-executive director of Yashili.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ning Gaoning, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2009 and the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Ning is
currently the chairman of COFCO Corporation and COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, a non-executive director of China Foods Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, a non-executive director of China
Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
a non-executive director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong and a director of certain other subsidiaries
of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Ning was also a director of BOC
International Holdings Limited, an independent non-executive
director of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited and an independent
non-executive director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong until October 2014. Mr. Ning was an
independent director of Huayuan Property Co., Ltd., a company
listed in Shanghai, until 24 November 2014. Before joining COFCO
Group, Mr. Ning held various positions such as vice chairman,
director and general manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Ning has more than 20 years of experience
in corporate management, investment and corporate finance,
business restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning
graduated from Shandong University in China with a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics and from the University of Pittsburgh in the
United States with a Master of Business Administration degree in
Finance.

Mr. Yu Xubo, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2009 and a Vice Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Yu is currently the
president of COFCO Corporation and a director of COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, a non-executive director and the chairman of the
board of directors of China Foods Limited, a company listed in
Hong Kong, a non-executive director and the chairman of the board
of directors of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong, a non-executive director and the chairman of
the board of directors of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“Modern
Dairy”), a company listed in Hong Kong, and a director of certain
other subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Yu was a director
of Glory River Holdings Limited, convertible bonds of which are
listed and quoted in Singapore, until May 2013. Mr. Yu holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University of International
Business and Economics in Beijing and an Executive Master of
Business Administration from China Europe International Business
School.
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Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 57, is a non-executive Director of the
Company, one of the members in the team founding Yili Group,
the founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the founder of Laoniu
Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated from Inner Mongolia University
with a degree in Administration and Management and obtained
a Master’s degree in Enterprise Management from the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences Graduate School. With his extensive
experience and insights in China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu enjoys
a high reputation in the industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected
as one of “China’s Most Influential Business Leaders” for the
fifth consecutive year, and was honoured the “2007 Hong Kong
Bauhinia Award.” Mr. Niu is devoted to charity. He was on the
list of “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists” published by the Ministry
of Civil Affairs of the PRC in 2007 and ranked third in the “2007
Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and received the first and only “Lifetime
Achievement in Philanthropy Award” presented by the “China
Philanthropists List” in 2010. Mr. Niu was an independent non-
executive director of Alibaba.com Limited, a company previously
listed in Hong Kong and withdrawn from listing in June 2012,
until 21 June 2012, and was an independent director of Shanghai
Metersbonwe Fashion & Accessories Company, a company listed
in Shenzhen, until 22 April 2011.

Ms. Liu Ding, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a Vice Chairwoman of the Board of Directors of the Company
in January 2013. Ms. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University
with a Bachelor’s degree in History and holds an Executive Master
degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business. Ms. Liu was appointed as a non-executive
director of China Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
on 28 March 2011. Ms. Liu joined COFCO Corporation in April
2005 and is currently a director and the head of the Communist
Party Discipline and Inspection Team of COFCO Corporation. She
was a director of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
listed in Shenzhen, until 21 July 2011. Prior to joining COFCO
Corporation, she was a deputy director of the Propaganda and
Education Bureau of the Propaganda Department of the Chinese
Communist Party. Ms. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in
legal affairs, general management, governmental relations, public
relations, corporate culture development, organisation development
and propaganda and education.
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Mr. Finn S. Hansen, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2012. Mr. Hansen graduated from
Haderslev Business College in 1986 with a Bachelor’s degree in
Commerce. He joined Arla Foods in 1977 and has held several
management positions within Arla Foods’ international business
group, including a three-year position in Canada and more than ten
years in various countries in the Middle East. In 2006, he became a
senior vice president with responsibility for Arla Foods’ activities in
the Middle East and North Africa. Mr. Hansen was appointed as an
executive vice president in 2012, with the overall responsibility for
Arla Foods’ activities outside Scandinavia, Germany and the United
Kingdom.

Mr. Christian Neu, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in September 2013. Mr. Neu joined Danone in July 1986,
where he was initially engaged in sales and marketing activities and
later became the general manager of various local and regional
companies of the Danone Group. Between November 2007 and
January 2011, he was the president of the baby nutrition division
and a member of the executive committee of the Danone Group.
Since February 2011, Mr. Neu has been a strategic consultant of
the Danone Group. Prior to joining the Danone Group, he served
in the sales departments of various international companies
including Procter & Gamble, the Ferrero Group and Lindner &
Fischer GmbH from 1979 to 1986. Mr. Neu has over 30 years of
experience in the management of fast-moving consumer goods
with outstanding performance particularly in sales, marketing,
integrated management and international business management.
He graduated with a Bachelor’'s degree from Fachhochschule
Saarbrucken University in Germany with a major in Sales and
Marketing in 1979 and obtained a Master’s degree in Marketing
Management from University of St. Gallen in Switzerland in 1993.
Mr. Neu currently serves as a director of Yakult Honsha Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 49, was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company in February 2004 and is a
vice-chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao
was redesignated from a non-executive Director of the Company to
an independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in September 2002
and is currently a director and managing partner of CDH China
Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a bachelor’s
degree in mathematics from Shandong University and a master’s
degree in engineering from the No.2 Research Institute of Ministry
of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves
as a non-executive director and deputy chairman of WH Group
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, a director of Joyoung
Company Limited and a director of Henan Shuanghui Investment
& Development Co., Ltd., both companies listed in Shenzhen. Mr.
Jiao was a non-executive director of China Yurun Food Group
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, from 13 April 2005 to 22
September 2012 and a non-executive director of China Shanshui
Cement Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, from 30
November 2005 to 16 May 2014.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 41, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2006 and was
redesignated from a non-executive Director of the Company to an
independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently a partner of KKR Asia
Limited focusing on private equity transactions in the Greater China
region. Mr. Wolhardt is a certified public accountant and certified
management accountant and received a bachelor’s degree in
accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the
United States. Mr. Wolhardt currently serves as a non-executive
director of Modern Dairy, and an independent non-executive
director of China Cord Blood Corporation, a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange. He was a non-executive director of
United Envirotech Ltd, a company listed in Singapore, from October
2011 to August 2012.
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Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in May 2009. Mr.
Zhang is a graduate of the Shandong University and the school
of management at the Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics and is a senior engineer. Mr. Zhang is the chairman
of Unibank Media, and is also an independent director of SYSWIN
INC., which was listed on the New York Stock Exchange until April
2013, and an independent director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Digital
Group. Mr. Zhang previously served as a director and president of
AirMedia, which was listed on NASDAQ, and is experienced in the
management of media operations and initial public offering.

Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew, aged 61, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company in April
2013. Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Hong Kong with
a Bachelor’s degree in science in 1974. He worked for Ernst &
Young for over 33 years before retiring from the firm in January
2010. He served as the managing partner of the Beijing office of
Ernst & Young from 1997 to 2000, the Quality & Risk Management
Leader of the China firm of Ernst & Young from 2004 to 2005, the
managing partner of Assurance and Advisory Business Services
(“AABS”) for Greater China from 2005 to 2008, and the Far East
managing partner of AABS from 2006 to 2007. Mr. Wu became
a member of the management committee of the China firm of
Ernst & Young in 2005. He was the regional managing partner of
Hong Kong and Macau from July 2008 to December 2009. He
is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
United Kingdom and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu is an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, a member
of the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of SPT Energy Group Inc., a company listed in Hong
Kong.
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Dr. Liao Jianwen, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 26 March 2014. Dr. Liao
received his Bachelor of Engineering from Northeastern University
of China in July 1988, his Master of Economics from Renmin
University of China in February 1991 and his Ph.D of Business
Administration from Southern lllinois University at Carbondale,
United States in August 1996. He is an Associate Dean and
Professor of Managerial Practice in Strategy, Innovation and
Entrepreneurship at the Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
in China. His professional experience spans across North America
and Asia. He was a tenured associate professor at the Stuart
School of Business, lllinois Institute of Technology during 2006
to 2012. Additionally, he held various visiting professor positions
at The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (2001),
China European International Business School (2002) and Peking
University (2007-2011). Dr. Liao is primarily engaged in cross
disciplinary research in strategy, innovation and entrepreneurship,
and in particular the interactions between new economy and
traditional economy. He has won several awards for his research
and teaching, including the research grant awards from the US
Small Business Administration (2007 and 2008) and the Excellence
in Teaching Award in 2009 at Stuart School of Business at
lllinois Institute of Technology, United States. Dr. Liao is currently
independent non-executive directors of 361 Degrees International
Limited, Colour Life Services Group Co., Limited and Fantasia
Holdings Group Co., Limited, all companies listed in Hong Kong,
and an independent director of Qihoo 360 Technology Co. Ltd., a
company listed in New York.

BEEXEt 47 R-E-—NWE=A_-+X
AEZTAARRBIUIFNTES - BEELR
—NAWN\NFLAESHERtASTEE L2
i R— NN F-_AESFRARKEBEHKE
BELI8M R AT N\AESEEBFERMNG
KECarbondale R L BB T2 - IR A
FRETIESHRARE B HEA EEEE
BHE - BRI AEEEILEMDNEEN TIE
BE MNZTEEREE_T——F WEEHRMF
MHEEIREHBEASEERZE KRB
IR o I b BEREARBAB(ZEE—
F) HHEBRIEER(ZEE-F)URIER
KE(ZEZLFE-T——F ) BEITEHFK -
B TFEHREEHE - AIF A AR mEER
IRMEAE - LEB IR EREROBENR
B MM EMBEBRRAERS T R Z EEH
LR HREERP/PCEEERE THHE
KERE( —EZELFER_EENF)UR-EE
NENERFMNERE T AEHBERIEHERED
HEE - BETIE AT ARSI EREAR
DA REERBEEER AR RIEEFIERESE
EERAGIBYIFNITES  URAH ETAA
RGO AR AR B UES -



Directors and Senior Management 5= K&

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 50, has joined the Group as the vice
president (finance) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu since May 2014.
With effect from 6 June 2014, Mr. Zhang has been appointed as
the chief financial officer of the Company. He has over 23 years
of experience in the industry of fast-moving consumer goods,
specializing in the management of operation, finance and audit as
well as risk control. Mr. Zhang has served as the chief executive
officer of Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited from
December 2012 to April 2014. He was the general manager of
Swire Guangdong Coca-Cola Ltd. (“Swire Guangdong”) and Xi’an
BC Coca-Cola Beverages Ltd. from December 2010 to December
2012 and from November 2007 to December 2010, respectively.
Mr. Zhang was the finance director of Swire BCD Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as BC Development Company Limited) (“Swire BCD”) from
August 2005 to November 2007, in charge of the finance and
internal audit related affairs. Prior to that, he also served as the
finance director of Swire Guangdong from March 2002 to August
2005. Mr. Zhang joined Swire BCD as the project manager in
November 1990. He was later designated as the finance manager
of Nanjing BC Foods Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Swire BCD, in
September 1993. In November 1995, Mr. Zhang was promoted
as the deputy finance manager of Swire BCD, then as the
manager of the internal audit and system accounting department
in January 1998 and worked in this position until March 2002
before he joined Swire Guangdong. Mr. Zhang was a lecturer of
accounting in Beijing Institute of Mechanical Industry Management
from July 1986 to October 1990. Mr. Zhang obtained the master
degree by completing the graduate courses in management
engineering from Beijing Machinery Industry School in 1986, and he
graduated with a Bachelor degree in mechanical engineering from
Shenyang University of Technology (formerly known as Shenyang
Electromechanics College) in 1984.
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Mr. Liu Shengli, aged 49, was appointed as the vice president of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu group and the director of sales department
in September 2012. Mr. Liu was graduated from Dalian Fisheries
University. During his term of office, he pursued further studies in
Hubei University of Technology and China Europe International
Business School, obtaining master degrees in the Light Industry
Technology and Engineering and business administration. Mr. Liu
joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2002. He served as the assistant
to the president, the general manager of the marketing department
of UHT milk division and the general manager of ice cream division
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He has been working in the dairy
industry for almost 16 years and has extensive management
experience and advanced management concepts in the dairy
industry. Mr. Liu was hornored as a “Labour Model of Hohhot” of
Inner Mongolia in 2010.

Mr. Yao Haitao, aged 52, is the vice president of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. He graduated from Inner Mongolia Finance and
Economics College with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School. He also holds an accountant
qualification. Mr. Yao joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003 and
took up a couple of positions including deputy general manager of
the liquid milk division, assistant to president and vice president of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu during his term. He has solid experience in
administrative management.
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Mr. Wu Jingshui, aged 49, is the vice president of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Wu graduated from Inner Mongolia Light Industry
Institute, majoring in industrial enterprise financial accounting and
holds a Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University
and a Master of Business Administration degree from China Europe
International Business School. He also holds a senior accountant
qualification. Mr. Wu served as an executive Director of the
Company from March 2010 to March 2014 and the chief financial
officer of the Company from March 2010 to August 2013. He was
appointed as a vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in April
2008 (put in charge of finance affairs from April 2008 to May 2014).
Prior to this, Mr. Wu served as the financial general manager of the
liquid milk division and the chief financial officer of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu, and has extensive experience in financial management. In
2010, Mr. Wu was honoured as a “Labour Model (Progressive Staff)
of Hohhot”. Mr. Wu currently serves as a non-executive director of
Yashili, China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited and Modern Dairy,
which are Hong Kong listed companies.

Mr. Jesper Fournaise Colding, aged 44, a vice president of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Colding obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Macro Economics and a Master of International Marketing from
Southern Denmark University and Denver University in USA. Before
joining Inner Mongolia Mengniu he was the senior vice president of
Arla Foods in Global Categories and Operations from September
2009. From January 2007 he worked as the general manager
of Royal Unibrew Baltic countries, a leading beer and beverage
company in the region. From 1994 to 2007, Mr. Colding had taken
various roles within sales/marketing in P&G and worked in leading
roles in Denmark, Sweden, and Norway before he worked as an
Associate Director in P&G Malaysia/Singapore. He has extensive
experience in sales/marketing and general management and a
record of building strong organizations and results. Mr. Colding
joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2012 and was responsible for
managing the Marketing Division. Mr. Colding is currently the vice
president of Strategy and Mergers & Acquisition. In December
2013, Mr. Colding was awarded the “Innovation Personality of
China’s influential Brand of 2013” at the Organizing Committee
of China Corporate and Media Leaders Annual Conference. Mr.
Colding was also named "Internationalist of the Year" by the
Internationalist Magazine in 2013.
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Directors and Senior Management EE K SR EEfE

Ms. Zhai Mei, aged 52, joined the Group in 2012 as the assistant
vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, with the responsibility for
public affair management system. In 1986, Ms. Zhai graduated from
Beijing University of Chemical Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Professional Machinery. Ms. Zhai worked for Coca Cola for 20
years and served as the general director of division of community
affairs and public relations in Great China. Ms. Zhai has over-20-
year extensive working experience and had accumulated expansive
industrial network and resources in various aspects such as public
relations, brand communication, risk management and corporate
social responsibility. Through Ms. Zhai’s over-two-year efforts
on leading brand communication and institution restructuring for
Mengniu, the Company received several professional awards such
as the Gold Award in “Dandelion” Brand Management ([ 3572 5 |
R EIBFE S 2%), the highest honour in Chinese communications
industry, “The Best 10 Chinese Foutune Enterprises of 2014” (2014
FEFRBETEFEDE )and the “Best 50 Performers in China”,
and she was awarded the “PR Personnel of the Year in China” in
2013.

Mr. Wang Yansong, aged 47, joined the Group in February 2012
as the assistant vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, with
the responsibility for quality and safety management system. In
1990, Mr. Wang graduated from the food mechanical engineering
department of Beijing Institute of Light Industry with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Engineering. In 1990, he joined Beijing Refrigerator
Compressor Factory as a production line technology engineer.
In 1995, he worked as a quality engineer for Beijing Embraco
Snowflake Compressor Company Limited. In 1997, he was
employed by Kimberly-Clark (China) Personal Hygienic Products
Co., Ltd and took up roles including process control engineer,
production manager, product development engineer and quality
manager. In 2001, he was a technical service manager (North
China) for Coca-Cola (China) Beverages Limited. In 2009, he
worked as a technical operation manager (Asia-Pacific Region) for
Coca Cola. Prior to taking up the duty of overseeing the Group’s
quality, Mr. Wang had accumulated over 20 years of experience in
quality control for fast-moving goods.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 42, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong Main Board listed company and he also
served in an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”), sound internal control, and increasing
transparency and accountability to shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”). The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group
and its shareholders. The Company is committed to improving
those practices and maintaining its ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
CG Code, except that the chairman of the Board was unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
held on 6 June 2014 due to unavoidable business engagements
outside of Hong Kong. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Investor Relations and Communications”.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2014, the Board comprised thirteen Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Ms. Sun Yiping and Mr.
Bai Ying, six non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ning Gaoning,
Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Ms. Liu Ding, Mr. Finn S. Hansen
and Mr. Christian Neu and five independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew and Dr.
Liao Jianwen. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ning Gaoning and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Ms. Sun Yiping. Each
of Mr. Yu Xubo, Ms. Liu Ding and Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) is
a Vice-Chairman of the Board.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting of performance
and management targets, evaluation of business performance
and supervision of management’s performance. The management
is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board
for the management and operations of the Group. The role of
the management is to implement the strategies and directions
determined by the Board and to work within the framework of any
written procedures and instructions laid down by the Board. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”) as
detailed in this report.
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Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 48 to 54 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and decisions.

During 2012, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt have been re-designated from non-executive Directors
to independent non-executive Directors with effect from 12 April
2012. Notwithstanding their positions as non-executive Directors,
the Board considers Mr. Jiao and Mr. Wolhardt to be sufficiently
independent to act as independent non-executive Directors as,
prior to their re-designation, Mr. Jiao and Mr. Wolhardt did not
have any executive function or any day-to-day or operational
management role in the Group, except for attending meetings of
the Board and the relevant Board Committees, and carrying out
supervising and monitoring functions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed their independence and concluded that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
definition of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report).

DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company Secretary also provides Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous ZAAFHEFEESLHEBETILRE  UBE
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge I BT E AN R AL o KATRERN BEHIRMH
and skills. The Company has provided the Directors with reading B AIEHISFTEENEZIME » ZE58RAE
materials on latest development in the Companies Ordinance Z=®AE -« BELEE - BEESAIEHOT
with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of &% - EERFAAESHIEIBEMET

the Directors during the year. A summary of trainings received by

Directors during the year according to the records provided by the

Directors is as follows:

Type of trainings

Directors AN EE B
Executive Directors HITESE
Sun Yiping FRPE A C
Bai Ying BB AC
Wu Jingshui? REKH A C
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Ning Gaoning BEoE A B, C
Yu Xubo Fak A, C
Niu Gensheng HiRAE A C
Ma Jianping* Bt AC
Liu Ding wT A G
Finn S. Hansen Finn S. Hansen AC
Christian Neu Christian Neu AC
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERE(XNBERE A B, C
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt A C
Liu Fuchun* s A G
Zhang Xiaoya sREEdR A C
Andrew Y. Yan* kol A C
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew #A R 58 A C
Liao Jianwen (appointed on 26 March 2014) BENX(WNZE—NF=A=-+/ BEZT) A C

# Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014 i RIZB-NE=A -+ RXBEEHE

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the A: HEHR¥KIEEHRSAENTTSL Se%

business or directors’ duties &,/ SimiE
B:  giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums B: HTWHER SE#HESmiEERREH

C:  reading materials relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilites and  C: RBREZEEHRI ST RSHIREERAENHE
regulatory updates B E



BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding
key business developments of the Group and issues affecting
the Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect
of operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held five meetings during the year ended 31 December
2014 and two further meetings since 1 January 2015 up to the date
of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and
Board Committee meetings, the AGM and the extraordinary general
meeting (the “EGM”) held in 2014 are set out in the following table.

Meeting Attended/Held
HE/EreE
Board Audit
Meetings’  Committee
Directors EZged EnZes
Executive Directors HITES
Sun Yiping Rime 5/5
Bai Ying A 5/5
Wu Jingshui* REK 22
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ning Gaoning ERE 2/5
Yu Xubo FER 4/5
Niu Gensheng HRE 2/5
Ma Jianping® ey 02
Liu Ding 0T 3/5
Finn S. Hansen Finn S. Hansen 5/5
Christian Neu Christian Neu 5/5
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) EHE(XEEE) 5/5 3/3
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt 5/5 1/2
Liu Fuchun’ RE 0/2 0/1
Zhang Xiaoya RED 5/5 2/3
Andrew Y. Yan* o 12
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew G 4/5 3/3
Liao Jianwen BRV(N-Z-mE
(appointed on 26 March 2014) ZRZTAREZA) 2/3
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During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and one
other meeting to handle operational-level and investment matters.
According to the Company’s articles of association, the quorum for
convening a Board meeting is two members.

# Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014
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Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the Directors
for their records. All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures are complied with and advising the Board on
compliance matters.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
Group’s business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2014,
the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ning Gaoning, a non-executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Ms. Sun
Yiping, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner,
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman
shall also ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner; good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; and appropriate steps are taken to
provide effective communication with Shareholders and that views
of Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. The Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board will be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting or next following general
meeting of the Company respectively after the appointment.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established four Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee, each
of which is governed by specific terms of reference approved by
the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers. The terms
of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are disclosed on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available for public
inspection at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2014, the Remuneration Committee comprised
four members, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Dr.
Liao Jianwen) and the remaining one member is a non-executive
Director (Mr. Yu Xubo). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by
Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in
their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of
the Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s
workload and required commitment will be taken into account.
In addition, factors comprising economic and market situations,
individual contributions to the Group’s results and development as
well as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2014. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

— reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and recommended to the
Board; and

- reviewed the proposal of granting of restricted shares
according to the Company’s restricted share award scheme
(the “Restricted Share Award Scheme” or “share award
scheme”), and made recommendations to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

FMAR (AR%T)

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-4,000,000
4,000,001-5,000,000
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2014, the Nomination Committee comprised
four members, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt
and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya) and the remaining one member is a non-
executive Director (Mr. Ning Gaoning). The Nomination Committee is
chaired by Mr. Ning Gaoning.
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The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value
to the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company. In the selection process of a
candidate to act as a Director, the Nomination Committee makes
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the dairy industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of
available time and assesses the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Board had also in August 2013
approved the adoption of the board diversity policy. Under such
policy, board appointments will be based on merits and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional or industry experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Company will also take into account other factors
based on its own business model and specific business needs
from time to time. The Nomination Committee will continue to
give adequate consideration to these measurable objectives when
making recommendation of candidates for appointment to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2014 to discuss mainly, the new appointment
of a Director and the resignations of Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2014, the Audit Committee comprised four
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias
Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr.
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew) in which two possess the relevant
professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
internal controls and auditing. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent
review of financial reporting and by satisfying itself as to the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and as to the
efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2014. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

- met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;

- reviewed external auditors’ management letter and
management’s response;

- reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;

- reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

- reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results
announcements of the Company;

- discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

- reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.
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All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee
have been addressed by the senior management. The work and
findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues brought to the attention of the senior
management and the Board were of sufficient significance for
disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors
(please refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages
97 to 98), the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group and the Company
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company as at 31 December 2014 and the profit and cash
flows of the Group for the year then ended.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The objectives of the risk management and internal control of the
Group are: to rationally establish comprehensive risk management
strategies in a systematic manner and to apply the concepts,
philosophies, procedures and tools of risk management throughout
the establishment and implementation of strategies for effectively
managing the risks while reasonably ensuring the realization of
the Group’s strategic objectives and operation objectives and
propelling the sustainable development of the enterprise.

The Group has set up a comprehensive risk management and
internal control system, forming an effective system for labor
division and three lines of defense in risk management, with the
first line being each of the related systems and business units;
the second line being the Risk and Internal Control Management
Committee (hereinafter referred to as “Risk Control Committee”),
risk management functions and each of the business review and
supervision departments while the third being the internal audit and
disciplinary review function.

The Group has set up a risk management framework comprising
Risk Control Committee, the risk management department and
the risk management commissioners of each business unit, and
has clearly outlined the responsibilities of each risk management
unit. The Group, through complying with the risk management
framework under COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission) and introducing external consultation
bodies for providing guidance and training on risk management and
advocating the culture of risk management, has gradually enhanced
the professional standard of the risk management staff.
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The Group has established a series of basic regulatory control
measures over risk management where the Audit Committee,
the risk management committee of the management and the
internal audit and risk management center are responsible for the
supervision and implementation of such measures. The internal
audit and risk management center follows the principle of “building
the concepts of risk management and implementing the risk
management policies” and through identifying and evaluating the
risks in seven aspects, namely, the Group’s strategies, market,
finance, operation, law and compliance, quality and food safety
as well as sustainable development, it places strong emphasis
on the significant risks at the Group level, the business system
level and the business operation level and based on the principle
of managing the risks in different categories and ranks, it adopts
a closed circuit management method in risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk responses, risk control and risk reporting. Based
on such an initiative, it has formulated appropriate risk strategies
to effectively reduce and avoid the adverse impact brought by
such significant risks to the Group’s strategic objectives, operation
objectives and sustainable development.

2014 is the first year in which the Group has adopted the
framework of systematic comprehensive risk management. In
2014, through the cooperation with professional risk management
consultation firms, the Group has initially developed a relatively
optimized management system in organizational functions, staff
team, regulations, business procedures and information technology.
The Group has identified and evaluated different risk items in the
seven major aspects and, through professional evaluation, the
Group has recognized the major risks at Group level and the major
risks associated with different business systems and business
operation. Each of these risks is assigned to the corresponding
department and person in charge for further handling. Meanwhile,
the Group has also put in place a risk management indicator
which would be used as one of the indicators for the assessment
of the performance of senior management. The risk management
department has introduced “4W1H” risk management tools to
follow up and to supervise the systematic adoption of effective
risk response strategies, plans and measures while prompting the
effective response to significant risks; and the Group will regularly
compile report on risk management for the purpose of managing
and controlling the significant risks. The Group regularly conducts
exercises on risks identification and evaluation according to
management procedures, prompting the continued attention and
management to significant risks from the management and the Risk
Control Committee.
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The president of the Group and the chief financial officer of the
Group serve as the chairman and the deputy chairman of the Risk
Control Committee respectively while the committee members
primarily comprise the head of the major business management
systems. The Risk Control Committee has set up a specialized
risk management department which will be responsible for day-
to-day management and the risk management department will
report to the Risk Control Committee regularly on their works in
risk management. Meanwhile, the Risk Control Committee and the
risk management department will report at least twice a year to the
Audit Committee on their works in risk management and the Audit
Committee will evaluate and supervise the work of the Risk Control
Committee.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and
effective internal control system, to safeguard the assets of
the Group and the interest of shareholders, and for reviewing
its effectiveness regularly. Aiming at strengthening the risk
management culture of the Group and minimizing the impacts of
the major risks on the business and earnings of the Group, the
senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate and
review the significant risks to which the Group is exposed to and
reports to the Board on a regular basis. The Group also appoints
external consultants, when considered appropriate, to review the
Group’s internal control, working systems and workflows, as well
as the management systems, and to make suggestions on system
enhancement.

Apart from strict implementation of a performance assessment
system and training programs for its staff, the Group has in
place a series of written working systems in respect of business,
production, finance, legal compliance and administration aspects,
to ensure the significant risks, to which the Group is exposed, are
contained:

- Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various
business functions is delegated to respective management
within limits set by senior management of the headquarters
or the executive Directors. The senior management meets on
a regular basis to discuss and approve business strategies,
plans and budgets prepared by individual business units.
The performance of the Group is reported to the Board on a
regular basis.

- Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks
the risks that are most relevant to the Group’s business
according to their likelihood, financial consequence and
reputational impact on the Group.

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFIR

REZEERASEARETTIRE  BAKEE
FUHBEREERAITE ZEHTEXEKER
\f* BEAEK  BEZEERIEMNE
ﬁEE%*BF‘?Lﬁ BEER  EREEHFICHD

2LZBemERBRERETE - AR AREZE
AﬂﬂA”Eﬂﬁz“tEZAﬁgﬁiﬁaﬁ%
ﬂ PERE T BXEZZESN TIENENE

EXefEHARREMARN A EZES -

PAREAR SR B EE MR - I E i
ERRGIEEAR AEBZESREEEETHE
TE# ﬁﬂ%ﬁ&%ﬁ$ﬁlﬁﬂzéﬁﬂ

TTE &
% BEBICAEE 2 RBEERE XL - F2RIE

IEH Q$EI¥W&%MW¥XZ%§'\
EHREEEEHRBEN - AEELEFEAI
%@W At R B H) A EREEE - TAEHIE A

W2 UAEEREEBREFE  WREELCERSEHN
Ln#‘z

AEBEDRY —RIIBLER - £E - 15 52

&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmiﬁlﬁﬂf M&ﬁélm%
BiEBRREZHIE kA B TRHEEI - AR

KEIEQWEKHAEM$H

— ERRE-AKEHBWOEBRE B
BEEEBRETREBRE S - %
NEZBRRBBRREEBRATEEZR
B o B ARE T B E B e M AR B RIS
RIFrAR B FAGRAE - T8I MR - MAKE

HE o

BHXRBEHENNEEST

— R - AEEREES AR ERZ

ERA R RZERREANEE 2 M RE
BAUERFEEITRER - 7P RV -



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
Annual Report 2014

- Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for
each business function, in which approvals, authorization,
verification, recommendations, performance reviews, asset
security and segregation of duties are included.

- Information and communication — The Group’s working
systems document operational procedures of all business
units, as well as authorization and approval procedures for
significant decision making.

- Monitoring — The Group adopts a control and risk self-
assessment methodology, continuously assessing and
managing its business risks by way of assessment by the
headquarters of the Group and each business unit on a
regular basis, and communication of key control procedures
to employees.

The Group has set up an independent internal audit department
which will directly report to the chief financial officer and the
Audit Committee. In addition to maintaining objectivity and
independency, the internal audit department also adheres to
the management philosophy of “consolidating significant risks,
prompting the improvement in management and increasing the
value of the enterprise”, and the standard of “objectivity, integrity,
capability and confidentiality”, with a view to constantly raising
the quality of internal audit, adopting systematic ways to evaluate
the effectiveness of the Group in corporate governance, risk
management and control, procuring consistent improvement
thereon, enhancing the value of the enterprise and reasonably
ensuring the realization of corporate strategies and operation
objectives.

In 2014, while the internal audit department kept improving the
regulatory standard, the annual audit plan and the layout of
audit requirements of the management have been formulated
and approved by the management and the Audit Committee.
Meanwhile, the Audit Committee has also monitored and reviewed
the effectiveness and result of the work of internal audit. In 2014,
the internal audit department has conducted exercise on general
internal audit, management projects audit, financial responsibility
audit on each of the business units and, based on the findings on
different risk and management issues, has followed up with the
problem identified and propelled the rectification to such significant
audit problem. This has effectively improved the Group’s risk
management and internal control.
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The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the works on internal audit at least twice a
year. Significant audit findings can be directly and freely reported
to the Audit Committee. Resources such as the annual budget on
management fee and staffing of the internal audit department are
guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the Audit Committee
and necessary support will be provided. This is to ensure that
sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal audit
department for effective fulfilment of annual work objectives and
responsibilities.

The Group has set up a specific disciplinary department, which
is responsible for investigating and handling reported matters on
illegal acts, misconducts and corruptions. This is to demonstrate
openly to our business partners and staff on the methods and
channels of reporting. Such measures would have a deterrent and
preventive effect on illegal activities.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Audit Committee
carried out review and evaluation on the Group’s risk management
and internal control system and reporting channels, the resources,
the staff qualification and experience for audit functions and the
effectiveness of the work undertaken and there were no significant
areas of concerns identified during the evaluation of the risk
management and internal control system and reporting channels.
The Board had examined the internal control system and reviewed
the evaluation performed by the Audit Committee, the management
and internal and external auditors, on the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group. No significant areas of
concerns were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions and their training programmes and budget and
considered that they are adequate.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee
will, prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and the
commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-audit
functions will result in any potential material conflict of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended
31 December 2014 are as follows:

PR
REBE B IMNBZBED R KGRI E A
EVZBRRAZREINDZHBE RERIMNIEH
AR ARBEETHIFZEIE - HHREREZER
H—rﬁ’\\ﬂl\%ﬁ’f%%léﬂi%%ﬂé,%’ﬂ&Frﬁﬁé)@ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%
EEABFRB TR ERHREMER
EK%U%&@T%

HE-_Z-—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEXMNHE
SN TG EBHAOERFBOT

2014 2013

—F-NmF —F—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

Services rendered R RS ARET T AREF T

Annual audit FEER 4,000 3,800

Interim review HRERER R 600 600
Non-audit service FEEETARTS

Review on continuing connected transactions HHRHEBRERS 40 40

Other professional services HhHE ARG = 1,180

4,640 5,620

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness
of Ernst & Young and has recommended their reappointment as
the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 27 August 2009. As at 31 December 2014, the
Strategy and Development Committee comprised one executive
Director, Ms. Sun Yiping, three non-executive Directors, Mr.
Yu Xubo, Mr. Finn S. Hansen and Mr. Christian Neu and two
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao
Zhen) and Dr. Liao Jianwen. The Strategy and Development
Committee is chaired by Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen).

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held one meeting during
the year to discuss mainly the long term development plans and
feasibility of investment projects.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31 December
2014, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standard required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all the Directors in the securities of the Company (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors,
the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2014, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.
When the Company announces its interim and annual results,
briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and the press
of the Group’s operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to
ensure that investors are able to have access to the Company’s
information, latest news and reports.

The AGM and EGM were held on 6 June 2014 and 20 March 2014
respectively. Due to unavoidable business engagements and other
commitments outside of Hong Kong, certain Directors were unable
to attend the AGM and the EGM.

The Directors were available in person for answering questions
from Shareholders and investors at the “Questions and Answers”
session of the general meetings:

(i) eight Directors (two executive Directors (including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operation Officer), three
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors (including the chairman of the Audit Committee and
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee)) attended the
AGM held on 6 June 2014; and
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(i) two Directors (one executive Director (the Chief Executive
Officer) and one independent non-executive Director (the
chairman of the Audit Committee)) attended the EGM held on
20 March 2014,

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two or
more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition, to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by depositing the written
requisition at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary, specifying the objects of the meeting, the name(s)
and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and signed by the
requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com.
The Company will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely
manner. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors
at the general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend.

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination Committee of
the Board of his/her intention to propose any person (other than
himself/herself) for election to the office of a Director and a notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness
to be elected. Such notices shall be sent to Suites 801-2, 8th
Floor, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, specifying
the name and contact details of the shareholder putting forward the
proposal for election of Director and the name and contact details
of the person proposed to be elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any
business specified in such written requisition.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk products (such as
UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk formula and
other products (such as cheese) in China. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2014 by business segments is set out in note
4 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 99
to 100.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.28 (2013: RMBO0.2) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB548,406,000 (2013: RMB367,053,000) in total, to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members on
Thursday, 11 June 2015.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15
to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 105 to 106 and note
41 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB12,818,968,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013:
RMB9,419,397,000).
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DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to approximately RMB14,203,000 (2013:
RMB18,634,000).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 40 and 43 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2014 were:

Executive Directors
Ms. SUN Yiping
Mr. BAI Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui (resigned on 26 March 2014)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. YU Xubo

Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. MA Jianping

Ms. LIU Ding

Mr. Finn S. HANSEN

Mr. Christian NEU

(resigned on 26 March 2014)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen)
Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. LIU Fuchun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. WU Kwok Keung Andrew

Dr. Liao Jianwen

(resigned on 26 March 2014)
(resigned on 26 March 2014)
(appointed on 26 March 2014)

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Bai Ying, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias
Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence has
been received from each of them.
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Report of the Directors EE & &

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 48 to 58.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) (the “Associated Corporations”) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long

positions in the shares of the Company or any of the

Associated Corporations (not including options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme):

Company/Name of
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RAR B SR EEIHBEE R 2 i 2 (T BEHER
BRI B BIR THOREAE) -

Percentage of

the Company’s/

Associated

Corporation’s

Total Number of Issued Share Capital

Name of Director Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares E N )37 |
EBNE AAR/ B EEERE EatE EERAY ERTRAZEDL
Sun Yiping The Company Personal Interest 8,229,657 (L) 0.42%"%
B NN (BN £
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 713,684 (L)? 0.04%
Sp::d VYN [EPN £
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 448,201 (L)® 0.03%
NEZF E AR
Notes: 5T -

)

It represents restricted shares granted to Ms. Sun Yiping under the
Restricted Share Award Scheme of the Company adopted by the
Board on 26 March 2013.

It included restricted shares granted to Mr. Bai Ying under the
Restricted Share Award Scheme during the year.

On 31 December 2014, China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
interest transfer agreement with Mr. Bai Ying, together with other
sellers, pursuant to which, among others, China Dairy (Mauritius)
Limited has conditionally agreed to acquire 112,050 shares in Inner
Mongolia Mengniu from Mr. Bai Ying. As at 31 December 2014,
completion thereof has not yet taken place. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2014.

The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of
the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 1,958,591,091
shares) as at 31 December 2014.

Indicates a long position.

(1) REBERREBEEFEN_T—=H=A_+XAH
BRANE A2 AR B 1R R B R B TR L
THIRRHIMEAER -

@ B BFRERGEEEZEHENFART
BB IR B A -

B R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H AQFME:2%E
B8 2 A]China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited &2 [ Z£5E
FEREMER L REEE RS - L (B
4% ) China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited & &1 [7]
EMABEEAWE112050 AEEERD - B
—E-MFEF+_A=1+—B  ZHEEREER
Ko FIERE2MARRBEA-ZST—ME+ A
=t+—HBHzR%-

4 EBBROSBGEARATNR-_ZT—NFE+_A
=+ —HB BT 42%01,958,591,091 % 2 B 5
LEETERE -

L ERFE -



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
Annual Report 2014

Certain Directors have been granted options and restricted shares
under the Company’s share option scheme and the Restricted
Share Award Scheme, details of which are set out in the sections
headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Restricted Share Award
Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above and as set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below, as at 31 December 2014, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of the Associated Corporations as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ Interests,
Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Restricted
Share Award Scheme” below, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate granted
to any Director, or his or her respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2014, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors (&l E33615RERFE 2 &3 Mpracs: - AT 2
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short  F E &5 (R ARQ B R AAESEB &R FTES B
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated #EZFRAEER EXHINANATEEZTRETETT
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying Bt A BB IN) IRAA B AR (D R AREERL (D A A9 RS 8k
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be KA T :

maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

ITERRES
R-Z-—mE+-A=+—B REZLREE

Name of Substantial Shareholder

TERRBEE BB

Percentage of
the Company’s
Issued
Share Capital®
EEARE BT
RAE DO

Number of
Ordinary Shares

COFCO Corporation FrEEBARAT 617,250,379 (L) 31.52%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited PRESE(EE)BRAF 617,250,379 (L)@@ 31.52%
Farwill Limited EFEBRA m 617,250,379 (L)@ 31.52%
Colour Spring Limited FRBBRRQ 617,250,379 ()® 31.52%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited PIEFL T H&ﬁfﬂﬁ 617,250,379 (L) ®4 31.52%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited REILERERRER 617,250,379 (L) @0 31.52%
Prominent Achiever Limited BEBRAF 617,250,379 (L)@ 31.52%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 617,250,379 (L) © 31.52%
Danone SA Danone SA 617,250,379 (L) © 31.52%
Danone Asia Pte Ltd EeeDMBRA 617,250,379 ()® 31.52%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia 117,672,821 (L) 6.01%
JP Morgan Chase & Co JP Morgan Chase & Co 117,451,068 (L) 6.00%
3,833,960 () 0.20%

110,819,364 (P) 5.66%

Notes:

MiEE

(1)  COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of (1)
617,250,379 shares in the Company, comprising (a) 616,850,379
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited and (b) 400,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 400,000 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

(2)  COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited is deemed interested in 617,250,379  (2)
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill

Limited.
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Pursuant to various agreements dated 15 June 2012, 28 June 2013
and 27 March 2014 which constitute agreements under section 317
of the SFO, COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour
Spring Limited, COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy
Investments Limited, Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba,
Danone Asia Pte Ltd are deemed interested in an aggregate of
617,250,379 shares in the Company.

Of the 617,250,379 shares in the Company, COFCO Dairy Holdings
Limited is deemed interested in 616,850,379 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO Dairy Investments
Limited.

Of the 617,250,379 shares in the Company, COFCO Dairy
Investments Limited is deemed interested in 148,014,022 shares
in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Prominent

Achiever Limited.

Danone SA is deemed interested in 617,250,379 shares in the
Company through its subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2014
was 1,958,591,091.

Indicates a short position.
Indicates a long position.

Indicates a put position.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section
336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

(i)

On 12 February 2014, Danone Asia Pte Ltd (“Danone
Pte”), COFCO Dairy Investments Limited (“COFCO Dairy
Investments”) and the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Company conditionally agreed to issue and
allot 121,236,357 ordinary shares of the Company with a
par value of HK$0.10 each (the “Subscription Shares”) to
COFCO Dairy Investments, a joint venture company which
upon the completion of the subscription in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement
(the “Subscription Completion”) will be beneficially owned
as to approximately 31.4% by Danone Pte, approximately
51.7% by COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)”) and
approximately 16.9% by Arla Foods Amba (“Arla Foods”)
(the “Subscription”). Following the Subscription Completion,
Danone Pte’s effective interest in the Company will increase
to approximately 9.9%. The subscription price was
HK$42.50 per Subscription Share. The total consideration of
approximately HK$5,153 million was payable to the Company
in cash and financed in full by Danone Pte. The enhanced
collaboration between the Company and Danone Pte on both
shareholding and operation level would benefit the Company
in securing its leading market position in the dairy industry
in China and providing a better position for the Company to
capitalize on future opportunities. Further, the proceeds raised
from the Subscription were used to repay the loan taken out
for the takeover of Yashili which closed on 13 August 2013
and also part of any other indebtedness of the Company.

The issuance of the Subscription Shares was subject to
approval of the Shareholders. The relevant ordinary resolution
was passed at the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company on
20 March 2014. The Subscription Completion took place on
27 March 2014.

COFCO Dairy Investments is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and is therefore a connected person of
the Company. Accordingly, the Subscription constitutes
a connected transaction for the Company. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As at
the date of the Subscription Agreement, COFCO (HK), Arla
Foods and Danone Pte, and parties acting in concert with any
of them (the “Concert Group”) indirectly owns, controls and
has directions over approximately 27.02% of the voting rights
of the Company. Upon the Subscription Completion, the
interests of the Concert Group increased from approximately
27.02% to approximately 31.54%.
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For further details in the Subscription, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 12 February 2014 and
20 March 2014, respectively, and the circular of the Company
dated 5 March 2014.

On 28 January 2014, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary
of the Company, subscribed for 100 million trust units in
the cash amount of RMB100 million under the trust plan
agreement entered into between Inner Mongolia Mengniu and
COFCO Trust Company Limited (“COFCO Trust”), a subsidiary
of COFCO Corporation (“COFCQO”), on 28 January 2014 (the
“Fujian Project Trust Plan Agreement”), with COFCO Trust
acting as the trustee (the “Mengniu Transaction”). Pursuant
to the Fujian Project Trust Plan Agreement, COFCO Trust,
as trustee, shall acquire, in its own name but in accordance
with the principals’ instruction, interests in certain commercial
properties in Putian, Fujian Province using the subscription
monies. The term of the trust plan in relation to the Mengniu
Transaction is two years with an anticipated highest
annualized rate of return of 11%.

On 14 May 2014, Yashili International Group Limited (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”), a subsidiary of the Company, subscribed
for 150 million preferential trust units in the cash amount
of RMB150 million under the trust plan agreement entered
into between Yashili (Guangdong) and COFCO Trust on 14
May 2014 (the “Qingdao Project Trust Plan Agreement”)
with COFCO Trust acting as the trustee (the “Yashili
Transaction”). Pursuant to the Qingdao Project Trust Plan
Agreement, COFCO Trust, as trustee, shall purchase, in its
own name but according to the principals’ instruction, the
entire equity interest in Qingdao QingTe HuaSheng Real
Estate Limited Company (B85 HFEXEEBRAR) (the
“Project Company”), a project company which is engaged
in a development project in Zhongcun, Chengyang District,
Qingdao, Shandong Province using part of the subscription
monies. The remaining subscription monies shall be used as
capital injection into the Project Company. The preferential
trust units which Yashili (Guangdong) subscribed for shall
mature one year after the date when the preferential trust
units subscribed by Yashili (Guangdong) pursuant to the trust
plan in relation to the Yashili Transaction becomes effective,
with an anticipated highest annualized rate of return of 9.5%.

The Directors believe that the Mengniu Transaction and
the Yashili Transaction provide good fund management
opportunities to the Company, Inner Mongolia Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong) with satisfactory return.
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As COFCO Trust is a subsidiary of COFCO, a substantial
shareholder and connected person of the Company, COFCO
Trust is a connected person of the Company. As each of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) is a subsidiary of
the Company, accordingly, each of the Mengniu Transaction
and the Yashili Transaction constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company. The Company confirms that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details in the Mengniu Transaction and the
Yashili Transaction, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 September 2014.

On 30 October 2014, Yashili, Mengniu International, both
subsidiaries of the Company, and Danone Asia entered into
a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
relating to the subscription for the 1,186,390,074 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the issued share capital of
Yashili (the “Subscription Shares”) by Danone Asia pursuant
to which, among other things, Danone Asia has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and Yashili has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue 1,186,390,074 Subscription Shares at the
subscription price of HK$3.70 per Subscription Share (the
“Share Subscription”). The Share Subscription was completed
on 12 February 2015.

The 1,186,390,074 Subscription Shares represent 25% of the
issued share capital of Yashili as enlarged by the allotment
and issue of the 1,186,390,074 Subscription Shares.

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Share Subscription will
be HK$4,389,643,273.80. The aggregate net proceeds of the
Share Subscription, after deduction of expenses, are estimated
to be approximately HK$4,378,643,273.80, representing a
net issue price of approximately HK$3.69 per Subscription
Share. Yashili intends to leverage on its strategic partnership
with Danone Asia and utilize the net proceeds from the Share
Subscription to expand and strengthen its infant milk formula
business (“IMF”), which may include strategic investments by
Yashili with a view to enhancing Yashili’s technology, brand,
production capacity and distribution channels in the IMF
industry.
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Upon completion, the interests of the Company in Yashili
(through its shareholding interests in Mengniu International)
will be diluted from approximately 68.05% to approximately
51.04%, and Yashili will remain as a subsidiary of the
Company. Such dilution is treated as a deemed disposal of
interests by the Company in its subsidiary under Rule 14.29
of the Listing Rules.

The Share Subscription contemplated under the Subscription
Agreement constitutes a discloseable transaction for the
Company under the Listing Rules and is subject to the
notification and announcement requirements under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, associates of the
Company and Danone Asia operate a group of joint venture
companies, each of which is owned as to 80% by the
Company and its associates and 20% by Danone Asia’s
associates. As such, Danone Asia is a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level and hence, the Share
Subscription also constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapters 14 and 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For further details in the Share Subscription, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 31 October 2014.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 20 February 2012, the Company entered into a master sale and
purchase agreement (the “Master Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with COFCO, a substantial shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 31.52% in the shares of the Company as at
31 December 2014 and therefore a connected person of the
Company, pursuant to which the Group will continue to, subject
to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s option, purchase
white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and related products
(including packaging materials) from COFCO, its subsidiaries and
certain associated companies (collectively “COFCO Corporation
Group Companies”) for a term commencing from 20 January 2012
to 31 December 2014.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the Company,
is a connected person of the Company, the transactions under
the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Group. The annual transaction
amount under the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for each
of the three years ended 31 December 2014 was not expected to
exceed RMB600,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products (including packaging materials) was
approximately RMB279,274,000.

On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new master
sale and purchase agreement (the “New Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with COFCO to renew the existing Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2015 and ending on 31 December 2017, which may
be extended at the Company’s option, for a further period of not
more than three continuous years, subject to compliance with any
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules. The annual transaction
amount under the New Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017
is not expected to exceed RMB800,000,000.
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The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into () in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (jii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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Report of the Directors &k

SHARE OPTION SCHEME BREE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Option A RJEEAN— B IR T 20 ([BEARFEETEl]) - %5
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to | [A¥ RNEBEBKKINEER 2B R 8EE
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s  HEEIRIEE - £R @ BRETEINEARITEZ
operations. The following share options were outstanding under the ~ BEAX#ELA T

Option Scheme during the year.

Number of share options

FREE

As at As at Exercise period of
1 January Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled 31 December Date of share options Exercise

Name or category of 2014 during during during during 2014  grant of (both dates inclusive)® price of

participant R=Z-Mm%  theyear theyear®  theyear  theyear HW=Z-ME shareoptions  BRETHEHE share options

SEENZHER -A-H ERRE  ERTER RN ERE# T-ASt-B RUBRERR  (REERMR) BRETHEE
HK$

2
B0

Executive Directors
HES
Bai Ying 831,000 - - - - 831,000 23.11.2009 23.11.201110 22.11.2015 24.40
BE ZEINE ZET—Ft-fAzt=R%
+-B=t=B —Z-Rft+-A=tzA
3,200,000 - - - - 3,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015 10 9.10.2018 2410
“5—-F ZE-RETATHE
TA+H ZZ-\EtANA
Wu Jingshuit 2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015 10 9.10.2018 2410
REK “E—-F ZZ-RETATAE
TA+H ZZ-\EtANA
Employees in Aggregate 382,303 - (382,292) (1) - - 18.8.2008 18.8.201010 17.8.2014 22.08
[E2# k2 —T-2E\AT/RZ
NATAR ZE-MENATLA
2,861,252 - (1,348,999) (40,733) - 1,471,524 23.11.2009 23.11.201110 22.11.2015 24.40
ZIThE ZE—Ft-fAzt=R%
+-B=t=B —Z-Rf+-A=tzA
1,188,000 - (360,000) - - 828,000 6.12.2010 6.12.2012105.12.2016 22.80
%% ZT-ZETZAAAE
TZARH ZE-RETZARA
38,500,000 - - (5,500,000) - 33,000,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015 10 9.10.2018 2410
“E—-F ZE-RETATAE
TA+H ZZ-\EtANA
49,362,555 - (2,091,287) (5,540,744 - 41,730,524

# Resignation with effect from 26 March 2014 # RZZT—NFE=A =+ NHET
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Notes:

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than seven years
from the date of grant of such options. Further details of the Option
Scheme are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

(2)  The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
was HK$37.84.

8) As at the date of this report, the total number of the Company’s
shares available for issue under the Option Scheme (excluding the
share options granted but not yet to be exercised) is 82,166,943
shares, which represented approximately 4.19% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, no share options were
granted under the Option Scheme.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. Details of the valuation are
set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board resolved on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”)
to adopt the Restricted Share Award Scheme, pursuant to
which existing shares of the Company will be purchased by
the professional trustee(s) (which is/are independent of and not
connected with the Company) to be appointed by the Company
for the administration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme (the
“Trustee(s)”) from the market out of cash contributed by the Group
and be held in trust for selected participants (selected individual
being a Director (including executive and non-executive Director),
employee, officer, agent or consultant of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries) until such shares are vested with the relevant selected
participants in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.
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Pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme rules, restricted
shares held by the Trustee(s) upon the trust(s) and which are
referable to a selected participant shall not vest in the selected
participant if, amongst others, the selected participant has been
terminated by the Company or any subsidiary of the Company
because of, amongst others, (i) dishonesty or serious misconduct;
(i) incompetence or negligence in the performance of his duties;
(i) becoming bankrupt; and (iv) being convicted for any criminal
offence involving his integrity or honesty.

The Restricted Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective
from the Adoption Date until the later of (i) the 5th anniversary of the
Adoption Date (namely 26 March 2018); and (ii) the date on which
the audited financial results of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2017 are published in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any selected
participant thereunder and the Restricted Share Award Scheme
can be terminated and extended by a resolution of the Board.

As at 31 December 2014, the aggregate number of restricted
shares of the Company granted to selected participants was
23,624,400, of which 8,425,800 restricted shares were granted to
Ms. Sun Yiping, the Chief Executive Officer and executive Director,
and 150,000 restricted shares were granted to Mr. Bai Ying, the
executive Director. For further details of the grant of restricted
shares, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 29
April 2013, 22 April 2014 and 19 September 2014. Further details
of the share award scheme are also set out in note 44 to the
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2014, except that the Trustee, pursuant
to the rules of the Restricted Share Award Scheme, purchased
on the open market a total of 12,783,000 the Company’s listed
securities at a total consideration at about RMB361.3 million.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2014, the Group has pledged certain bank
deposits, bills receivable, land use rights and certain property, plant
and equipment aggregating to approximately RMB848,593,000
(2013: RMB1,104,144,000). In addition, certain bank loan was
secured in the form of a general security agreement over all the
assets of Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. with a total carrying
amount of RMB985,640,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
COMMITMENTS

Details of contingent liabilities and commitments are set out in
notes 48 and 51, respectively, to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2014 and for the previous
four financial periods are set out on pages 291 to 292.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 59 to 77.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Emst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2015
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Ms. SUN Yiping (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. BAI Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui (resigned on 26 March 2014)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning (Chairman)
Mr. YU Xubo (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. MA Jianping

Ms. LIU Ding (Vice-Chairwoman)
Mr. Finn S. HANSEN

Mr. Christian NEU

(resigned on 26 March 2014)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen) (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT
Mr. LIU Fuchun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. WU Kwok Keung Andrew
Dr. LIAO Jianwen

(resigned on 26 March 2014)
(resigned on 26 March 2014)

(appointed on 26 March 2014)

Senior Management

Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. LIU Shengli

Mr. YAO Haitao

Mr. Wu Jingshui

Mr. Jesper Fournaise COLDING

Ms. ZHAI Mei

Mr. WANG Yansong

Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris (Qualified Accountant & Company
Secretary)

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Ms. Willow WU

29th Floor, Block A, IFC

No. 8A Jianguomenwai Avenue

Chaoyang District

Beijing, China

Email: ir@mengniu.cn

Website: fyww.mengniuir.cond
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PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor

Top Glory Tower

262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

46th Floor, Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Sullivan & Cromwell

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder Asia

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China

BNP Paribas

Industrial Commercial Bank of China
Ping An Bank

Rabobank

Standard Chartered Bank

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Ernst & Young
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

e
EY =k

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 292,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

Rk E R
FHEPRFEE IR
iR RE221E

ERE: +852 2846 9888
{5 H.: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2014, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 March 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —ZF—MF+-_A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—Z—F =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEREEK
REVENUE WA 5 50,049,243 43,356,908
Cost of sales SHE A (34,615,630) (31,659,663)
GROSS PROFIT EF| 15,433,613 11,697,245
Other income and gains EMUA Kz 5 449,074 288,633
Selling and distribution expenses PHE LRI E A (10,563,695) (8,168,238)
Administrative expenses THEA (1,941,237) (1,605,791)
Other expenses HtEA 6 (713,207) (360,125)
2,664,548 1,851,724
Interest income F BUA 547,638 359,295
Finance costs BhE R A 10 (339,910) (160,377)
Share of profits of associates FE(RESE & A B 24 277,732 153,861
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM REFELSEEKZ
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BATRE 7 3,150,008 2,204,503
Income tax expense PGB 11 (459,292) (366,713)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM REFELEEK
CONTINUING OPERATIONS AEF)H 2,690,716 1,837,790
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRI RS
Profit/(loss) for the year from REDRIEREER
discontinued operations REFE (EE) 12 (63) 24,198
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ZRE R H 2,690,653 1,861,988
Attributable to: AT & L
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIEZ VN 2,350,803 1,630,925
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR R A 25 339,850 231,063
2,690,653 1,861,988
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss @& E# T«

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —Z—MF+-_A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—ZT—F —EF—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
EARNINGS PER SHARE AAREBREFTA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY ELEERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF (ABRARYETE)
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED IN
RMB PER SHARE) 14
Basic BN
— For profit for the year — RFFHE 1.210 0.904
- For profit from continuing operations —REBEREESR Y
8 1.210 0.891
Diluted #E
— For profit for the year —ZRFEFE 1.203 0.896
— For profit from continuing operations — REFEREER
AN 1.203 0.883

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are  ZN4E FES 23 R IR S M SIS A B & SR = T 3%
disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. 1355 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GErZHEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ —ZF—MF+-_A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-lF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REFHE 2,690,653 1,861,988
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hib 2wk (&18)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive loss ERBRER»ESE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BEmEMmemEEE
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of HE N ETEH
foreign operations PE =R (69,434) (46,350)
Effective portion of changes in REARFEHRTEAE
fair value of hedging instruments DREZEE 2
arising during the year BB (9,645) -
Income tax effect Frisiim s 25 1,257 -
Net other comprehensive loss HEHMEHR S EZE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BRWHMEE
in subsequent periods B8 T8 (77,822) (46,350)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HiEHET~eEHN
not to be reclassified to profit or loss DEEBEINEM
in subsequent periods: ZEWE(EBE)
Equity investments designated as BEAUARERE
fair value through other BEZFTAEM
comprehensive income: ZHEWENRAIRE
Reversal of changes in fair value BEOArEZEE - (98,334)
Changes in fair value N EEE 27(a)/(b) 219,694 (67,347)
Income tax effect Frisfim 2 25 = 33,051
Net other comprehensive HEHBMIAEEH
income/(loss) not to PHEEEBNEM
be reclassified to profit or loss 2HEWE(EE)FHE
in subsequent periods 219,694 (132,630)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hiv2EkE(&BE)
INCOME/(LOSS), NET OF TAX HIBRB 18 141,872 (178,980)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEXHEHRBERE
FOR THE YEAR 2,832,525 1,683,008
Attributable to: AT &7 AL -
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIEZ SN 2,509,238 1,458,979
Non-controlling interests IR IR IR B A 323,287 224,029
2,832,525 1,683,008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR R &

As at 31 December 2014 A -—Z—NFE+-A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2014
R-Z2—mF
+=H=t+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
M AR®T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NMRE 15 9,667,308 9,246,109
Construction in progress EETR 16 2,030,097 1,275,875
Investment properties KEME 17 103,814 115,816
Land use rights T AR 18 1,050,567 1,048,813
Goodwill EES 19 5,837,501 5,694,938
Other intangible assets HinmEEE 20 1,620,375 1,612,293
Investments in associates REEREINIRE 24 3,840,594 2,843,155
Deferred tax assets BEEFTSTHEE 25 379,910 155,739
Biological assets EYEE 26 160,271 36,707
Non-current financial assets R EE 27 1,894,059 1,699,666
Long term prepayments RHTENR 30 163,704 289,145
26,748,200 24,018,256
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other current financial assets HihghemEaE 27 8,338,024 1,744,747
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA 36 17,455 -
Inventories w8 28 4,342,292 2,577,078
Trade and bills receivables R BR TR R =4 29 1,148,186 754,265
Prepayments, deposits and AR He R
other receivables H b JfE WA 30 1,573,053 2,485,297
Pledged deposits {R&E %ﬁmf\ 31 255,589 561,709
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTEF 31 4,649,560 7,101,580
20,324,159 15,224,676
Assets of disposal groups classified as NEABEREN
held for sale BEHNEE 12 8,433 1,096,464
20,332,592 16,321,140
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 44 BT #5148 n 3=

As at 31 December 2014 R —Z—ME+ - A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
R-Z2—mF RZE—=F

+=A=+-B +=A=t—~

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR¥T T ARETTT
CURRENT LIABILITIES i b=k
Trade and bills payables ENBERRERE 32 4,991,847 4,761,298
Other payables and accruals Hitnfe g RIBRER 33 4,554,420 4,354,840
Interest-bearing bank and SHESRTREMES
other borrowings 34 4,360,618 8,461,506
Other loans HEER 35 118,365 92,565
Derivative financial instruments TEESRITA 36 4,506 -
Deferred income IEIEWA 38 23,537 19,389
Income tax payable FER TS AR 297,280 170,483
14,350,573 17,860,081
Liabilities directly associated with BN ARBEEN
the assets classified as held for sale BEHEEHENERG 12 572 203,250
14,351,145 18,063,331
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) ERE&E (&%) 5,981,447 (1,742,191)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERARBRE
LIABILITIES 32,729,647 22,276,065
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Interest-bearing bank and SHESRITREMES
other borrowings 34 5,464,050 3,235,535
Long term payables REAFE( IR 37 63,812 100,678
Deferred income PRIEWA 38 270,477 200,326
Deferred tax liabilities BEFEH ARG 25 92,076 64,429
Derivative financial instruments TEERIA 36 7,618 -
Other non-current financial liabilities HidEReegas 39 2,338,741 663,959
8,236,774 4,264,927

NET ASSETS FEE 24,492,873 18,011,138
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4R& B8k w2

As at 31 December 2014 R—Z—M&E+-A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2014
R=B-mE R-T
t=A=+—-H =t+—A
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
et ARET T ARETTT
EQUITY fE=
Equity attributable to owners of RAGHEB AEIEER
the Company
Issued capital EEITIRA 40 196,246 186,476
Treasury shares held under TR THERN
share award scheme EFRG5 40/44 (489,075) (394,121)
Other reserves HEihfEE 41(A) 14,963,385 10,628,142
Retained earnings {REER)HE 6,818,844 4,940,421
21,489,400 15,360,918
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR B A 25 3,003,473 2,650,220
TOTAL EQUITY R 24,492,873 18,011,138
Ning Gaoning Sun Yiping
E5E B
Director Director

EFE EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GAERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE —ZE—WF+-HA=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-mE —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
Cash flows from operating activities REERELNESRE
Profit before tax: TR A)

From continuing operations REBEREER 3,150,008 2,204,503

From discontinued operations REBKIEEEER (63) 24,198
Adjustments for: T RIEEL AR

Interest income FIBHA (547,638) (359,295)

Finance costs & X 10 339,910 160,377

Depreciation of items of property, ¥  BEMREITE

plant and equipment 7 1,294,922 1,178,923

Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 7 4,258 1,815

Amortisation of land use rights + {5 AR S 7 25,264 21,748

Amortisation of other intangible assets Hibmp gy 7 17,272 15,096

Loss on disposal of items of property, EBEVE BER

plant and equipment RiBEE 6 22,814 17,496
Share-based payment expense DA B AR AT 43 (46,935) 52,382
Provision for trade receivables and FEMBR S B b B R

other receivables B 6 88,951 81,934

Provision for property, plant and equipment ME - R MR ﬁﬁéﬁ 6 1,551 9,162

Share of profits of associates g ANV (277,732) (163,861)

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value Ta‘ciéj}vh&lﬁ AR EE 6 287,779 277

Government grants related to income SR A KB 2 U A B) = (16,000)

Government grants related to biological assets 4 ¥AE A2 BTHE - (33,100)

Amortisation of deferred income EEW 5 (20,489) (19,385)

Foreign exchange differences, net [E 5 =55 5/6 37,986 (155,147)

Gain on deemed disposal of partial %EIEJ ﬁ E-RBE DT

interests in an associate IoigEzidizs 5 (22,916) -

Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary %EIE m%—%—?ﬂﬁﬂuﬁzﬁ?’i 5 (94,903) -

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HETF DR 5 (13,875) -

Gain arising from changes in fair value }LfF”&A WHERARZ

less cost to sell of dairy cows SEE LR E 26 (1,446) (4,506)
Unrealised gain on forward currency contracts ﬂi@afﬁﬁ_ﬁﬁﬁ\\m Rle 5 (17,455) -
Unrealised fair value losses on REBASBT AN E

derivative financial instruments B 33 - 3,192
Share award scheme R= @t 44 219,434 151,108

4,446,697 3,180,917
Decrease/(increase) in other financial assets Hi&mEERD,/(Em)

— entrusted loans -ZHAER (8,661) 20,444
Increase in inventories FEEM (2,034,995) (337,582)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables FEHQEEM&FE WEERD

() (351,161) 73,178
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits R éﬁm wd,/ () (4,044) 51,602
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits 1‘J‘,TA %ﬁ%&ﬁ’r&ﬂ’g%w\lﬁ

and other receivables /() 1,567,015 (935,147)
Increase in trade and bills payables J?EHEE?‘X&J?EH%’%B%HJH 135,139 630,305
Increase in accruals and other payables HBRERMEMENZE

@ 218,500 1,014,080
Cash generated from operations RELBEERNRE 3,968,490 3,697,797
Interest paid Y HFE (316,842) (133,506)
Income taxes paid SR (571,759) (280,612)
Net cash flows from operating REERELENFRESRE

activities 3,079,889 3,283,679
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZRERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HE—Z

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

—MEF A=t —HIEFE

RETHELENRERE
REME - BERR

2014
—E-ImF

RMB’000
ARBTR

2013
—E—=F
RMB’000
AREBTTT

plant and equipment TS A 42,449 27,966
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets REXMEBEMRBIE 1,448 5,000
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights RE T ERRMERE 3,020 16,098
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEME  BEME

equipment (774,612) (746,230)
Purchase of biological assets BEAMEE (118,523) (369,437)
Purchase of construction in progress FEEIREm 16 (1,955,367) (1,735,259)
Purchase of other intangible assets Himp EELN 20 (8,937) (9,669)
Purchase of land use rights + 3 P RESE N 18 (73,979) (6,556)
Purchase of unit trust investments BEBAIETHRE (327,000) (589,396)
Disposal of unit trust investments HEBN 1%.%%&% 350,258 240,400
Acquisition of subsidiaries WA 46 (295,086) (7,592,334)
Capital injection to associates HEE N T A - (2,536,739)
Receipt of government grants related to WIS EF B A

purchase of fixed assets BF@Eihe 38 94,788 4,304
Receipt of government grants related to HBEEYE EEREM

purchase of biological assets e - 33,100
Increase of long term time deposit REEBER im m (109,338) (403,548)
Withdrawal/(purchase) of time deposits with E/(BE)RIHE A

original maturity of more than three months =@ A L,U:E’JEE@T?M

included in cash and bank balances (PIEBEE RBTET) 2,704,463 (802,990)
Interest received HERF 8 584,611 321,286
Dividends received from associates U ER B N B PR 2 22,179 12,909
Dividends received from an unlisted e IE £ R AR B UREREY

equity investment &8 153 153
Disposal of associates Hj'%ﬂéﬁ%’a - 679
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFR 47 119,124 -
Purchase of investment deposits &ﬁﬁ%’?\iﬁg n (7,967,743) (1,280,508)
Payment of contingent consideration AR BT (51,774) (18,000)
Withdrawal of investment deposits WEIRE TR 1,344,508 160,000
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETEHFIAZTHRERE (6,415,358) (15,268,771)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZRE8RERER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZ—Z—MF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-mF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities BETHELANESRE
Proceeds from issue of shares BIIROAETIE 4,081,743 -
Share issue expenses B BEITER (7,769) -
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans SRBITERMERAE 7,457,051 25,031,718
Proceeds from bonds issued BRITEHMBRE = 3,009,796
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans EEFBRITER (9,402,597) (17,192,137)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits for RITEFRRESTER
bank loans ",/ () 460,164 (109,273)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company SRARBER AKRE 13 (391,060) (290,488)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests SRR EE SRS (99,886) (94,217)
Proceeds from other loans HeEHMETIE 25,800 40,150
Repayment of long term payables BERBEMNTE (78,380) (69,418)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests FEREFEERTE 1,895,805 17,693
Capital distribution to non-controlling interests TR R R R E - (146,240
Shares purchase for share award scheme BREREETEIER 44 (361,341) (394,121)
Shares issued under equity-settled share option R4 LARR (7 32 1+ 9 B AR 42
arrangements ZHEITRD 43 39,296 1,228,702
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wb SRR AR R 2R = (2,409)
Disposal of non-controlling interests HE IR AR R = - 1,301,011
Net cash flows from financing activities BETHEENFRESRE 3,618,826 12,330,767
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekAeEBYEINFE 283,357 345,675
Cash and cash equivalents at ENNRERELEEY
beginning of year 31 3,354,590 2,917,541
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ExgEHnT2(F8) (30,914) 147,673
Cash and bank balances attributable to BRIHEEEBRERS R
discontinued operations RITHETS = (66,299)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRNELRBLEEY 31 3,607,033 3,354,590
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRBSEBUEHRIT
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in R A BT ISR & P 5 BR Y
the consolidated statement of B RRTER
financial position 31 4,649,560 7,101,580
Time deposits with original maturity more than [RE|EBE A=A £/
three months THFED 31 (1,042,527) (3,746,990
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in NEAE S RERDIIER
the consolidated statement of cash flows B RBEEEED 31 3,607,033 3,354,590
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B F5 iR O 3R

As at 31 December 2014 R —Z—F+_-HA=+—H

2014 2013
—ZT—F —F—=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 15 462 353
Loans to a subsidiary I —KFRAFRIFKIE 22 2,484,941 2,476,625
Investments in subsidiaries FARIREE 23 11,890,896 11,781,275
Investments in an associate R—REERTINIRE 24 2,628,542 2,619,746
Non-current financial assets RSB E 27 103,286 302,049
17,108,127 17,180,048
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other current financial assets BEfnsemEE 27 - 100,000
Prepayments, deposits and FERFE - ek
other receivables Hh RIS FIB 30 1,093,892 840,465
Pledged deposits REESTER 31 9,015 469,592
Cash and bank balances He MIRITHEHT 31 1,594,262 245,717
2,697,169 1,655,774
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENAE
Loans from subsidiaries KEAFANBIZER 22 253,432 531,322
Other payables and accruals H e iEiRE R 23,461 49,552
Interest-bearing bank and FTEBRITREMEER
other borrowings 34 2,541,339 5,794,415
Derivative financial instruments PTESmTA 36 2,479 -
2,820,711 6,375,289
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBASE (123,542) (4,719,515)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERARBERE
LIABILITIES 16,984,585 12,460,533
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and SFRBITREMEER
other borrowings 34 4,240,705 3,010,426
NET ASSETS BEE 12,743,880 9,450,107




TERFAEERAE
—E-NEER

Statement of Financial Position BA#&ik R 3%

As at 31 December 2014 R —Z—ME+ - A=+—H

2014 2013
—E-lF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETFT
EQUITY =

Issued capital BEITIRA 40 196,246 186,476

Treasury shares held under AR Z BRI AR
share award scheme EFRD 40/44 (489,075) (394,121)
Reserves & 41(B) 13,036,709 9,657,752
TOTAL EQUITY R 12,743,880 9,450,107

Ning Gaoning Sun Yiping
E25E BRE
Director Director
EF EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged
in the manufacture and distribution of dairy products mainly in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance relating to the preparation of financial
statements, which for this financial year and the comparative
period continue to be those of the predecessor Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with transitional and
saving arrangements for Part 9 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), “Accounts and Audit”, which are set
out in sections 76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance.
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis except for share options, certain financial assets,
biological assets and derivative financial instruments which
have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups classified as
held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2014. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the day that
such control ceases.

2.1

~EEF
AARAERSRSEMK L OEREER
D - ARFD—FREBRAR  MATF
AR EB{EREARKME (EDREIL
B EEREHER -

RBEXE

ZEVERERERBRER ST ENEZES
(ARt ERZES ) BHrRERTIER
SRR (BRI EREER ) RBEMA ©
MERRITTEEBREN AR RS
HEZBAEERT - MBEEE QB
(5622F ) XR11F 76 87 IEFTE R IEME
O BRE B RFHTFTIEMBIE 1 KRB HE
FIRIE  AMEREE RS SRR E
BRBEBERMATRBIED(F32F) miEH
WE - BIERERAELRAERE - B
ECETEMEE EWEERITESRT
BUARRERE - DEABESENEEH
TR HBRAEE R AR ER S K A E R

ARTIER - FERMT2.4508 - B mE
NARB(TARE]ZS]  MAAESERS
BIEAIN  RBERZON T -
I‘ZRI:'EIE

FEMBHRREEARAMEF AR (MR
[(AEEDBEE-_T-—NF+-_A=+—~H
I EFENFBERE - mET AP BHHREKH
ERPFBARLFER - FBRRTER—
B FRAXERANEBERGENEEBRE
FAAR EEEHRIBEFEERARL -



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control in relation to
the accounting requirements for subsidiaries. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFIR

2.1 RBEE @)

RRBGEA AR RESAD Fi8a
kE@EEheEKaEl  MELEReS
FIERBRERER AR - AEEKER
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 (2009) Financial Instruments?

IFRS 9 (2013) Financial Instruments®
Amendments to IFRS 10, Investment Entities
IFRS 12 and IAS 27
Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?
IFRIC - Int 21 Levies
Amendment to IFRS 2
included in Annual
Improvements 2010 —
2012 Cycle
Amendment to IFRS 3
included in Annual
Improvements 2010 —
2012 Cycle
Amendment to IFRS 13
included in Annual
Improvements 2010 —
2012 Cycle
Amendment to IFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements 2011 —
2013 Cycle

Definition of Vesting Condition'

Accounting for Contingent
Consideration in a Business
Combination’

Short-term Receivables and Payables

Meaning of Effective IFRSs

! Effective from 1 July 2014
2 Initial application on 1 January 2014
8 Initial application on 1 July 2014

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
early adoption of IFRS 9, the adoption of the new and revised
IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

The Group has elected to early adopt IFRS 9 (2009) since
1 January 2014 under the transitional provisions of IFRS 9
(2009).

22 B HERZEBRIKE
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The chapters of IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first
part of “phase 1: classification and measurement of financial
assets and financial liabilities” of a comprehensive project to
entirely replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, these chapters require
all financial assets to be classified on the basis of the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared
with the requirements of IAS 39.

As a result of the early application of IFRS 9 (2009), the
Group has changed the accounting policy retrospectively
with respect to the classification and measurement of
financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into
four categories, the Group has classified financial assets
as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair
value, on the basis of both the Group’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. A financial asset is
initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss is expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. A financial asset is subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value.
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Notes to Financial Statements B 73R HizE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 SHERZBBREE®
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The classification and measurement category for each class NENERONSESHEEN D ENTE
of financial assets at the date of initial application were as R
follows:

Measurement category Carrying amount
sHEER kA
Financial asset Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Difference
F(ERE:  HEREE

SRAE ROAMETENEI0N)  HEARMBREEUTOR) RUE0R) HERAZFK) R
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTR

Other financial assets

EtemEE
Hong Kong listed equity (@) Available-for-sale at fair value  Financial assets at fair 302,049 302,049 -
investments value through other
comprehensive income
BB TRERE BOABEEAHRHE WAL BEEEHEHA
A2 ENE 2 REE
Unlisted equity investments ~ (a) Available-for-sale at cost Financial assets at fair 98,531 98,631 -
value through other
comprehensive income
¥ ETRARE BRAGEAMLEE WAL BEEEHEA
A2 ENE e REE
Unlisted equity investments ~ (b) Available-for-sale at cost Financial assets at fair value 41,066 41,066 -
through profit or loss
¥ ETRARE BRAGEAMLEE WAL EBEEEHEHA
BaReREE
Long term unit trust (c) Available-for-sale at cost Financial assets at fair value 130,258 130,258 -
investments due within through profit or loss
one year
R—FREH KRB BRAGTEAMLEE WAL BEEEHEA
fEtRE BaReREE
Short term unit trust (c) Available-for-sale at cost Financial assets at fair value 220,000 220,000 -
investments through profit or loss
R (EERE BRAGEAMLEE WAL BEEEHEA
BaReREE
Short term investment (c) Loans and receivables Financial assets at fair value 1,344,508 1,344,508 -
deposits through profit or loss
RHRETN ERRERE WAL BEEEHEA

B eRAE
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HizE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 SRR ZBBRER®

Measurement category Carrying amount
SHEER fREE
Financial asset Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Difference
RERE  HMEREE
SREE R (EIR @5 RISE30%) FEBMBREERES)  EAIHR) WEEESR) 25
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETR
Long term entrusted loans (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 24,472 24,472 -
cost
REAZFER BERRERE REHKAHE EREE
Long term entrusted loans (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 49,981 49,981 -
due within one year cost
R—EREH RO BN RERE REHKAHE EREE
B
Long term pledged deposits  (d) Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 150,000 150,000 -
cost
RERESER B RERE REHKAHE SRER
Long term time deposits (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 1,083,548 1,083,548 -
cost
REEHER BN RERE REHKATE EREE
3,444,418 3,444,413
Trade and bills receivables (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 754,265 754,265 -
cost
ESES BN RERE REHKAHE EREE
Financial assets included in (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 337,798 337,798 -
prepayments, deposits and cost
other receivables
BERENR  REREM B RERE REENATE ERERE
EUERNERAE
Pledged deposits (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 561,709 561,709 -
cost
RESER BN RERE REHKAHE EREE
Cash and bank balances (d Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised 7,101,580 7,101,580 -
cost
Re RFITEH BN RERE REHKAHE EREE
Total financial assets 12,199,765 12,199,765 -

REMEE
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@)

At the date of initial application, the Group designates
its equity investments in China Shengmu Organic
Milk Limited and YuanShengTai Dairy Farm Limited
(which were previously classified as available-for-sale
financial assets under IAS 39 and not held for trading)
as measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

The adoption of IFRS 9 (2009) on the accounting for
these equity investments does not have an effect on
the comparatives presented given that there was no
impairment or disposal of these investments in the prior
year. Other than the dividend income, the subsequent
changes in the fair values of these investments shall be
recognised in other comprehensive income and cannot
be subsequently recycled to profit or loss.

Except for the above-mentioned equity investments,
at the date of initial application, all equity investments
which were previously classified as available-for-sale
financial assets under IAS 39 and not held for trading
are reclassified as at fair value through profit or loss. The
adoption of IFRS 9 (2009) on these financial assets has
had no material financial impact on the financial position
of the Group given that the costs of these investments
approximate their fair values.

At the date of initial application, the Group’s unit
trust investments (which were previously classified
as available-for-sale investments under IAS 39) and
short term investment deposits (which were previously
classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39) have
been reclassified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. The adoption of IFRS 9 (2009) on these
financial assets has had no material financial impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group given
that the terms of the investments are relatively short.

Other financial assets continue to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss upon
the initial application of IFRS 9 (2009).
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2.2

2.3

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

On 1 July 2014, the Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2013).
Based on the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 (2013), the
application of this version of IFRS 9 has had no impact on
the classification and measurement of financial assets. The
application of IFRS 9 (2013) on 1 July 2014 also has had no
impact on the Group’s classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and hedge accounting given that the Group
did not have any financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss nor any hedging transaction before 1
July 2014.

The Group has elected to restate prior period comparative
information in accordance with the transitional provisions of
IFRS 9 (2013).

Except for IFRS 9 (2009) and IFRS 9 (2013), the Group has
not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment
that has been issued but not yet effective.

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AND NEW
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE NOT YET ADOPTED

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations?
Regulatory Deferral Accounts*
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®
Clarification of Acceptable Methods

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14
IFRS 15

Amendments to IAS 16

and IAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation?
Amendments to IAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants?
and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions’
Equity Method in Separate Financial

Statements?

Amendments to IAS 27
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R izt

2.3 NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AND NEW
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE NOT YET ADOPTED (continuea)

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSs’
2010 - 2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSs’
2011 -2013 Cycle

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSs?
2012 - 2014 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 10, Investment Entities:
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Applying the Consolidation

Exception?
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017

4 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual

financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and
therefore is not applicable to the Group

In addition, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) will affect the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2015. The Group is in the process
of making an assessment of the impact of these changes
upon initial application.

The Group is in the process of determining whether these
new and revised IFRSs will have any material impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2.3

2.4

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AND NEW
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE NOT YET ADOPTED (continuea)
Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply
to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRSs. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January
2017 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon
adoption.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EXEHBEME@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of associates and joint ventures are included
in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent
of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
investments in associates and joint ventures are treated as
non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportional
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EXEHBEME@)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss or as
a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured
in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

The Group measures its share options, certain financial
assets, biological assets and derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based on
the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The depreciation
rates of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings and structures 5% to 8%
Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents plants and properties
under construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
investment properties. The depreciation rates range from 2%
to 4%. Depreciation methods, useful life and residual value
are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change
in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
inventories to investment properties, any difference between
the fair value of the property at that date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as
a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are
not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are
valued at fair value based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually.

Computer softwares

Acquired computer softwares are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms of 50 years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group initially recognises financial assets at which the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as debt
instruments at amortised cost, debt instruments, derivatives
and equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss
and equity instruments designated as measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (with gains and losses
remaining in other comprehensive income, without recycling).

This classification depends on whether the financial asset is a
debt or equity investment.

A financial asset is classified as debt instruments at amortised
cost, if:

(@ the asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(b)  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through
profit or loss, except that, for investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, the Group may
elect at initial recognition to present gains and losses in other
comprehensive income.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
though profit or loss is expensed in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTI NG POLICIES (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the
financial asset is derecognised or impaired and through the
amortisation process using the effective interest rate method.

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss

A gain or loss on a debt investment, derivatives and equity
instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value and
is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or
loss and presented in the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Equity instruments designated as measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there
is no subsequent recycling of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as long as they represent a return
on investment.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt
investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Equity instruments designated as measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (continued)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect
of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables, interest-bearing bank loans, other
loans, bonds payables and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. No
financial liabilities have been designated as fair value through
profit or loss by the Group.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow
hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income
and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if
all of the following criteria are met:

° the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging
instruments and eligible hedged items.

° At the inception of the hedging relationship there
is formal designation and documentation of the
hedging relationship and the entity’s risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That
documentation shall include identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the entity will assess whether
the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements (including its analysis of the sources of
hedge ineffectiveness and how it determines the hedge
ratio).

° the hedging relationship meets all of the following
hedge effectiveness requirements: there is an
economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does
not dominate the value changes that result from that
economic relationship; and the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from
the quantity of the hedged item that the entity actually
hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged
item. However, that designation shall not reflect an
imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognised
or not) that could result in an accounting outcome
that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge
accounting.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

° fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability
or an unrecognised firm commitment; or

° cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction,
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm
commitment; or

° hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Fair value hedges

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be
recognised in profit or loss (or other comprehensive income, if
the hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument for which
an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income).

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised
cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method.
Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as
an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the
hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair
value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item
is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall adjust the
carrying amount of the hedged item (if applicable) and be
recognised in profit or loss. If the hedged item is a financial
asset (or a component thereof) that is measured at fair
value through profit or loss, the hedging gain or loss on the
hedged item shall be recognised in profit or loss. However,
if the hedged item is an equity instrument for which an
entity has elected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income, those amounts shall remain in other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value hedges (continued)

When a hedged item is an unrecognised firm commitment
(or a component thereof), the cumulative change in the fair
value of the hedged item subsequent to its designation is
recognised as an asset or a liability with a corresponding gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The separate component of equity associated with the
hedged item (cash flow hedge reserve) is adjusted to the
lower of the following (in absolute amounts): (i) the cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the
hedge; and (ii) the cumulative change in fair value (present
value) of the hedged item (ie the present value of the
cumulative change in the hedged expected future cash flows)
from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
that is determined to be an effective hedge (ie the portion
that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve
calculated in accordance with above mentioned shall be
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such
as when hedged financial income or financial expense is
recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged
item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset
or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other
comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the same period or periods
during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised without replacement or rollover (as part of the
hedging strategy), or when the hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income remain in hedging
reserve until the forecast transaction occurs or the foreign
currency firm commitment is met.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current
or separated into current and non-current portions based
on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-
current (or separated into current and non-current
portions) consistently with the classification of the
underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item.
The derivative instruments are separated into current
portions and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury
shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between
the carrying amount and the consideration is recognised in
equity.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R izt

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Biological assets
Dairy cows
Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year in which it arises. Costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of
an asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding finance
costs and income taxes. The fair value of dairy cows is
determined based on their present location and condition and
is determined independently by a professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the
depreciation charge, utilities cost and consumables incurred
for the raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until such
time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Milk

Agricultural produce represents milk. Milk is recognised at
the point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. The fair
value of milk is determined based on market prices in the
local area.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials - cost on a weighted average
basis;
Finished goods - cost of direct materials and

labour and a proportion of
manufacturing overheads
based on the normal operating
capacity on a weighted average
basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and a joint venture, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when, and only when,
the government grant becomes receivable. If a government
grant related to a biological asset measured at its fair value
less costs to sell is conditional, the Group recognises the
government grant in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when, and only when, the conditions attaching to the
government grant are met.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by
equal annual instalments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Other grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
the payment has been established.

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic
of China except for Hong Kong and Macau (“Mainland
China”) participate in a central defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

The Company also participates in the defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme and share
award scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in notes 43 and 44 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and service conditions are fulfilled
in employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
has been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section
of the statement of financial position, until they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. The Company, established in the Cayman
Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, Renminbi
(“BRMB”) is used as the presentation currency of the Group.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated
as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment
of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Tax charges
and credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHRBE @)

ACCOU NTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain entities comprising the
Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the reporting
date, the assets and liabilities of companies whose functional
currency differs from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated at the weighted
average exchange rates for the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or on whether certain companies
of the Group is determined to be a Chinese resident
enterprise by the PRC governing tax authorities in the future.
Management considered that it is not probable that the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries will distribute additional profits
earned on or after 1 January 2008 till the end of 2014 in the
foreseeable future, and accordingly no additional provision for
withholding tax was made in 2014. Where the final outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts originally
rewarded, the difference will impact the deferred tax provision
in the period in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Operating lease commitments - group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain of
its ranch facilities comprising plant and machinery included
in the property, plant and equipment account. The Group
has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms
and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties
which are leased out on operating leases.

Operating lease commitments - group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
machinery. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
that it does not bear all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of these machinery and accounts for the contracts
as operating leases.

Deconsolidation of entities in which the Group holds
more than a 50% equity interest

The Group considers that it lost control of Inner Mongolia
Fuyuan Farming Co., Ltd. (“Fuyuan”) due to issuing new
shares of Fuyuan to new shareholders on 13 January 2014,
even though it held a 50.68% equity interest at that time.
This was because the Group owed less than 50% of the
voting rights. Details are contained in note 5 to the financial
statements.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Details of goodwill are given in note 21 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 25 to the
financial statements.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value
is determined using valuation techniques including the
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing
fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs
such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
value of financial instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment is based
on the credit history of its customers and other debtors and
the current market condition. Management reassesses the
provisions at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value of contingent considerations

Contingent considerations, resulting from business
combinations, are valued at fair value at the acquisition date
as part of the business combinations. Where the contingent
consideration meets the definition of a derivative and thus, a
financial liability, it is subsequently remeasured to fair value
at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value
is based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions
take into consideration the probability of meeting each
performance target and the discount factors.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life of the option, volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Details
of share-based payments are contained in notes 43 and 44 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continueq)

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of
property, plant and equipment and investment
properties

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment
and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment and investment properties of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charges where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable
lives and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses
in the future periods.

Fair value of dairy cows

The Group’s dairy cows are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value of dairy cows is determined based on
either the market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected yield of the
milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of
growth of the dairy cows; or the present value of expected
net cash flows from the dairy cows discounted at a current
market-determined rate, when market-determined prices
are unavailable; or the cost when appropriate. Any change
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the dairy cows
significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in the fair value
of dairy cows. Details of assumptions used are disclosed in
note 26.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. 3‘«M§J\*‘I3§#5P

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

° Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”),
milk beverages and yogurt;

° Ice cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ice cream;

° Milk powder segment — manufacture and distribution of
milk powder; and

° Other products segment — principally the Group’s
cheese, plant-based nutrition product and trading
business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from
continuing operations except that interest income, finance
costs, dividend income, as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFBER @

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2014 HE-Z—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

Liquid milk Ice cream Milk powder Other
products products products products Total

REMER KEKER HHER HittEm At

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR AR®TR AR®TR ARWT:R

Segment revenue; FHBA
Sales to external customers HETINDRP 43,036,163 2,716,096 3,960,963 336,021 50,049,243
Intersegment sales HEEHE 855,158 145,220 487,863 217,565 1,705,806
43,891,321 2,861,316 4,448,826 553,586 51,755,049

Reconciliation: RE:
Elimination of intersegment sales ¥4 ZiRS 855 (1,705,806)
Revenue from continuing REBELEER

operations ZUA 50,049,243
Segment results PWEE 2,930,154 4,363 354,682 (126,882) 3,162,317
Reconciliation: Feli
Interest income F 2 UA 547,638
Finance costs BB (339,910)
Share of profits of associates FEfR R A R RE 277,732
Unallocated corporate AHBERAZH

expenses (497,769)
Profit before tax from REBECEEH L

continuing operations AT 3,150,008
Income tax expense Friefs i (459,292)
Profit for the year from REBELEER

continuing operations RERNE 2,690,716
Segment assets THEE 22,706,898 2,583,398 12,409,854 1,795,576 39,495,726
Reconciliation: FEE
Elimination of intersegment Y S R RN E

receivables (9,242,313)
Unallocated corporate assets THBMAREE 16,818,946
Assets related to discontinued BREKHEEER Y

operations BE 8,433

Total assets BEE 47,080,792
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHITEE @

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2014 HE-_ZE—NNE+_B=+—HIFE

Liquid milk Ice cream Milk powder Other
products products products products Total

REMER KEKER MY ER HitEm )

RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARWT:R

Segment liabilities PHEE 13,408,400 1,715,683 2,408,830 1,048,115 18,581,028
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment payables %444 2B fE 1 28 (9,242,313)
Unallocated corporate liabilites ~ FHEH AR &E 13,248,632
Liabilities related to discontinued 3 2 2 42 & 2757

operations B 572
Total liabilities #aRE 22,587,919

Other segment information: HipHER

Depreciation and amortisation E R 999,647 116,295 147,057 28,185 1,291,184
Unallocated amounts A EhsE 50,532
Total depreciation and amortisation T K & s 4858 1,341,716
Capital expenditure BARREX 1,816,218 101,966 926,417 159,640 3,004,241
Unallocated amounts AR EFE 274,037
Total capital expenditure® BT BE 3,278,278
Impairment losses recognised Rir B BERERH
in the consolidated statement WERE
of profit or loss 365,006 8,439 2,555 2,281 378,281
Other non-cash expenses Hi3EE ST H (20,253) (1,847) - - (22,100)
Unallocated amounts AR EHA 194,599
Total non-cash expenses FEE T M 550,780
* Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase * BARIBEAEYE  BELRSE &
of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress, BIE KREVE BREE  THEA
investment properties, intangible assets, land use rights, - EYEERKRBTARMXANES -

biological assets, and for the acquisition of subsidiaries.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFBER @

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2013 BE-_ZT—=F+-A=t+—HIEE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder Other
products products products products Total
REMER  KERER IER HivEm st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTE ARBTT ARETT ARETT

Segment revenue; FHBA
Sales to external customers HETFINERP 37,902,833 3,023,370 2,177,251 253,454 43,356,908
Intersegment sales SEREE 281,572 40,549 38,829 43,066 404,016
38,184,405 3,063,919 2,216,080 296,520 43,760,924

Reconciliation: S
Elimination of intersegment sales %357 2iE 855 (404,016)
Revenue from continuing BELEEBIA

operations 43,356,908
Segment results PIEE 2,350,741 51,866 95,413 (22,796) 2,475,224
Reconciliation: B
Interest income FBUA 359,295
Finance costs BB (160,377)
Share of profits of associates FERE S N RIFIE 153,861
Unallocated corporate expenses ~ AHHH AT X H (623,500)
Profit before tax from R BRI

continuing operations 2,204,508
Income tax expense ZigCs s (366,713)
Profit for the year from BECEERATRE

continuing operations 1,837,790
Segment assets THEE 19,362,089 1,536,988 11,861,065 474,480 33,234,622
Reconciliation: S
Elimination of intersegment Y S R EYGRE

receivables (8,618,415
Unallocated corporate assets THPEDAIEE 14,626,725
Assets related to discontinued BRIMEEERIREEAE

operations 1,096,464

Total assets BEE 40,339,396
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHITEE @

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2013 BE-_ZT—=F+-A=1+—HIEE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder Other
products products products products Total
REMER  KEKER M Em HivEm st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTE ARETT ARETE

Segment liabilities AHEE 15,102,984 1,251,766 2,051,448 482,434 18,888,632
Reconciliation: BE:
Elimination of intersegment 5D HmEN R

payables (8,618,415)
Unallocated corporate liabilties ~ AHEHREEE 11,854,791
Liabilities related to discontinued ~ B4 FHE4 %7

operations BEEE 203,250
Total liabilities BafE 22,328,258

Other segment information: ~ Htt5#HEH :

Depreciation and amortisation WELE 961,248 112,220 92,535 6,307 1,172,310
Unallocated amounts A EF0E 45272
Total depreciation and NEREHASE
amortisation 1,217,582
Capital expenditure BARS 4,547,984 338,550 7,280,321 12,539 12,179,394
Unallocated amounts T EFE 417,135
Total capital expenditure* BARRX s 12,596,529
Impairment losses recognised PR BRRERN
in the consolidated statement R R
of profit or loss 79,750 10,431 1,477 239 91,897
Other non-cash expenses HigdERe Xt 15,322 3,755 - - 19,077
Unallocated amounts AR EFE 184,413
Total non-cash expenses FRET HEB 295,387
* Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the purchase * BARLBIEREME WMEEZME T
of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress, BIRE - REWE BEEE - THEA
investment properties, intangible assets, land use rights, R EWEERKEEREARMF QRN
biological assets, and for the acquisition of associates and SRR E -

subsidiaries.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFTER @

(continued)

Geographical information EER

a. Revenue from external customers a. REIMBEFHBA
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in 90% LA =By U A 2R B L A R B K BE A
Mainland China. BF o

b. Non-current assets b. FRBEE
Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located REBEO% A ERIEREE EHTUR
in Mainland China. e N

Information about a major customer FEEZFER

There is no single customer contributing over 10% of the TERE-FFPAAEEFERERI0% MK

Group’s revenue. Ao
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ EEA R W zE

Revenue, being the turnover of the Group, represents the WA BREBRNEERE  BOELEMAE
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods EEE KNBREEREZE SN - ALK
returns and trade discounts, and after eliminations of all HEBENERABZEAR B EITBHH
significant intra-group transactions. LR
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains AREBREBHESEEROWRA ~ E4lA
from continuing operations is as follows: R DHTAT -
2014 2013
—E-mEF T——14F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Revenue: L PNE
Sale of goods P miEE 50,049,243 43,356,908
Other income and gains: HA A R dEs
Government grants related to BB
— Assets other than biological assets — LAY E ELASN
BEERH (@) 20,489 19,385
— Income and biological assets — B AREY)
BESH (b) 151,031 71,775
Gain on deemed disposal of a BEHBE—K
subsidiary Fra)ieE (c)/45 94,903 -
Gain on deemed disposal of partial BRIEE—FREE
interests in an associate RNAEE D HEERE (d) 22,916 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HETF AR 47 13,875 -
Foreign exchange gains, net PE 5 Uz 558 = 165,147
Unrealised gain on forward currency REIINEEH
contracts REIR W R (e)/36 17,455 -
Gross rental income MBIl 43,318 -
Others Hih 85,087 42,326
449,074 288,633

50,498,317 43,645,541




REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group has received certain government grants in the form
of property, plant and equipment donations or cash donations
to purchase items of property, plant and equipment. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attaching to these
grants. The grants are initially recorded as deferred income and
amortised to match the depreciation charge of the underlying
property, plant and equipment in accordance with the assets’
estimated useful lives (note 38).

The government grants in the form of cash donations have
been received for the Group’s contribution to the development
of the local dairy products industry. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies attaching to these grants.

On 18 January 2014, the Group disposed Fuyuan, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, through issuing new shares of
Fuyuan to new shareholders. As a result, Fuyuan became an
associate of the Group in which the Group held a 50.68%
equity interest at that time.

On 26 June 2014, Fuyuan issued new shares to its existing
shareholders other than the Group, which resulted in the
dilution of the Group’s interest in Fuyuan to 43.35%.

The Group has entered into several forward currency contracts
to manage its exchange rate exposures. These forward
currency contracts are not designated for hedge purpose and
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Net fair value
gain on forward currency contracts of RMB17,455,000 (2013:
Nil) was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year.
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NBEME  BEMREIR  AAKE
EFETHDE ZEHEDSLBMEE
MARZEROEFHEIAEER - ZEHDE
MR RIREEWE - WAREBEENMG
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RIEOITER X (H5E38) -

AEBRSEWIHRITENERBEME
B RERSBEEANRTESE - &%
554 B 30 4 P 75 () ARSE B RO (6 1 33k
AREIH o

RZZB-—ME—-A+=H  AREEBRR
MR ETARRNEEF AR =R
Bt WEER - At ERAAAEHE
BB 2 AR AREEREEHE0.68%MK
-

“E-IEAAZTAR  BRAAEE
AN IR AR EITI R - UHAEE
REIROEREEE43.35% o
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6. OTHER EXPENSES

6. HiEHMH

2014 2013
—E—MmEF —ET—=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T NG
Donation By 14,203 18,634
Loss on disposal of items of property, EEWE - HE&
plant and equipment RBEE 22,814 17,496
Write-down of inventories to net FEWRZ IR
realisable value EE @) 287,779 277
Provision for property, LER =N
plant and equipment B 1,551 9,162
Provision for trade receivables and FEUR IR 3R K HoAth
other receivables JE W R s 88,951 81,934
Educational surcharges and city HE B AT
construction tax MR 214,295 194,886
Foreign exchange losses, net P i 518 5 58 37,986 -
Others Hip 45,628 37,736
713,207 360,125
Note: BEE -
(@)  During 2014, RMB280,646,000 (2013: Ni) and RMB7,133,000 @ RN-Z—MEE HAERARYE

(2013: RMB277,000) were recognised as an expense for raw
milk powder and other inventories carried at net realisable
value, respectively. They are recognised as other expenses.

280,646,0007C( —ZT—=4F : E) AR
7,133,0007T( = —=4 : AR¥277,000
TL) BRI R H a7 S MU Z ] IR %
BEER - B EERAEMER -



7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations is
arrived at after charging:

TEEFUERRAR
—T—UFEFIR
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7. BATFHE
AR R S A R B AT R T AR
BT E B R HATS

2014 2013
—E—MF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Cost of inventories sold HEFEKA 34,612,864 31,656,106
Realised and unrealised fair value losses BIRRAEEAER S
of white sugar commodity futures HEEHARERE
contracts, net (a) F % (a) 2,766 3,557
Cost of sales $HE A 34,615,630 31,659,663
Employee benefit expense (including EEBAMER(BIE
directors’ and chief executive’s ISR EE R
remuneration as disclosed in note 8) FEITHBABHH)
- Wages, salaries, housing benefits and —-I& %He IF
other allowances LEEIpS @ uh=3" 2,863,833 2,350,027
— Retirement benefit contributions — R R R 271,609 240,100
— Share-based payment expense (note 43)  — LARR {5 B EFE A
(Mt5E43) (46,935) 52,382
— Share award scheme expense (note 44) —REERTEIRY
(MtsE44) 219,434 151,108
3,307,941 2,793,617
Depreciation of items of property, W BB RREITE
plant and equipment 1,294,922 1,178,923
Depreciation of investment properties KEMENE 4,258 1,815
Amortisation of land use rights + I {F P AR £ 25,264 21,748
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hfh A A 17,272 15,096
Research and development costs — BEMEHREER
current year expenditure 66,975 57,007
Provision for trade receivables and JE Uk B R K2 L Ath e Uk
other receivables SRIRE A 88,951 81,934
Outsourcing expense (b) SNELER R (b) 442,298 318,127
Minimum lease payments under FEREL&EHERERS
operating leases on buildings 252,368 156,488
Display space leasing fees fRy R EE 599,450 595,998
Auditors’ remuneration ZER S 4,640 4,440
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(@)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Since 2011, the Group has entered into several
commodity futures contracts to manage its price
exposure to future purchases of white sugar. During
the year, a net fair value loss on the commodity futures
contracts of RMB2,766,000 (2013: RMB3,557,000) was
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In order to optimize the production plan for promoting
operation efficiency purpose, the Group outsourced the
production of certain products. The amounts represent
the total amount paid by the group for purchasing those
products.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and section 78 of Schedule 11 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) with reference
to section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32), is as follows:

7. BATRE @

(@

REHE - T——FRITIZHER
HEAY  UWEIBHEBAEESHERN
M ERER - FATALZEEBZE
ENARBESONARERBRFE
BAREE2766,000(ZT— =4
AR#3,557,0007T) °

RE(CEEBINETEEREX - K
KEHNBRETERNEE - XL BE
AEE P RBZ FEMSITHAREE -

8. EERFETHAEEHMN

BEEEHAERIMBERARES ETHAL
(T ETRA) REB R GHEN E622F W £
1E781E  URELXERMHBRGIEHE
REFICIRBEENRNFEESREETH
ANBEFHBAT -

2014 2013

—ZE—F T—=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T ARET T

Fees e 1,773 2,120

Other emoluments HiE<

— Basic salaries, housing benefits, other —HAHE  FEEH -

allowances and benefits in kind E b2 R EYFz= 18,138 18,366

— Retirement benefit contributions —IRIREFIHER 287 343

20,198 20,829




8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.
REMUNERATION (continued)

TERFAEERAE
—E-NEER
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EERTETBRAEHM @

Basic
salaries,
housing
benéefits,
other
allowances REETE
and benefits benefit Total
inkind contributions remuneration
HEXES
EERA
HitREE R
e ENFs BABEAHK mEe
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B et AR®ETR AR¥TR AR¥TR ARETR
2014 —2-QF
Executive directors HTESE
- Ms. Sun Yiping i T 30 9,708 88 9,826
- Mr. Wu Jingshui —REkEE (a) 8 1,876 55 1,939
- Mr. Bai Ying -HAELE 30 6,194 89 6,313
Non-executive directors FHTES
- Mr. Ning Gaoning -EnEL4 150 - - 150
- Mr. Yu Xubo -FRELE 150 - - 150
- Mr. Niu Gensheng —HRERE 150 360 55 565
- Mr. Ma Jianping -EEYEE () 38 - - 38
- Ms. Liu Ding Tt (@) 150 - - 150
- Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. Hansen’t 4 150 - - 150
- Mr. Christian Neu —Christian Neust 4 (@) 150 - - 150
Independent BUENTES
non-executive directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge —EHELE (b) - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul Wolhardt
THE (o) - = - -
- Mr. Liu Fuchun -2REEE () 59 - - 59
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDLE 236 - - 236
—Mr. Andrew Y. Yan —BEE (@) 59 - - 59
~ Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew —#EsE A (@) 236 - - 236
- Mr. Liao Jianwen —BRNEE (@) 177 - - 177
1,773 18,138 287 20,198
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (continuea

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits,

other

allowances
and benefits

in kind

Retirement
benefit
contributions

8. EBRFIEMTHAEHFMm=

Total
remuneration

ik ) VN[5 BEs
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i3z ARET T ARETT ARETTT ARBTT
2013 —E—=F
Executive directors WnTER
- Ms. Sun Yiping —FFERt 30 8,155 81 8,266
- Mr. Wu Jingshui -REKELE (a) 30 2,021 50 2,101
~ Mr. Bai Ying -BREE 30 4,963 81 5,074
- Mr. Ding Sheng -TEEE () 20 2,867 81 2,968
Non-executive directors FHTES
- Mr. Ning Gaoning ~ERELA 150 - - 150
- Mr. Yu Xubo -FRgEE 150 - - 150
~ Mr. Niu Gensheng —4RERSE 150 360 50 560
- Mr. Ma Jianping -BRTEE (a) 150 - - 150
- Ms. Liu Ding -MTxx (a) 150 - - 150
- Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen —Tim @rting Jergensen
fited (@) 100 - - 100
- Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. Hansen’t & 150 - - 150
— Mr. Christian Neu —Christian Neu’t £ (a) 50 - - 50
Independent BUFHITESR
non-executive directors
- Mr. Jiao Shuge —EREEE (b) - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolharat —Julian Juul Wolhardt
3 (b) : _ B} _
- Mr. Liu Fuchun -3BEELE (@) 240 - - 240
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya - REDEE 240 - - 240
- Mr. Xie Tao —MExE (a) 60 - - 60
- Mr. Andrew Y. Yan —Buist (a) 240 - - 240
- Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew = E (@) 180 - - 180
2,120 18,366 343 20,829




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes:

Mr. Xie Tao resigned as director on 1 April 2013. Mr. Ding
Sheng and Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen resigned as directors
on 1 September 2013. Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr.
Liu Fuchun and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan resigned as directors on
26 March 2014. Ms. Liu Ding and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan were
appointed on 10 January 2013. Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew,
Mr. Christian Neu and Mr. Liao Jianwen were appointed
on 1 April 2013, 1 September 2013 and 26 March 2014,
respectively.

During 2014, the two directors agreed to waive their
entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB472,000 (2013:
RMB480,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned,
there was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

As of 31 December 2014, certain directors were granted
share options in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.
In accordance with IFRS 2, share option benefits represent
the fair value at the grant date of the share options issued
under the share option scheme of the Company amortised to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
disregarding whether the options have been vested/exercised
or not. During the year, there was a reversal of share-based
payment expenses relating to the share option lapsed due
to the unfulfiiment of vesting conditions under the Share
Option Scheme. The reversed share option benefits relating
to the share options granted to Mr. Wu Jingshui and Mr. Bai
Ying were approximately RMB814,000 (2013: recognised
an expense of RMB3,429,000) and RMB1,114,000 (2013:
recognised an expense of RMB4,572,000),respectively. In
addition, Mr. Ding Sheng was resigned in September 2013,
the share option benefits relating to the share options granted
to Mr. Ding Sheng were approximately RMB4,572,000 during
2013.

FESFAEERLA
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8. EERFETHBAEFMm@m

GEE

MEEER _T—=FMNA— BB FE
£ o TE%ARTIm Orting Jorgensenst 4
RZZBE—=FNA—HHETEEZ - REK
S BRETEA  BRELEMBGL
R E—NFE=ZF -+ HEITESE -
MTZEREAREER-_TE—=F—F+
AL - $ABA 5L 4 + Christian Neu’t
ERBERNAEESFIR -E—=FMA—
A ZZT—=FfNA—BRkRZZT—HNF=
B+ BERT-

RZZE—MFE MUEERERELSE
=8 EAZLAREE472,000L(=ZF
— =4 : AR¥480,0007T) ° K ATt E
I REFETETNEHEEREXRE
RET MBS T HE o

RZZE—NFE+-_A=+—H EF&E=
PEHEAE BN RS EA QB R EERK
BB LB (BEFBEINI ISR
KHIFE43) - RIEBRBRBRELEAE2
5% BEARIERE e IR A A BB A E AT 2 A
BITNEREAREBHOAAE  FR
ERGRBRRANTAEE  MTHR%ZE
BRELLACRB 11E - TR BAM
RS R AR D B ERE R I H IR
B - JhE R ER EIE TR B ISR
BEER - BRTPREKEENABEE L EER
SR BEOERERMN SN ABARE
814,000 (ZE—=%F : BABIARK
3,429,0007T) M AR #1,114,0007L (=&
—=F : BRAZARK4,572,0007T) °
PEoh - TESRER T —=%F N AFT -
R-ZE—ZF BFT BRAENERES
M BB IRERFIL A ARE4,572,0007T °
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Two (2013: three) of the five highest paid employees were
directors whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining three (2013: two) non-
director, highest paid employee, who is neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company as follows:

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFETHBAEFMm@
REMUNERATION (continued)
Notes: (continued) Mist : (48
d.  As of 31 December 2014, Ms. Sun Yiping and Mr. Bai Ying d RZZE—WNE+-A=+—8 BEF¥EL
were granted treasury shares in respect of their services to TRABESAEREYAREBRIRE Y REE
the Group under the share award scheme of the Company, KARIRIBERZEETEHEREEFRK
further details of which are set out in note 44 to the financial M BEFBRHERNVBEWMEMTLS - R
statements. In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payments BEERMIEREEDFE25 - UKD AR
benefits represent the fair value at the grant date of the MO NEAEEFRMNELBEHOA
treasury shares amortised to the consolidated statement of HE FRNEREAEBEIRAT AR -
profit or loss during the year disregarding whether the treasury MAmZEEERNDEECEB, 17
shares have been vested/exercised or not. During the year, the FR - BERTHREFILTRABELEADN
share-based payments relating to the treasury shares granted BEERG AL BEROSZ A BINEA
to Ms. Sun Yiping and Mr. Bai Ying were approximately R#42,928000m (=T —=F : ARM
RMB42,928,000 (2013: RMB36,787,000) and RMB678,000 36,787,0007T ) & A R#678,00070 (= F
(2013: Nil), respectively. —=4F fE) o
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES hTVBREFHFEE

hfikeFHEEREMU(ZE—=F: =
f)EE  ARERFHMEERER B3
B -AFEXNTARAEHK=U(=F
—=F :M)FEF ESHFREECFES
AT

2014 2013
=ik —= =

RMB’000
AR®TR

RMB’000
ARETT

EA¥e  EERN -

Basic salaries, housing benefits,

other allowances and benefits in kind Hib 28 REWMHZ 11,113 6,655
Retirement scheme contributions RIREFFTEIE R 148 67

11,261 6,722




9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continueq)

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

TEEFUERRAR
—T—UFEFIR
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BanT -

9. EUBEHFEEw@®
MeZ AL TN RS HIEERREENH

Number of employees

EE®A
2014 2013
—ZE-mF

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,0017% 7T 24,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,0017%7C % 4,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,0017# 75 25,000,000 7T — 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7T % 5,500,000/ 7T — -
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001;% 71 26,000,000/ 7T — -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001% 7T 26,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3 2

During the year, share options were granted to one (2013:
two) non-director, highest paid employee in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are set out
in note 43 to the financial statements. During the year, the
reversed share option benefits relating to the share options
granted to the non-director, highest paid employee was
approximately RMB884,000 (2013: recognised an expense
of RMB3,572,000). The share option benefits relating to
the share options granted to this non-director, highest paid
employee is not included in the above analysis.

During the year, treasury shares were granted to two (2013:
Nil) non-director, highest paid employee in respect of their
services under the share award scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements. During the year, the share-based payments
relating to the treasury shares granted to non-director,
highest paid employees were approximately RMB904,000
(20183: Nil) in aggregate. The share based payments relating
to the treasury shares granted to this non-director, highest
paid employee is not included in the above analysis.

FR —RB(CE—=ZF MB)BRaFIEE
EERERESEAEENRGEREREE
BRI E B IS R M FE43F B FE) - FA
EHRZAEeFEESREERDEREN
B O IR A B AR 884,000 (=&
—=F : WRAXARMSZ572,0007T) ° +
MAOMT EREEERNZEEHFEER
BRHERENERERT -

FR ME(CE—ZF BE)RoHFES
BEREBBREAR TN E EE B
REFRD (B EFHBEMSREAM F44%
BE) TN AERNZERETHESE
BREEFERMDHOURG BERATHE &
45 ANREEQ04,000T( T —=1F : &) o
FRAY EBEABAZETRS T HES
BERHEERDHNARD AR -
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10. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as

10. BE KA

KEFBRLEEFOBERADTAT

follows:
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Interest on long term payables RHEMNZIBERE 8,943 11,659
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BERAFRNEHERDN
within five years IRITERFE 211,338 123,114
Interest on US$500,000,000 3.50% bond BE3E0%R_ZE—NF
due 2018 EI|H#5,2 500,000,000% 7T
EAE 22 106,871 10,392
Increase in discounted amounts of B 53 575 4 T 382 hn sk ok
contingent consideration arising from RENITIRIFE
the passage of time 10,279 15,212
Unrealised loss on interest rate forward R RHAA HH) R 38 B8
contracts (note 36) (FF5E36) 2,479 -
339,910 160,377
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT law”), except for certain
preferential treatment available to twenty-four (2013: twenty-
one) of the Group’s subsidiaries, the entities within the Group
are subject to the PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate
of 25% (2013: 25%) on the taxable income as reported in
their statutory accounts which are prepared in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards and financial regulations.

P&
BEBEHEARKMBECEMREHE(FE
EEMSRZED  BRTASE—+HE(=
T—=F: Z+—H) TRARNESETHE
BRI  AREETHEEEHRELEER
B A2 MERTAEIR25%(—F— =% :
25%) Z BN B E TS ([ 2T
Bl RERE RRRHE S ER M
BEMmE -

2014 2013
—E-mE —T=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Current income tax BIEAFR 8 5

Current charge for the year RERBRIHAS

Adjustments recognised in the year for FARAEFEHAEH
current tax of prior years TR H

Deferred income tax (note 25) B FR8 % (Fi25)

681,915 385,903
6,705 (9,224)
(229,328) (9,966)

459,292 366,713
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11 Fﬁ ﬁ.i H:Il (%E)
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit EEERN - BBAAERETRERB =T
before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax EREFRSE  BIRRBRAEEERMEH
expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate for the year is MERAEWMEHRSE - AT -
as follows:
2014 2013
—E—MmEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYET T ARETT
Profit before tax from continuing TGN
operations DR DR IS 3,150,008 2,204,503
At CIT rate of 25% (2013: 25%) 5% (ZE—=F :
25%) 1> FT1S L
MEGTE 787,502 551,126

Non-deductible items and others, net  TrR[IXMNFATE R K&

Hth CF58) 30,920 56,337

Adjustment in respect of current tax of  ¥fLABTHAR & A
previous periods Frig®iay Bﬂﬁk 6,705 (9,224)
Effect of lower tax rates BEHEne® (@) (76,854) (66,081)
Effect of tax exemptions MBHRENTE (@) (211,536) (159,879)

Reversal of withholding tax at 5% on B AEEET
the distributable profits of the Group’s  #1 B +/A &) A] L 2%k

certain PRC subsidiaries FE A% 32 49 HY
M (12,500) (681)
Profits attributable to associates kNI s (62,303) (27,514)
Tax loss utilised from previous periods  {F [ LA 1+ HAE 57 7%
&8 (35,255) (3,738)
Tax losses not recognised RERHEEE 74,870 26,367
Utilisation of previously unrecognised i Fi 4 Bl AR FERRHY
temporary difference TRyt ER (42,257) -
At the effective income tax rate of H14.58%( —F—=
14.58% (2013: 16.63%) F 16, 63%)%%‘—5

ST Rt E 459,292 366,713




11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

(@)  Twenty-four (2013: twenty-one) subsidiaries were subject
to tax concessions in 2014. The total taxable profits of the
subsidiaries that are subject to tax concessions amounted to
approximately RMB1,197,932,000 (2013: RMB745,140,000)
in aggregate. Out of the twenty-four subsidiaries, twelve (2013:
eleven) were granted lower tax rates by the state tax bureau
in accordance with the PRC CIT law and the corresponding
transitional tax concession policy and “The notice of tax
policies relating to the implementation of the western China
development strategy.” Nineteen (2013: eighteen) subsidiaries
were granted tax exemptions in accordance with the policy of
“The notice of preferential tax policy for preliminary processing
of agriculture products”.

(b)  The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
approximately RMB12,404,000 (2013: RMB12,010,000) is
included in the share of profits of associates on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 25 November 2013, Fuyuan, Inner Mongolia Hehe
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hehe”), Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
(Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) and
certain third parties entered into a series of agreements in
order to better finance Fuyuan’s business expansion. In
accordance with the agreements, third parties will inject
additional capital to Fuyuan, consequently resulting in the
dilution of Hehe’s equity interest in Fuyuan from 100% to
around 43%. Fuyuan engages in the dairy farming business.
The deemed disposal of Fuyuan has completed in 2014, upon
which Hehe lost the control of Fuyuan. As at 31 December
2013, Fuyuan was classified as a disposal group held for sale.

On 18 January 2014, the Group completed the first batch of
the abovementioned transactions and accordingly Fuyuan
became an associate of the Group in which Hehe held a
50.68% equity interest (see note 45). On 26 June 2014,
Fuyuan further issued new shares to its existing shareholders
other than the Group as scheduled, which resulted in the
further dilution of Hehe’s interest in Fuyuan to 43.35%.

11.

12.

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFIR

FrEHZHm
HiEE -

(8 RZTE—NF Z+HOE(ZE—=F:
T+ FRAAEZHEESR - ZSE
MIEEENTRARMERRABEEA
#“ANER#1,197,932,0007T ( —F — =4 :
AR #745,140,0007T) © —+ O[T A 7
AT -E(ZZE—=F: +—B)TF2A
RIEBRBRERE FTHERREERIUFTEH
EMEHE  AEHRERRERE &
CEERE A E e 70 30 K 5 3 8BRS A R B U
REENBANERBE - +LB(ZF
— =% +)\H) FRRMHEE R ACEH
RERZZCEMESHERRRNEER
T EE(GIT)MBANKBER B -

(o) EpEAEEMLRIEL A AR12,404,000
T(ZE—=%: AR¥12,010,0007T) °
BERtALRAIBERAOELEZ R AFEA -

C A I RS

R-TE—=Ft+—A=-+HHB " BER AX
ERMBREBREERR(NRM]) - AR
ERFIAR(EB)BROBERABA(TARE
FNEETE=Z DRI ERHHE  EEHY
BRETINBMENDREER - RIEZE
W F=SERBRIARINELR - BAM
RN & IR 8 I B 100% 358 = K4
43% - BREERIEXRE - BIFREERE
R-T—NFEX - BRRANKEAETRL
ZHE e -N_FT-—=F+_A=1+—H" &
BOBRRAFENEER -

R-TE—NF—A+=R0 XEBZ KL
MEHRR S > BERSK AR EE R 2
DA B ARMERH E50.68%4 (R K
45) - MZFE—MWFRA-+RE » BRK
FHEIRAEE AN IR B R E — P BITH
iy MEBARMREROES R E - THE
£43.35% °
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continueq) 12. ERLREXER @

Acquisition of a subsidiary exclusively with a view
to subsequent disposal

On 29 August 2013, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding
Industry Management Co., Ltd. (“Founding”) acquired an
additional 64% equity interest in Chengdu Mengniu Dairy
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Sales”) exclusively with a view to
subsequent disposal within one year. Prior to the acquisition,
Chengdu Sales was a 36% associate of Founding. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash of RMB5,763,000 paid on the acquisition date.
Chengdu Sales engages in the dairy products trading
business. The subsidiary was acquired for the purpose of the
Group’s distributorship reorganisation. As at 31 December
2013, the Group expected to dispose Chengdu Sales in the
second half year of 2014. As at 31 December 2014, Chengdu
Sales was still in the process of liquidation and management
expected to complete the local administrative procedures of
liquidation in 2015. As such the net assets of Chengdu Sales
have been classified as a disposal group and the operating
results has been disclosed as a discontinued operation in the
consolidated financial statements.

The results of discontinued operations for the year are
presented below:

LRERERBNNTFRARIKE

RZZE—ZFNAZ+IB  REERFH
SEXERAERETAR( R ])EEKE
SEAEHEARETRRA(AHEE])
BA%EIE KR AT 2 —FREEZS
At o ARUESRT - AERSHE BT R1536%
RIEE &N A o WEERR(E ARYES5,763,000
TTRIREE B AR & S o pREBSHE & FL &Y
RESER - WEZTRARZENREAL
EESACHEHEEE RZE—=F+=A
=t+—B AEEBEHR =T —WMFTEF
BERHHEE RZT—NOF+=-_A=+—
B KEHESNERTHARS  mMERE
FERBR T —RAF TR EMTHEEF &
REBHENEEFEN I EAEEM K&
EEERGRAMBIRRAIME—HER L
BRI -

ERIEEEBAFOREZTIMT ¢

2014 2013
—E2-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETT
Revenue WA 20 43,081
Net expenses SR (83) (18,650)
Finance costs [EL RPN = (233)
Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued REBRISEER 2
operations RiATFE, (&E) (63) 24,198
Income tax expense Frisfis i = -
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued KB B4R FE & %75
operations REFHE,(&EE) (63) 24,198




12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continueq)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued
operations classified as held for sale as at 31 December are as
follows:

TEEFUERRAR
—T—UFEFIR
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12. ERIEEEEK @

RT-A=+—B2ERBERENDRLE
REXFNTREERBERENNT

2014 2013
—ZE-F —ET—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB Mk - 275,126
Construction in progress EETRE - 67,624
Land use rights + Hb {55 PR A - 6,522
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE = 2,676
Biological assets EMEE - 495,568
Inventories FE - 74,102
Trade and bills receivables FEWER SR R RE 72 12,711
Prepayments, deposits and AR e REM
other receivables e U k18 7,812 390,376
Cash and bank balances B& MIRITHETE 549 56,299
8,433 1,381,004
Less: Intra-group receivables B EEAAREEERGUR - (284,540)
Assets classified as held for sale NEAEBEFENEE 8,433 1,096,464
Liabilities =N
Trade and bills payables FE R R RIE 13 54,320
Other payables and accruals Hinfe I RIBIRER 559 663,705
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ E8R1T R E it & & - 30,000
572 748,025
Less: Intra-group payables B EEAA REENRIE = (544,775)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets HEHfEAEBIFENEE
classified as held for sale HEEEENAE 572 203,250
Net assets directly associated with HApE B A E AR R
the disposal groups FEE 7,861 893,214
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continueq) 12. BARIEREERE @)
The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operations are as DRIEREHEBEFANRSREFENOT
follows:
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Operating activities KBTS (705) (167,712)
Investing activities REED = (487,142)
Financing activities BEEE = 667,297
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BemA (Rt FaE (705) 12,443
13. DIVIDENDS 13. K&
2014 2013
—2-mF —F—=fF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE ARET T ARET T
Declared and paid during the year AEEE KT
Equity dividends on ordinary shares TR 391,060 290,488

Proposed for approval at the AGM FEIEER IR FHF

AXEHE

Equity dividends on ordinary shares: LR g

Proposed final - RMBO0.28 BOREAARAR B —

(2013: RMBO0.20) per ordinary share G E R

AR¥0.287C
(ZF—=F:
TR B
AR#0.2070) (@)/(b) 548,406 367,053

Notes: FsE -

(@) The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the (@) HBWRFEBHARSELRAAFTNRFLRE
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming ERFEFAE((RERAFKE DI0E -
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”).

()  This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the b)) ZEBREVYAEZZT—NF+—_A=+—
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2014 but AMEGREMEHREERAARE - B kM
will be reflected as an appropriation of share premium account ABE_T-—RAF+_A=+—HLFE

for the year ending 31 December 2015. B 7 & B D BL ©



14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by
dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during that year, as used in the basic earnings
per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares
used in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share
amount is as follows:

FERFAEERAT
—T—UFEFIR
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14. gﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁkﬁ{ﬁﬁ’ﬂ’éﬁi

Z

RAERNERERBNIRBEFARNQRE
BEER ARGENERAFAS BT ERR
MR BGHE -

[t

SRESRNIIREFALAREBEESR
ARG MR AR ERT B8 R EAR AP
PR FA S 31T E BN F B fRa&
AFE AEEERN T BRRERERITH
i ST BN TR INEFORETE

SHE SRR K 35 2N B AT R 0 T 1 AR
DB FEHT -

2014 2013
—F-mF —F—=F
Number of Number of

shares shares

B0 EE Fedn 2k B
’000 ’000
TR T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares &t & &% £ 7~ 2 FIF7 B &9

for the purpose of the basic earnings per

BN 8

share calculation 1,942,240 1,804,966
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, & 2% F BT A BE IR AETETT{E

assuming issued at no consideration on the I IRMR(BI1T 2 LiBAR

deemed exercise of all share options during 115

the year 6,804 5,271
Adjustments for share award scheme FRE BT EEL TR 5,508 10,160
Weighted average number of ordinary STEESREERT AN

shares for the purpose of the diluted I3 AR N AE Y 81

earnings per share calculation 1,954,552 1,820,397
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - HERSBE
Movements of the Group’s property, plant and equipment REBRWE - WMEMEBEHERAFERESHN
during the year are as follows: T

Buildings Plant
Freehold and and Office Motor
land  structures  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
KAEETH EERERY HEREES WARME AE @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥Trn AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%Tn ARETn
At 1 January 2014 n=ZF-NE-A—H
Cost AE - 4,799,192 10,204,561 714,189 174,655 15,892,597
Accumulated depreciation 2iE - (1,089,620)  (5,040,958) (411,322) (104,588)  (6,646,488)
Net carrying amount EEFE - 3,709,572 5,163,603 302,867 70,067 9,246,109
At 1 January 2014, net of RZZ-mE-A-8"

accumulated depreciation MREHTE - 3,709,572 5,163,603 302,867 70,067 9,246,109
Acquisition of subsidiaries s AR (Firi46)

(note 46) - 62,263 110,874 2,218 - 175,355
Additions #10 45,577 159,803 139,378 102,209 17,087 464,054
Transfers from construction BRATEERTR(M:E6)

in progress (note 16) - 196,664 904,675 33,301 5,185 1,139,825
Transfers from investment ERERENE17)

properties (note 17) - 20,538 - - - 20,538
Transfers to construction BRETRIE(ME6)

in progress (note 16) - - (1,503) - (338) (1,841)
Transfers to investment properties  E8&Z1H & ¥ (Fi3H17)

(note 17) - (12794 - - - (12794
Disposals RE - (3,801) (48,995) (7,486) (1,697) (61,979)
Impairment (note 6) EREGIET) - - (1,551) - - (1,551)
Exchange realignment fE R (5,474) - - @ (10) (5,486)
Depreciation provided during FRRERE ()

the year (note 7) - (A1441)  (929,123)  (104327)  (20,031)  (1,294,922)
At 31 December 2014, net of RZE-MEF+=A

accumulated depreciation =B MREA

& 40,103 3,890,804 5,337,358 328,780 70,263 9,667,308
At 31 December 2014 RZT-ME+ZA

=t-H
Cost XA E 40,103 5,334,002 11,392,719 628,299 182,384 17,577,507
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EEHHTERAE

impairment - (1,443198)  (6,055361)  (299519)  (112,121)  (7,910,199)
Net carrying amount FEFE 40,103 3,890,804 5,337,358 328,780 70,263 9,667,308




15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

TERFAEERAE

—T—UFEFIR
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15. 1% - BERRE®@®

Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
FEREEY TR Rk 2 LN RE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTL ARBFTT AREFTL AREFTT
At 1 January 2013 W-Z-=F5-F—H
Cost AR 3,641,671 8,588,889 529,686 100,955 12,761,101
Accumulated depreciation 2HTE (757,786)  (3,927,624) (286,031) (50,401)  (5,021,842)
Net carrying amount FEFE 2,183,785 4,661,265 243,655 50,554 7,739,259
At 1 January 2013, net of RZE-=F—-F—-B 1A

accumulated depreciation ZiE 2,783,785 4,661,265 243,655 50,554 7,739,259
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 46) 4 F 28 (fif£46) 642,107 431,019 26,822 15,932 1,115,880
Additions B 181,074 250,995 112,123 17,788 561,980
Transfers from construction ERAHERTR(M6)

in progress (note 16) 492,717 825,506 15,896 4,080 1,338,199
Assets included in a discontinued BERBRIEEEERNE

operation (note 12) E(ME12) (179,421) (85,717) (9,708) (280) (275,126)
Transfers to investment properties ~ EEZIRENE (JiE17)

(note 17) (2,008) - - - (2,008)
Disposals RE (1,852) (38,185) (3,059 (894) (43,990)
Impairment (note ) RE(HzE6) 58 (9,318) - 98 (9,162)
Depreciation provided during FRTEREET)

the year (note 7) (206,888) (871,962) (82,862) (17,211) (1,178,923)
At 31 December 2013, net of RZE-=%1+ZH

acoumulated depreciation =+—B - MRZNE 3,709,572 5,163,603 302,867 70,067 9,246,109
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=%+-F=1-H
Cost AME 4,799,192 10,204,561 714,189 174,655 15,892,597
Accumulated depreciation and ZEMERRE

impaiment (1,089,620)  (5,040,958) (411,322) (104588)  (6,646,488)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,700,572 5,163,603 302,867 70,067 9,246,109
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

(@

All of the Group’s buildings are located in Mainland China,
except for the freehold land included in property, plant and
equipment with a net carrying amount of RMB40,103,000(2013:
Nil) which is situated in New Zealand.

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with a
net book value of approximately RMB245,477,000 (2013:
RMB253,407,000), RMB56,464,000 (2013: RMB7,836,000),
RMB45,178,000 (2013: Nil) and RMB12,153,000 (20183:
RMB14,723,000) have been pledged to secure the long term
payables, short term bank loans, long term bank loans and
other loans, respectively, details of which are set out in notes
37, 34 and 35 to the financial statements.

The Group leases its ranch facilities included in property,
plant and equipment with a net book value of approximately
RMB180,549,000 (2013: RMB193,395,000) to certain dairy
farm companies under operating lease arrangements, with
lease terms ranging from five to eight years (note 50(a)).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group is in the process of
applying for the title certificates of certain of its buildings with
an aggregate book value of approximately RMB19,814,000
(2013: RMB14,018,000). The directors are of the view that the
Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy and use the
abovementioned buildings. The directors are also of the opinion
that the aforesaid matter does not have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2014.

15. ¥ - BMERRE@®

(@

(d)

AEBNEEOMAPEKE  HEFA
ME BMELIXBEEEIEAARE
40,103,0007C (ZZF — =4 : ) MK A E
LM A SRR o

AEBETEEBFENARBARE
245477000 T ( Z T —=ZF : AR¥
253,407,000 7T ) + A R ¥ 56,464,000 7T
—E=—=4F: AR#¥7836,000T) * A
RIEA5178,000L(—E—=4F : )R A
RU¥12,153,0007 ( Z T —=14F : AR
14,723,00070) KIYI%  BEREBEDLESD
PIRIEAREEES REEMNZKIE « EHR
TER RERTERREMETRMIEA
Mo BRFFBEEHN Y BRERME37 « e
34K Bi7E35 o

AEERBESEHETHRAETRIE A
RIFHEHIIAYE « BB R E2ENBIESE
e HY BR R E 49 A R #5180,549,0007T (=
T—=4F : AR¥193,395,0005t)  HE
AEAFEN\F(HFE500)

R-_EBE—MNFE+-_A=+—H &~&E
ErAEETEF(RELENAAR
19,814,000 L (Z T —=ZF : AR
14,018,0007T ) ) B %£#EE - E=RA -
NEBEEEAERABERRER it
BF BENRALUEEISHAEE
MN-E—-NE+-A=+—BHHERR
ERNERTE -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMERRE@®
(continued)
Movements of the Company’s property, plant and equipment KRARYE BMEREHE(EHENIAZ
during the year, which comprise only office equipment, are as BRARFRNZEHAT
follows:

Company
KA E]

2014 2013
—F-MF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT

At 1 January n—AH—H
Cost RARE 535 463
Accumulated depreciation Z:HIrE (182) (121)
Net carrying amount BRESE 353 342
At 1 January, net of accumulated depreciation FA—H—HB - IR EEHITE 353 342
Additions 0 368 72
Depreciation provided during the year FRITE B (259) 61)

At 31 December, net of accumulated

Rt—A=+—8  fIER

depreciation HITE 462 353
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H
Cost BXANME 617 535
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (155) (182)
Net carrying amount REVFE 462 353
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16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. EEIRE
Movements of the Group’s construction in progress, all of REE BN REAMENER T ZEZSHN
which are located in Mainland China, are as follows: T

Group
IREEHE

2014 2013

—E—MEF —E—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBET T

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYREE 1,275,875 596,812

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 46) W BT A R) (FI3E46) 772 355,952

Additions during the year F RN 1,955,367 1,735,259
Assets included in a discontinued BRENERIHEEERRN

operation (note 12) ZEE(ME12) = (67,624)

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 47) RE T AR (MF47) (6,360) -

Exchange realignment [E &, & (51,576) -
Transfers to property, plant and equipment R EWE - KE R &G

(note 15) (F5E15) (1,139,825) (1,338,199)

Transfers to other intangible assets EEREHMELEE

(note 20) (Bf5E20) (5,997) (6,325)
Transfers from property, plant and EEAYE  BE KRR

equipment (note 15) (FF&E15) 1,841 -

Carrying amount at end of year FEMRME 2,030,097 1,275,875




FERFAEERAT
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEWEE
Group
REE
2014 2013
—E-lmF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
At 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—RH  fIRRFITE
depreciation 115,816 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46) W B — 7~ 5 (i sE46) - 115,623
Transfers from property, plant and HEAYE BB MK
equipment (note 15) (M45E15) 12,794 2,008
Transfers to property, plant and equipment — BEEEWE - KE &L
(note 15) (H3E15) (20,538) -
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE(MET)
(note 7) (4,258) (1,815)
At 31 December, net of accumulated W+=—A=+—8"
depreciation MR RRHTE 103,814 115,816
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H
Cost BXANE 119,047 128,836
Accumulated depreciation Ritine (15,233) (13,020)
Net carrying amount BREFE 103,814 115,816
The fair value of the investment properties, as determined REMEZARNER-ZZE—NF+=A
by the directors of the Company, based on the market —+—HEHAARK163,738,0007T(=
approach with reference to market transaction prices of T—=%: AR™175,866,0007T) ' J9EA
similar properties, taking into account other factors, i.e., REIESREMSERSZHUMENTIS
characteristics of the properties, locations, is estimated to be RHERETE - WEFREMEE - BIMmE
approximately RMB163,738,000 as at 31 December 2014 BHE R EE o

(2013: RMB175,866,000).
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueaq)
Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

17. BEWHE @)
DAREBHK
TEIERAEEBREMES AR EHE
=4

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2014 using

R-B-NE+=A=+-HEAZAAEE

Quoted prices
in active
markets

SEER T %
ZHE
(Level 1)
(%)
RMB’000
AR¥T

Fair value measurement for:

BIIBEZ

Significant
observable
inputs
EATER
W ABE

(Level 2)

(BE=4R)
RMB’000
ARBTR

Significant
unobservable
inputs
EXATABR
B AZE

(Level 3)

(E=4)
RMB’000
ARBT T

Total

At

RMB’000
ARBT T

ARIEE S
Industrial properties TRME - - 68,611 68,611
Commercial properties [l RIES - - 95,127 95,127
- - 163,738 163,738

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2013 using

RZE—=F+=A=1+—BERZAREHNE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

ERTS BEATEBR EANAUHE
2B AR 5 A\ SR st

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(E—H) (B=®) (B=%)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETIT ARETIT ARBFT

Fair value measurement for: gt ~3IRIB 2
DREE

Industrial properties TR - - 49,211 49,211
Commercial properties e ES - - 126,655 126,655
- - 175,866 175,866

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.

FR EF-RALRE_LZABRELAEFE
BY  TEEBEAF=AHBEFE=REL -
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D

18. LAND USE RIGHTS 18. T ib{FE FAE

Group

REE
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREREEE 1,071,142 818,689
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 46) W Bg T Al (MIsE46) 43,308 290,265
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 47) HETF AR (MFE47) (86,854) -
Additions during the year FE RN 73,979 6,556

Amortisation provided during the year FRETRE S (FIEE7)

(note 7) (25,264) (21,748)
Disposal e (3,020) (16,098)
Assets included in discontinued operations  BIER B IHELETER Y

(note 12) B (fE12) = (6,522)
Carrying amount at end of year FIRREREE 1,073,291 1,071,142
Current portion included in prepayments, BIERER D (GEARBIVE EF

deposits and other receivables under TER - e R EAM

current assets (note 30) e R TE (FT5E30) ) 22,724 22,329
Non-current portion JERNERER > 1,050,567 1,048,813

1,073,291 1,071,142
(@) The leasehold land is held under a long term lease of 50 @ MELHMUSOFREERHE U
years and is situated in Mainland China. AP B KB -
(b) Certain land use rights of the Group with a net (b) AEEEKRmFELAARKI717,000

book value of approximately RMB9,717,000 (2013:
RMB2,469,000) and RMB24,015,000 (2013: Nil) have
been pledged to secure the short term bank loans and
long term bank loans of the Group, details of which are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

T(ZE—=% : AR%¥2,469,0007T)
& AR#24,015,000T(ZF—=4:
E)NETLHERESESARERE
HSRITER R RPRITERNEA -
BRAFISENT B RAM L34
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19. GOODWILL 19. &
Group
REE
2014 2013
—E-ImF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARKETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January B—A—HHEREAEE 5,694,938 482,436
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 46) W BT A R) (FI3E46) 142,563 5,220,347
Transfer (note 46) = (5E46) = (7,845)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—B8MERHE 5,837,501 5,694,938
During 2014, the Group acquired 100% equity interests RZZ—MN4F - AEBEWEEEIAE(LE)FR
in Danone Dairy (Shanghai) Co.,Ltd. (“Danone Shanghai”) ZARI([EsELEH]) REEILZFULR)BRAA
and Danone Dairy (Beijing) Co.,Ltd. (“Danone Beijing”). ([:Zs2dLR])100% AR - 2 FEEUWEFREBEA

The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB142,563,000. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 46 to the financial statements.

During 2013, the Group acquired an additional 49% equity
interest in Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products
Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu Arla”), a previously 50% joint venture of
the Group. After the acquisition, the Group held 99% equity
interest in Mengniu Arla. The business acquisition gave
rise to goodwill of RMB272,760,000. Further details of the
acquisition are included in note 46 to the financial statements.

During 2013, the Group acquired a 89.82% equity interest
in Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (“Yashili”). The business
acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB4,947,587,000.
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 46 to the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the goodwill was tested
for impairment (note 21).

FK#142,563,0007c < & - B2 WEF ISR Y
TSR 7E46

RZT—=% K’ilﬂﬂzﬁ%ufﬂiﬁfﬁw%ﬂﬂié
VEECEANFTHRERF MR BEREERD
(TBRHE A 1) BEIMO% I - RIRFEE - $‘§l
FABRF99%E - 2 X HWETRKEEBA
K#272,760,000TT < & - B2 WEFF SN Y

TSR 7E46

RZF—Z=F  AEEWERERLTFERZERER
NEN([FELEH 1)89.82%HE - % XU B 2K B

EARKEA047,587,0007C 2 A& - B LIS
BB SRR M 746 -

R-E-—NMFR-_ZFE-—=F+-_HA=+—H &
BEETRERF(MEE21) ©
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. HihEmFEEE
Movements of the Group’s other intangible assets are as AREBMEMERLEEZENOT ¢
follows:
Patents and Computer
licences  Trademarks software Others Total
BRR4TE [ EEG Hit @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥ETR AR¥ETR ARETR AR¥ETR
(a) (b)
Cost at 1 January 2014, net of RZE-mE—A-H"
accumulated amortisation RN R ESE 5 15,286 1,545,379 50,334 1,294 1,612,293
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 46)  YtdE 7 &l (ffiz46) - - 704 13,000 13,704
Additions by - - 8,937 - 8,937
Transfer from construction in progress  E&BAZE T2
(note 16) (Mizx16) - - 5,997 - 5,997
Disposal i (164) - (3,120) - (3,284)
Amortisation provided EntRgH(ET)
during the year (note 7) (5,517) (1,560) (9,095) (1,100) (17,272)
At 31 December 2014 W-Z-MmE+-F
=t+-H 9,605 1,543,819 53,757 13,194 1,620,375
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-NETZA
=f-H
Cost XA {E 65,836 1,555,909 96,927 9,503 1,728,175
Accumulated amortisation EGS (43,664) (12,090) 43,170) (8,876) (107,800)
Net carrying amount FEFE 22,172 1,543,819 53,757 627 1,620,375
Cost at 1 January 2013, net of R_E-=%-f—-H"
accumulated amortisation RNE » 2T E 3,548 180,939 37,785 1,956 224,228
Acquisition of subsidlaries (note 46) KT AR (Mizr46) 17,500 1,366,000 6,645 - 1,390,145
Additions bpi | - - 9,669 - 9,669
Transfers from construction EREHRTR(ME6)
in progress (note 16) - - 6,325 - 6,325
Disposal E-hy (271) - (31) - (302)
Amortisation provided during the year ~ FRzHRE 3 (i5E7)
(note 7) (5,491) (1,560) (7,383) (662) (15,006)
Assets included in discontinued BERBLIHEEEHR
operations (note 12) LEE(MFE12) - - (2,676) - (2,676)
At 31 December 2013 MZE-=%1+ZA
=1+-A 15,286 1,545,379 50,334 1,294 1,612,293
At 31 December 2013 MZE-=%1+_A
=ft-H
Cost KA E 53,503 1,555,909 86,028 9,503 1,704,943
Accumulated amortisation EGS (38,217) (10,530 (35,604) (8,209) (92,650)

Net carrying amount REHE 15,286 1,645,379 50,334 1,294 1,612,293
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea)

21.

(@)

There were three trademarks: a trademark acquired in
2007 at a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated
at cost less any impairment losses and was amortised
on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
10 years; two trademarks acquired as part of business
combination in 2010 at RMB174,219,000, and in
2013 at RMB1,366,000,000, respectively, which were
regarded as having an indefinite useful life because the
trademarked product is expected to generate net cash
inflows indefinitely. As at 31 December 2014 and 2013,
the two trademarks with indefinite useful life were tested
for impairment (note 21).

Others mainly represented the exclusive right of
distribution channels acquired as part of a business
combination in 2010 at RMB2,195,000, and the
customer relationships acquired as part of a business
combination in 2014 at RMB13,000,000, respectively.
Their useful lives ranged from 3 to 15 years.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
LIVES

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite lives acquired through
business combinations have been allocated to the following
cash-generating units (the “CGUs”) for impairment testing:

liquid milk products excluding CGU of Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”);

ice cream products CGU;

milk powder products CGU;

low temperature products CGU; and

Junlebao CGU.

The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives allocated to each of the cash generating
units are as follows:

21.

Hib\EAEE @)

(a)

BHEEE=f: —EAR=-ZZZT+LHF
&WmAE%wmmmm%%

B ¥R B AN B R 2= T 0] B (E 1B R 51 BR
MU EGERE G ERAFH+
FEEY mmw¢%%$Awm—
_LB/'\/’\E”B/\_f Tf‘g& _:
EuAEMmummmm&AEm
1,366,000,000 7t W & - I A iZ E
IBEAR A ER B E A FIRESRAM
WRABBEERAFERFTE - N
—MER-_E—=F+=-_A=+—
B il WmEERFHAEEEETT
BB (FsE21) -

EMmFrEREEREBEHN —HD
R-E— iiMAE%mwmmﬁ
Hﬂzﬁ%m DHRBEEERIEAET
AHH—D BA_%—P_IA&L\A/\E%
13,000,000 T WEEM R FBR - H7J
FRFHE=FE+AFLE -

BERERFHBHEARERNR

ﬁﬂ%ﬂ‘%A{ﬁﬂl MR ERERFHBED
DEETNREELEU(REELEM])
1’?5)&@5&'&% =

RENERRSELBM(AREES
BIXARAR([BEE DRSEL
BRIRRSN)

KEMERREEL BN
PMEMBRSELEN ;
EREMRSELEN &

BREERGELEN -

DEEERSELEMMHERERAER
FHREMEEEDT

Liquid milk products Low temperature
excluding Junlebao Ice cream products Milk powder products products Junlebao Total
RENER(BLARN) WEHRER TRER ERER B4R
2014 2013 2014 2014 PIK] 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014
“B-MEF —T-=F —B-Mf £ Z2-M% =F Zg-ME -“T-=F -E-MmF -—T-=F —Z-mF
RMB’000 RMB'O00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000O RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Goodwill e 167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 5,220,347 5,220,347 142,563 - 283,293 283,293 5,837,501 5,694,933
Trademarks HE - - - - 1,366,000 1,366,000 - - 174219 174219 1,540,219 1,540,219
167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 6,586,347 6,586,347 142,563 - 457512 457512 7,377,720 7,235,157
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 21. BERERFHHENRERNR

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE (4)

LIVES (continued)

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined ERCEABMNMAINESRE I AESRE
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow EAEBHEN A F I RIEE T8 AR
projections based on financial budgets or forecasts approved AR REBAEMENEREETIA
by senior management covering a five-year period. The BFE FAREERFHUBERESTEMNIER
growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the Ko AR BENMGTERRAEE
five-year period are based on the estimated growth rate of BEITEEER . BAEKHRLNKIRESESLEN
each unit taking into account the industry growth rate, past MR REEEBEmtERSE -

experience and the medium or long term growth target of

each CGU.

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the ARIE S RETEANITIRER AR T EE A
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five- BB REHTNERENT -

year period are as follows:

Discount rate Growth rate

R HRR

2014 2013 2014 2013
—mE —T—=F ZEB-NOF —T—=F

Liquid milk products RENMEMRSE

excluding Junlebao EBEN (BT

CGU BeEEBEMBRIN 11.84% 14.53% 4.0% 4.0%
Ice cream products KENERRE

CGU EEBM 11.69% 1417% 3.0% 3.0%
Milk powder products IMMERRSESE

CGU BEN 13.54% 13.61% 5.0% 5.0%
Low temperature EREMREEE

products CGU B 17.61% - 3.0% -

Junlebao CGU EUBRCESEN 14.55% 14.56% 4.0% 4.0%
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21.

22,

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
LIVES (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
each CGU for 31 December 2014 and 2013. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:

a)  Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margin achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency
improvements and expected increase in production
costs.

b)  Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

c)  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to
the actual data of the past year of countries from where
raw materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-
generating unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

LOANS TO A SUBSIDIARY/FROM
SUBSIDIARIES

The loans to a subsidiary included in the Company’s
non-current assets of RMB2,484,941,000 (2013:
RMB2,476,625,000) are unsecured and repayable within
twenty years. The annual interest rates had been made by
reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The
carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to
their fair value.

The loans from subsidiaries in the Company’s current
liabilities of RMB253,432,000 (2013: RMB531,322,000) are
unsecured, with annual interest rate 3% (2013: 1.67667% to
3%), and repayable within one year. The carrying amount of
the loans from subsidiaries approximates to their fair value.

21.

22.

%ﬁ&/\\\ BE qz H\H % /J_E{E //\J Flit
(&)
_-i— Exfﬁiéi ME’J@Eﬁﬁ{Efﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬁﬁ

ETRR - BEERBESRER E‘Jﬁﬁﬁé@
BENRMEENSEEIERRFRMT

a) BEENE-AREEREENEXE
BENEEDEXBEFEA —FE
MO FHENE - I EAEIEF KR
Tt M IEER A R AL AN T LA

b) FERE-FABFTRETIHALRRA
MRS ELBEMNEERR o

) BEMBEREH-2ERMRBER
AFEEREIE -

TEREHEELDINBERR K -

RAREERAE  AINESBEMERENEE
BB M AN A IREE) - T &EHIR
TEABNUNEMERBaE YOS -

EBW—RFLARE EFFL
AIFIE
AARRRERBEENER —KRF LA
FIEARM2,484,941,000T (ZE—=4 -
AR#2,476,625,0007T) &EIEHF - BER
ZHFERERE - FRR2EFBRITAZER
BiEtE - Bl —RTRARZEANKRAEER
NREHEE -

KRB RBEBERPREFRAANERAR
253,432,000 L ( ZE—=F : AR
531,322,0007T) AE KR hﬁﬂ@s%(—

T— =4 : 1.67667%%E3%) 8 » WAR
—FNEER - RETRAFRNER Bﬁﬁ@ﬁiﬁ

NAERE -
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

23. RFRANRE

Company
RAE]

2014 2013
—F-NF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR - IR AE 11,169,790 11,062,582
Loans to a subsidiary FEW—KF /558 721,106 718,693
11,890,896 11,781,275

Loans to a subsidiary included in the investments in
subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, the
loans are considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiary.
The carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates
to their fair value.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

SPALER FRAIMRENRE—RFAF
REREER 2LHEETENRDP -EF
R ZEBGRIAR R SRR —R T RAIN
RS TOR o B —R T RAFANKREE
HERNAERE

TEFRAMNFBRHN X

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

AR EBEH

Issued/ registered

share capital
BT/
A

China Dairy Holdings (i) Cayman US$214
FAEHS 24ET

China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) Mauritius US$100
P ] 100%7T

Start Great Holdings Limited (i) British Virgin Islands US$16,066,969
KBRAME 16,066,969 7T

Colour Vantage Limited British Virgin Islands USS1
RERLES e

Mengniu (China) Investment PRC US$200,000,000
Company Limited () A 200,000,000%7C

(R (PE)REBRAA))

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company Principal activities
NG
RERAL TTEK
Direct Indirect
E# R
100% - Investment holding
RERR
= 100%  Investment holding
RERR
100% - Investment holding
RERR
100% - Investment holding
RERR
100% - Investment holding
REHR
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

23. RFRARINERE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration Issued/ registered interest attributable
and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AR,/ BT/ NG
RS T RE RERAL FTEXH
Direct Indirect
B i
China Mengniu International Co., Ltd. (i) British Virgin Islands HK$8,448,802,973 99.95% - Investment holding
(PERFERERRA)() AERLHES 8,448,802,973 78 T REER
China Mengniu (Hong Kong) HK HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited () i hins REER
(RERF(FE)ARRA)()
Hubei Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB87,500,000 = 74.63%  Manufacture and sale of
(M RERAFBRRER )i HE AR 87,500,000 dairy products
EERNENER
Mengniu Dairy (Qingyuan) Co., Ltd. (i PRC RMB75,000,000 - 74.63%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHEAZ(BR)ERDR)) ks AE#75,000,0007 dairy products
FEREENEm
Mengniu Dairy Product (Taian) PRC RMB62,500,000 20.82% 55.21%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i # AR62,500,0007C dairy products
(FHARR(RZ)BRELDF))i) EEREENHm
Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product PRC RMB100,000,000 = 74.63%  Manufacture and sale of
(Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i) # AR %100,000,0007C dairy products
(RHENIRA(BEL)ERAT) ) FERNEARD
Mengniu Dairy Product (Tianjin) PRC RMB75,000,000 20.80% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i alc| ARH75,000,00070 dairy products
(FHABR(K2)ARAR)()i) EERHENRR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy PRC RMB250,000,000 = 74.63%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) # AR#250,000,0007 dairy products
(RERFFEHABRARAR)() EERHEA SR
Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product PRC RMB87,500,000 21.36% 54.71%  Manufacture and sale of
(Beijing) Co.,Ltd. (i) dairy products
(REEREEROLR)BREER (i) i AR 87,500,0007C EEREENEm
Mengniu Dairy (Jinhua) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB172,458,007 26.06% 68.98%  Research and development
(REAE(RZ)BRAR))) i AE#172,458,0077C of dairy products

H%7 %o
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 23. RFAFNRE@®

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration Issued/ registered interest attributable
and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ BB/ NG
B ES TR RERAL FEXK
Direct Indirect
B R
Mengniu Dairy (Hengshui) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB150,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHEFLE (EK)BRA )i B AE#150,000,0007 dairy products
EERLENHA
Mengniu Dairy (Yinchuan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB170,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAER)DBRRR)) M AR #170,000,0007 dalry products
EEREENHm
Mengniu Dairy (T |an1|n) 0., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB74,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAZEKE)BEBRAR) (i) i AR 74,000,007 dairy products
EERHENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Sugian) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB110,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(4% (BR)ARRR)0) EF AR110,000,00070 dairy products
EERLENHm
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Keerain PRC RMB50,000,000 = 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. ()i HE AR H50,000,0007 dairy products
(REEZEHAENBLBRETRR)) FERNEIES
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) PRC RMB1,504,290,870 8.97% 84.32%  Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited i AE#1,504,290,8707C dairy products
(“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) (i SERNEANER
(FFERFAR(RE)RHBRAR)
(TREE4 )i
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou PRC RMB30,000,000 26.40% 68.66%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) FE AR#30,000,00070 dairy products
(REREFAEBBRREMRE) i) FERAEIRD
Mengniu Dairy (Wulanhaote) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMBG60,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHIAE(BRESE)BRETRE)N0H A AR H60,000,0007C dairy products
EEREENEm
Mengniu Dairy (Dengkou Bayan Gaole) PRC RMB70,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. ()i F ARH70,000,0007 dairy products

(RFAX(BOEERY)BRALLR) EERLENRR
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 23. RFLAANRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

iz
ERUPES bk

Issued/ registered
share capital
BT/

R A

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
NGl
REBDL
Direct Indirect

B A

Principal activities

IREHK

Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMB56,000,000 26.06% 68.98%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAE(RR)AREEDED))i) & ARH56,000,0007 dairy products
HEERHENEm
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB70,000,000 26.06% 68.98%  Manufacture and sale of
(FEAZ(EIL)BREEDR) (i) # AR#70,000,0007C dairy products
EEREENEm
Mengniu Dairy (Shangzhi) Co., Ltd. {i)(i) PRC RMB80,000,000 = 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAE(HF)BBEERF)) i AE#80,000,0007 dairy products
EERHENSR
Mengniu Dairy (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB30,000,000 = 72.77%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHILE (L) BEBAE) i AE#30,000,0007 dairy products
EERHENER
Mengniu Dairy Taian Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB60,000,000 26.03% 69.01%  Manufacture and sale of
(R EZREREERR) (i) i AE#60,000,0007 dairy products
EERHENER
Mengniu Dairy (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (i)ii) PRC RMB100,000,000 26.05% 68.99%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHAE (R BBEFLR)i) i ARH100,000,0007C dairy products
EERHENER
Mengniu Dairy (Jiaozuo) Co., Ltd. (i)fii PRC RMB120,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHFILE(EE)BBAT s AE#120,000,0007C dairy products
EERNENEM
Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i(i) PRC RMB275,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAE(FRL)BREERA)0) G ARE275,000,0007C dairy products
EERHENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (i)i) PRC RMB96,840,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAX(ER)ARRAN G AR 96,840,000 dairy products

EERHEL RS
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 23. RFLAANRE @

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration Issued/ registered interest attributable
and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ BT/ NGl
BLIES R RERA TREY
Direct Indirect
B 5E3
Mengniu Dairy (Tai Yuan) Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB116,670,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(FREAEKR)BRAE))) # AR#116,670,0007T dairy products
EEREENEm
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy PRC RMB150,000,000 = 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) i AR#150,000,0007C dairy products
(REEFFRRIAEERRA)0) EEREENHm
Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB67,121,418 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHELAEERAR)(i) G ARHEB7 121 4187 dairy products
FERHENHm
Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer) Co., Ltd. (i)l PRC RMB?75,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAE(BBERE)BRDE) () G AEH75,000,0007 dairy products
FERHENHm
Inner Mongolia Hehe Investment Co., Ltd. (ijiij ~ PRC RMB200,000,000 - 93.29%  Investment holding
(REERARERRELLAD)) H AE#200,000,0007 RERR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding Industry PRC RMB45,000,000 - 93.29%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. (i) G AR #45,000,0007 REER
(RERESE T REXERARRERA)N
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)(v) PRC RMB52,351,700 = 47.58%  Manufacture and sale of
(ARUELEIEERDA)) t ARH52,351,7007C dairy products
EERNENHM
Yashili International Holding Ltd. Cayman HK$1,000,000,000 = 68.02%  Investment holding
(BLMERERERAE) REHE 1,000,000,000/7C REARR
Yashili International Group Limited (iv) PRC RMB826,105,300 = 68.02%  Production and sale of
(ELFERERERAR) W) G AEH826,105,3007 dairy products
EERLENHMD
Newou Hong Kong International Trading Hong Kong HK$1 - 68.02%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd. Bl BT RERR

(HEEEERE HERAT)
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

Issued/ registered
share capital
BT/

R A

iz
ERUPES bk

Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. New Zealand NZD87,672,733
(MERRELHIARARAR) kil 87,672,733 BRI
Yashili International Baby Nourishment PRC RMB200,000,000
Co., Ltd.() i AR 200,000,000
(ELHERED R EBRERAF)()
Aspen Ventures Ltd. (“Aspen’) (iv) PRC RMB600,000,000
(LREREBRAF)(LBEDW) HE AK#600,000,0007
Aspen Foods (Zhengzhou) Co. Ltd. (i PRC RMB550,000,000
(BMEHMESRBBERAR)) P AR #550,000,0007C

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited (i)
liability under PRC law.

(i) ~ The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint (ii)
ventures under PRC law.

(iv)  The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises (iv)
established in the PRC.

(v}  Since more than 50% of the equity interests of the subsidiaries v)

was held by either Inner Mongolia Mengniu or Hehe in which
the Company held a 93.29% equity interest, the Company had
control over the subsidiaries even with less than 50% of equity
interest held indirectly as at the end of the reporting period.

23. RFRARINERE @)

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company Principal activities
NGl
REBDL FTRER
Direct Indirect
HE 5E3
- 68.02%  Production and sale of
dairy products
EERLENEm
= 68.02%  Production and sale of
dairy products
EERHEINER
= 51%  Investment holding
REBR
- 51%  Manufacture, distribution
and sale of plant-based
beverages
E DEREEEDL
#Ht

REEBRA R BEBHRL AR
LR R R AFE -

ZETFRRHREFEIAREMAERE
VNI

ZEFRAHREPBEEREMATING
HRA] e

ZETFRAHRNPEEMNZENE DR
o,

RB|EBR - ARZE T RS —FRE
BARRERAM (A DR EH3.29%
B F5H - MERDRIFEEFE LR —F
Wt - ARBEREFRBDAGEHIE -
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The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:
Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Yashili

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to
non-controlling interests:
Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Yashili

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests:
Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Yashili

Accumulated balances of non-controlling
interest at the reporting dates:
Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Yashili

23. RFRARINERE @)

EERRLERBIZARBFRRAEEHA
SEAFEXEBRTE  IBRAKEE
EFECERNID - EERRERAM TR
BZHBEEFIRBRIE °

AEEFERE R ESN T ARMNFE

T

2014
—Z-mF

RMB’000
AR®T T

FERER R R A 2 P LA 2

AALL
NRRE
WA

6.71%
31.95%

DB IR R ER

REFE/ (B5HR)
ARBE
A A

(SR R )
ey

NERF

A A

R¥RE B IR AR
Rat RatiEeR

[P

ENEN

HELF

151,589
58,780

31,174

616,639
1,502,980

2013
—E—=F
RMB’000
ARET T

6.71%
23.42%

95,493
19,301

16,147

540,106
1,091,766
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 23. RFLAANRE@

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRIREMFATNTEEREE « T
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed FE R ARSI A RIS
are before any inter-company eliminations:

Inner Mongolia

Mengniu Yashili
AEE He+ F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR%TR
2014 —=-—mE
Revenue Wz 47,231,815 2,816,434
Total expenses R (44,670,290) (2,567,605)
Profit for the year IR i ) 2,561,525 248,829
Other comprehensive income for the year FEEMEEREE (81,750) (53,698)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHANRTRE 2,479,775 195,131
Current assets mENEE 15,587,837 3,181,037
Non-current assets FRBEE 14,424,099 1,747,630
Current liabilities mEaE 11,336,744 1,110,892
Non-current liabilities EMBEE 5,943,646 644,013
Net cash flows from operating MEEBEENRS
activities mEEER 2,874,712 315,276
Net cash flows used in investing WEEBMARERE
activities FEE (5,035,417) (1,102,988)
Net cash flows from financing BB ESEERNR S
activities mEFRR 1,433,856 422,873
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EXZHEHRE KBS
and cash equivalents LEMNTE (5,348) (7,003)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents & NI &S BRI %58 (732,197) (371,842)
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23. RFRANKRE@®

Inner Mongolia

Mengniu Yashili
AEEGS HELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKETTT ARKETTT
2013 —E-=F
Revenue e 41,857,841 1,499,067
Total expenses Fs 4% (40,213,702) (1,364,370)
Profit for the year RE T 1,644,139 134,697
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wl 98,754 3,003
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HEW=BEE 1,742,893 137,700
Current assets MENEE 13,179,552 2,421,668
Non-current assets EMENEE 12,303,927 2,117,886
Current liabilities nBEaE 11,270,704 1,334,994
Non-current liabilities SERBALE 3,775,139 71,700
Net cash flows from operating MEEBEENTRS
activities mEEER 3,060,874 140,877
Net cash flows used in investing REEBMARERE
activities FE (4,414,377) (168,324)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BmEESEL(FTA)
activities REnEFE 1,764,532 (1,444,534)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EXSHERERES
and cash equivalents EEYMNTE (2,320) 10,204
Cash and cash equivalents included in FTABRRIHEEEBHRS
discontinued operation MIREEEM (56,299) -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Re kB EEWLM
cash equivalents OB )25 352,410 (1,461,777)

z
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 24, NEHEQRINRE
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-MEF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTFT
Shares listed in Hong Kong REB EmZi&H 2,982,670 2,756,365
Share of net assets, unlisted JEIEEEFE  JEL™ 857,924 86,790
3,840,594 2,843,155
Market value of listed shares Wkt 2 A 2,349,938 4,450,999
Company
PN
2014 2013
—E-mE =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost REE L2 RG - RKAR 2,628,542 2,619,746
Market value of listed shares Lkt 2z mE 2,349,938 4,450,999
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBMERARNFBOT -

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of equity

Particulars of registration and interest attributable
issued shares held  business to the Group (indirect)  Principal activities
FERERT MR,/ rEEEENRE
RG&EH BRRERLE Bt (i) TEER
2014 2013
—g-mF -
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Ordinary Share of ~ Cayman Islands 28% 28%  Production and sale of milk
(“China Modern Dairy’) (i HK$0.1 each HEHE HanES
(PERRHEARERAR) BREBAETH
(MRERRAE DO LaEm
Wuhan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i Registered capital ~ PRC 26% 26%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFAEERRA) AR E AR IHRES
Nanjing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ PRC 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

(BRRTUXHERRLA)() AR EARE IHmES
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 24, REtE R RINIRE @)

Place of incorporation/
registration and
business

RilAYe
BRREE DY

Particulars of
issued shares held
FriERERT
RAEH

Principal activities

IRXHB

Nanchang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(BERFSKHEARAELR))

Shijiazhuang Jinmengyuan Trading Co., Ltd. (i)
(BRiEeFREHEREALA))

Xi'an Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd (i)
(BRRFAKHEARRA))

Foshan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i
(BIFRFAKHERRRA)()

Hangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading Co.,Ltd. (i
(MMNFEE HERAF))

Suzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd.{i
(BMNFFAHMEERRRA)()

Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(BMARFAKHERRRA)()

Cangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
CRMARFAKHERRRA)()

Guangzhou Mengniu Low Temperature
Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i
(BMARFAXERNHEERAR))

Taiyuan Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy
Sales Co., Ltd. (i
(RREHASERAREERRDE))

Zhaoging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
(BEMRFASHEARAA))

Shenzhen Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i
(MIFFEHERAE))

Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Co., Ltd.
(RELERMEEREMALA)

Registered capital

HfEx

Registered capital

HfEx

Registered capital

HfEx

Registered capital

HfEx

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital

fER

Registered capital

fER

Registered capital

HMEA
Registered capital

AR

Registered capital

FMER
Registered capital
FMHER

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital

AR

PRC
EAE

PRC
EAE

PRC
EAE

PRC
EAE

PRC
EARE

PRC
EARE

PRC
EARE

PRC
EARE

PRC
PEARE

PRC
REAE

PRC
EAR

PRC
EAR

PRC
REAE

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Group (indirect)
rREEENRE
Bt ()
2014 2013
i Sh:3
42% 42%
37% 37%
43% 43%
37% 37%
42% 42%
42% 42%
29% 29%
42% 42%
42% 42%
42% 42%
46% 46%
37% 37%
40% 40%

Trading of dairy products
A8nES

Trading of dairy products
A8nES

Trading of dairy products
A8nES

Trading of dairy products
J8nE5

Trading of dairy products
J2nE5

Trading of dairy products
J8nE5

Trading of dairy products
J8nE5

Trading of dairy products
Y]

Trading of dairy products
IHmES

Trading of dairy products
IEmES

Trading of dairy products
18mE5

Trading of dairy products
18mE5

Dairy farming
2E
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea) 24. REEE RN TINRE @)
Place of incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable
issued shares held  business to the Group (indirect)  Principal activities
FERE & AL/ AEEEGHRRE
ReyER BRREFLS BA (B) TERHK
2014 2013
“E-mE -3
Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Tuoxian Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd.(j AR e KR B
(FEEERIE (R AREALA))
Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Saihan Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd. (j AR E AR BE
(REEERIE (BR)BRRERA))
Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Xing'anmeng ~ Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd. () HMER Bl R B
(REE R (B2 ) BRELAA)()
Zhangjiakou Saibei Nuogan Farming Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
(REAELHEBUEARDA)) EER BN R
Fuyuan Farming Wuzhong Co., Ltd. (i Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
(ERHE(RB)BREERA)) HEAR YN BB
Fuyuan Farming Sugian Nuogan Co., Ltd. (i Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
(ERUEBERARLA)) HMER YN R
Linyi Nuogan Farming Co., Ltd. (| Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
(BN EAREERA)) HER YN R
Fuyuan Farming Hengshui Co.,Ltd. ) Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Dairy farming
(ERUEEKEREERA)) HEAR B KR R
Linxia Yiging Halal Food Co., Ltd. (i Registered capital ~ PRC 40% 40%  Trading of dairy products
(REZRRERMARLA)) HMER B KR AEmES
(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member 0] REEB L KGN B L K 2B

firm of the Ernst & Young global network. B E MK B N BT EZ ©



24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 24,

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

The Group’s voting power held and profit sharing arrangement
are same with its ownership interest.

China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material associate
of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group mainly
engaged in the manufacture and distribution of raw milk and is
accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its financial
statements and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements:

TREEFUERRAR
—T—UFEFR
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REEZ RTNRE @)

EERE LRIV ZAEEBE N EEY
AREBAFEEEBRTE  BKAEE
BEFEZEALD  c EFRAREE A
BRNEZHFESERFBENAILE -

AEERFAZREENNBE D L RER
B et AR o

FERAHMERASAREEERE QT
REAEET BN ERNEERKHEBZR
BEIKEF - M AR AR ©

TERERTERRBMENMBERRE(F
BREEMBRE) REGEPBERR ZER
B2Hk

2014 2013
—E-nmE —F—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

Current assets RENEE 2,638,893 2,037,061

Non-current assets EREEE 11,571,960 10,456,760
Current liabilities mBAaE 4,375,681 4,483,123
Non-current liabilities EMBAE 3,179,220 2,149,964
Net assets FEE 6,655,952 5,860,734
Less: Non-controlling interests A SRR AR R M (145,713) (117,710)
Attributable to owners of the Company ViN/NSIEZ PN L 6,510,239 5,743,024
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24, REEE QTR E @)
AREBRBES AR WERFAZNT -

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

2014 2013
—E—ME ZE—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEEBER TG LB 28% 28%
Group’s share of net assets attributable REED(HEZ AT
to owners of the associate, excluding W ANEREETE -
goodwill TaiEmE 1,817,789 1,607,932
Group’s share of net assets of an unlisted REBHHEESATIEA
domestic subsidiary of the associate, —[BELEMFRAIZEE
excluding goodwill FE - TEEER 93,882 78,720
Valuation appreciation, net of depreciation HEE @ HBRITEN
and amortisation By (45,601) (38,091)
Goodwill on acquisition Wiz ma 1,152,066 1,152,066
Exchange realignment e H A (35,466) (44,262)
Carrying amount of the investment AR E 2,982,670 2,756,365
Revenue A 5,026,706 2,155,935
Profit for the year FEFHE 762,888 437,120
Other comprehensive income Hib 2wk - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEEmNERAESE 762,888 437,120




24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually
material extracted from their unaudited management
accounts:
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24, REEE QA TNRE @)
TEBERAEEBRA AT (AT S L RE
RO IEERHEM (RS E R EEXER
BERE)

2014 2013
—Z—F —E—=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ AREBEREE R THRED

investments in the associates IREERRE 857,924 86,790
Share of the associates’ revenues and D REEE R R A K

profits: ANE -

Revenues WA 1,899,171 1,587,028

Profit for the year FEFHE 60,224 29,242

Total comprehensive income for the year FEMKRERE 60,224 29,242

All the above associates have been accounted for using the
equity method in these financial statements. The Group has
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain
associates because the share of losses of the associates
exceeded the Group’s interests in these associates. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of
these associates for the current year and cumulatively
were RMB15,088,000 (2013: RMB17,147,000) and
RMB52,476,000 (2013: RMB62,226,000), respectively.

FHATAEE AR ERBEDS AN R
KANEE - AEBEBERIEEREMGE T
BENRNEE  AAEBGHEATNE
BRARNEBNEE AN - RAF
B AEERERELZEREATNE
BRRFTERES A ARE15,088,0007T
—E—=F: ARM17,147,0007T) & A
R#52476,000T(ZFE—=4F: AR
62,226,0007T) ©
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25. DEFERRED TAX 25, JEIEFIE
The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities FRNELEHBEEERBENEHNT -
during the year are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: BEHEBEEE -
Group
IREEHE
2014 2013
—E—MF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTIT
At 1 January w—H—H 155,739 72,093
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46) U B — 72 7 (Bt 3E46) 1,464 74,361
Deferred tax credited to other comprehensive £ NRAE 2 E UK ZEET A
income during the year RIETIE 1,257 -

Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FARGE BRI AR
statement of profit or loss during the year EIER B (FEE11)

(note 11) 221,450 9,285
Gross deferred tax assets at R+_A=+—HH
31 December EETRIE B E4RER 379,910 155,739
Deferred tax liabilities: ELEBHEEE
Group
REE
2014 2013
—E—-mE —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
At 1 January ®n—A—H 64,429 33,051
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46) U B — RS 72 Bl (P sE46) 35,525 65,110
Deferred tax credited to other comprehensive G RPE A2 EUEETA
income during the year HYEIER IR - (33,051)

Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRRGFEBRRITADN
statement of profit or loss during the year EIEFLTE (M sE11)
(note 11) (7,878) 681)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at R+-—A=1+—HH
31 December BT IB B E4R5 92,076 64,429
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ(ﬁ)
Deferred income tax assets at 31 December 2014 are related R_E—NF+_A=+T—HRELEMEFH
to the following: BEMTYIEEARW :

Consolidated statement  Consolidated statement ~ Other comprehensive
of financial position of profit or loss income
FRRBHRRR FRBRR At 2ENE
2014 2014 2014

“Z-mF —Z-=F ZB-WE —F-=Ff ZE-MNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETL ARETR ARETT AR®TR ARETE

Tax losses available for offsetting W HBRERTREN

against future taxable profits HEER 22,211 10,959 11,252 (15,500) - -
Write-down of inventories to WAFEZTEREE
net realisable value 48,555 - 48,555 (224) - -
Provision for trade receivables and RS R AR
other receivables FERE 8,058 7,750 308 7,750 - -
Provision of property, plant and 0% BERIERE
equipment 1,333 - 1,333 - - -
Un-invoiced accruals REREZNERER 227,134 102,215 = 124,086 21,861 = -
Deferred income BN 34,216 27,033 7,183 (4,602) = -
Share award scheme pEStiae] 18,739 - 18,739 - - -
Derivative financial instruments ITESRIA 1,257 - = - 1,257 -
Others i 18,407 7,782 9,994 -
Deferred tax assets BEREEE 379,910 155,739
Deferred income tax expense (note 1) EIEFTSH % H (fif5E11) 221,450 9,285 1,257 -
Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be EIRETEEIR R F E A A aE IR ERBLF
available against which the above tax losses and deductible H - ] AR LA 0 _E R TR S 48 N AT HR D
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. MHEER o
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of RIEFRTEEEW AR TFEE R

the following items:

Group

AEEE
2014 2013
—ZF—[4F —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT

Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) AR B K R E A R 1R

1) 652,150 628,024
Deductible temporary differences AR SR ER 624,228 215,144

1,276,378 843,168

—

()  The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future ) DBEEBA ALK HE A RE SRR
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a BIERWNERZRF -
maximum of five years.
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above items as it is not considered probable that tax
profits will be available against which the above items can be
utilised or tax authorities should approve the Group to utilise
the above tax credits or deductible temporary differences.

Deferred income tax liabilities at 31 December 2014 related to
the following:

Consolidated statement

of financial position

FRUBRAR

2014
—E-mE

RMB’000
AR¥TT

Fair value changes of financial assets ~ MAREFFEBEEE

2013
—E-F
RMB’000
ARETT

EERE @)
RIS EW S F il S I8 m T AR
AR AR A A il & IBE A/ FIEF
B S R e N HE AR E BB A £
MR TER S AR R ER -

R-T-MFE+-A=+—H - BT
HIEIEFTIS T A(E -

Consolidated statement
of profit or loss
GABER

2014
“E-mE
RMB’000
ARBTR

Other comprehensive
income
A2 ERER
2014
—E-mE
RMB’000
AR%TTR

2013
“2-=f%
RMB'000
ARETT

2013

ARETT

at fair value through other A2 ARG

comprehensive income SRAENAREED - - - - - (33,051)
Withholding tax arising from FETRARRNEEF

undistributed earings of EEMENH

PRC subsidiaries = 12,500 (12,500) (681) = -
Fair value adjustments arising from WETAREENARE

acquisition of subsidiaries R 84,272 51,929 (3,182 - - -
Falr value changes of financial assets ~ EAL B A%GA

at fair value through the consolidated ~ BERRISRIEE

statement of profit or loss NN 7,804 - 7,804 -
Deferred tax liabilities BRREAR 92,076 64,429
Deferred income tax expense BREFMBHEH (7,878) (681) = (33,051)

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

R B EAERE - R BARER A
NERERIIERESESRMKEA-K
10%T8HH - BEREE T N\F—A
—HBRER  WEARZZEZTLF+=A
=t+—BEMEENAT o hFBEEINEE
BEEME R AR I AREHE - Bl
EREBNH RGN - AEENEATEA
5%810% ~ At - AEBERZSENHEH
KERIOFRARIM-_ZEENF—HA—HE
ELENBFFTS RS EEIN -



25.

26.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2013, the Group recognised deferred
tax liabilities for the withholding taxes amounting to
RMB12,500,000 which were attributed to certain of the Group
subsidiaries located in Mainland China with a plan to distribute
dividends in the foreseeable future. No other deferred tax
liabilities have been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s other subsidiaries located
in Mainland. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately RMB8,018,406,000 at 31
December 2014 (2013: RMB5,871,412,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

(A) Nature of activities
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are milk production
companies that principally engaged in the production
and sale of milk. Dairy cows are primarily held to
produce milk. The quantity of dairy cows owned by the
Group and the output of milk during the year at end of
the reporting period are shown below.

25.

26.
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IEFE B IE (@)
MN-ZT—=%F+-"A=+—0  ~&EEH}E
B AR 12,500,000 THERIELERIBEE
& ZETENH A ARNE BRI B ARED
FERARERSIERREZETFRARE
o WARBAEBEMAPRAENEM TR
B AR B H 22 T FE A 0 TE N B AR R EL A IR
LEHIBEE -EFERAE ZSFRARRAR
155 5 IR 2 F B A REMEARIK « A = — U4
+ZA=+—HB ' BABEAFRRETR
A2 AR 2 R = BRI
HAEAEHARES 018,406,000t (= ZF
—=4% : AR¥5,871,412,0007T) °

LB R A A [R) B S BR S A5 P B T P A5 O P
BRER -

EMEE

(A) EHHHE
ARBETFRARRFTHEEDE -
TEREFMER - HAFERIIFA
FEMZA - R AEERHREH
REBHMIFHERENENT -

Group
TEE
2014 2013
—F-OF —F—=F
Head of Head of
dairy cows dairy cows
2.4 (58) FLA(58)
Milkable cows e 2,007 -
Heifers and calves N RN 5,740 2,214
Total dairy cows LA 7,747 2,214
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26. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

(A) Nature of activities (continued)

26. £EYEE @)
(A) ZE=BEHE@E)

Milkable cows are those dairy cows that are held for
milk production. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows
that have not reached the age that can produce milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
the heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After
approximately a nine month pregnancy term, a calf is
born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and
the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically
milked for approximately 340 days before a dry period
of approximately 60 days.

When a heifer begins to produce milk, it would be
transferred to the category of milkable cows based on
the estimated fair value on the date of transfer. The
sales of dairy cows is not one of the Group’s principal
activities and is not included as revenue. The sales of
dairy cows are determined based on the actual selling
price.

DHRFBEEDRENIF - N
FRANFRARB|EDFERAILE o

—RBERT - NEEREENTTE
AXREETRER - HNEANZHB
& DFERE S IFRBHERY -
WELEIR G o I BRE S E Y4340
R ZIEEAKIBORHIELFLH o

NEEFFREDE - RIREE A BN
(CREIPAVDIE: S ESUR SVl R o
EWFAKENEERBZ— T F
FEABA - A HEDRBEEREE
ME °

Group
KB
2014

—EB-F
Tonne

L]

Volume of sales of milk produced FrENEE

3,875 8,308

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from
changes in price of the dairy products. The Group does
not anticipate that the price of the dairy products will
decline significantly in the foreseeable future and the
directors of the Company are of the view that there
is no available derivative or other contracts which the
Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in
the price of the dairy products.

AEBEAZIHREBERESAELD
ARERR - NREBTRFER LS E
ABBEBRTERETH® - ARAE
ERA YEARNITETARAE
B R] LART SLH) B b & 49 A) A AR 1 5L
HmER TRARE o



26. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

(B) Value of dairy cows

The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting
period was:

FERFUEERAT
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26. EYEE @
(B) I 4wEE
IR B R T A BE

Group
rEE
Heifers Milkable
and calves cows Total
NN UGS #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
At 1 January 2014 RZZE—NF—H—H 36,707 - 36,707
Increases due to purchase e 80,720 3,627 84,347
Increase due to raising BHE(FERAR

(Feeding cost and others) HAh) 39,219 - 39,219
Transfer Y (42,883) 42,883 =
Decrease due to sales e (687) (761) (1,448)
Gain/(loss) arising from changes L4 RA R ERHE

in fair value less cost to sell of PRA 2 BB R

dairy cows Wzs,/ (E18) (4,505) 5,951 1,446
At 31 December 2014 R_ZE—F

+=-RB=+—H 108,571 51,700 160,271

Group

REE

Heifers Milkable
and calves COWS Total
ANSZY UGS [UES et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFIT AREBTIT ARBTIT
At 1 January 2013 RZZT—=%—H—H 209,679 2,007 211,686
Increases due to purchase YekE 175,703 - 175,703
Increase due to raising BT (BN AR EHM)

(Feeding cost and others) 147,894 - 147,894
Transfer B (127,242) 127,242 -
Assets included in a discontinued BIERE & LS

operation (note 12) EBANCBE

(BfzE12) (372,840 (122,728) (495,568)
Decrease due to sales HE 6,417) (1,097) (7,514)
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in FL42 2 ERHE

fair value less cost to sell of PR Z B E B

dairy cows W,/ (B18) 9,930 (5,424) 4,506
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=%F

+-A=+—H 36,707 - 36,707

®
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26. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

The Group’s dairy cows in the PRC were valued by an
independent qualified professional valuer. The fair value
less cost to sell of the heifers and calves are determined
with reference to the market-determined prices of items
with similar age, breed and genetic merit, if the market-
determined prices are available. Due to the fact that
the market-determined prices of milkable cows are not
available, the valuer has applied the net present value
approach to calculate the fair value less cost to sell of

these items.

The principal valuation assumptions adopted in applying

the net present value approach are as follows:

° The quantities of the existing dairy cows at the
end of the reporting period will reduce at a certain
culling rate due to the natural or unnatural factors;

o The culling rates adopted are based on the current
available breeding data of the Group and future

operating plans;

° The quantities of cows will increase as calves are

born;

° The expected average prices of milk during the
projected period of six lactations are estimated
after taking into account certain percentage
growth, future demand and inflation in the PRC for

each projected year;

° The cash flows for financing the assets and
taxation are not included as required by IAS 41

Agriculture;

° Costs are average costs based on historical cost

information;

° The discount rate used is 13.00% at 31 December

2014 (2013: 13.04%).

26. EMEEm@)

AEBEFBENIFIIRBIAER
BXRMEEMETHE - MABETHS
EE - NEFERNFZARERBE
A2 ZEFlk - miENEEER
M 2BBZ TS EBETE - ARNE
FEBNHFZTHERE - HEMEE
RAEREE WAt BEZXFHBZAR
ERHERA -

FERFREEEMRM T REER
RINEAT

s REEHPRZBABNFTHEHRKA
SERRIFBAREZMRE(EE
KRR -

o FIERMBAXRTIERAEERA
ARG BEER KRR EERT

g

o NEHAERSFEREMN

s ERBEMAFEZETERA
D RERFB R BEERAR K
AHAE A 7N (B e FL A TEDRI HA R
FERFHER

o  WERBEREGENEHRER
XA ABERVEREHESZH

AP .
Ew o

o ATDERBERNEMZFH
PR

© RoE-MEF_ASH-AM
Az T RER13.00%(ZF—=
1 13.04%) °
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27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 27. HthemEE
Group
REE
2014 2013
—E-ImF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARKETTT
At fair value through other AR ErrE B E#E)
comprehensive income: T AE A 2 E A ¢
Hong Kong listed equity investments &5 _F & A& & (@)/(b) 620,274 302,049
Unlisted equity investments JEETRAE (b) - 98,531
620,274 400,580
At fair value through profit or loss: AR {E5HE B HEE)
TABE
Unlisted equity investments FEETRAKRE 41,066 41,066
Long term unit trust investments due 7 — 4= A% Hi ~ & Bf (©
within one year B EFEIRE = 130,258
Short term unit trust investments RHREBAIEFEIRE (d) 327,000 220,000
Long term investment deposit due R —F REIHZ K )
within one year KEGFR 151,233 -
Short term investment deposits MHREFR (e) 7,816,510 1,344,508
8,335,809 1,735,832
At amortised cost: LB
Long term entrusted loans RHIZFTER () 39,833 24,472
Long term entrusted loans due R—FREIHz KH ()
within one year ZiEER 43,281 49,981
Long term pledged deposits RHIREBETR 31 - 150,000
Long term time deposits REIE AIF X 31 1,192,886 1,083,548
1,276,000 1,308,001
Total other financial assets Hiv el 8 EERE 10,232,083 3,444,413
Current E 8,338,024 1,744,747
Non-current FEMED 1,894,059 1,699,666

10,232,083 3,444,413
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27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

27. Hih&mEE @

Company
AATH
2014 2013
—E-{EF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
At fair value through other AAREtE EEES
comprehensive income: sSTAEMREIE -
Listed equity investments, ERAERE
at fair value: BAME
Hong Kong & (a) 103,286 302,049
Short term investment deposits HHKREGTR (e) - 100,000
Total other financial assets Hih @R EERRE 103,286 402,049
Current TED - 100,000
Non-current JERE 103,286 302,049
103,286 402,049
Notes: Pk -
(@)  On 25 November 2013, the Company acquired 172,275,000 @ ZT—=%F+—A=Z+HAH XRQA

shares, representing 4.41% equity interest, in YuanShengTai
Dairy Farm Limited, a Hong Kong listed dairy company,
with approximately HK$469,831,000 (equivalent to
RMB369,396,000). Management designated the equity
investment as a financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009)
on 1 January 2014, as management considered it a strategic
investment for the purpose of securing high quality raw milk
in the long run. The fair value of the listed equity securities is
determined by reference to published quotations. A decrease
in fair value for the year ended 31 December 2014 and an
accumulated decrease in fair value as of 31 December 2014
with an amount of RMB198,763,000 (2013: RMB67,347,000)
and RMB266,110,000 (2013: RMB67,347,000), respectively,
had been recognised in other comprehensive income.

LA %) 469,831,000 7 7T (HH & KN AR
369,396,000 ) W iE — I & & LWL
NARAEREBERRLDRM172,275,000
BEREAD - B E4.41%054E - R=—ZT—MMF
—A—BEXEREBRYEREEREI
FR(ZEENF )R EEESZERSE
REETEAUAARBEFEAEEFHT AR
thEERENCBEE  WIBRERRE
REBEBN—EREIRE  SEEREZ
RHREMHE -ZSLETRAFTHFN
AREDNEBEMAGREET - BE
—E-NE+ - A=+—-BHILEELIA
B AR #198,763,000L( —F— =
F: AR%67,347,0007T) KA —Z—
FH+_A=Z+—BARAREZFRIAR
066,110,000 T(ZE— =4 : AR¥
67,347,0007T) © ERAEAM 2 EESHER ©



27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

Notes: (continued)

(o)

On 25 May 2011, the Group acquired a 5.81% equity
interest in an unlisted dairy company with approximately
HK$125,322,000, equivalent to RMB98,531,000. Management
designated the equity investment as a financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income upon
initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as
management considered it a strategic investment for the
purpose of securing high quality raw milk in the long run.
The equity investment was subsequently converted into
269,869,600 shares in China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
(“China Shengmu”) upon China Shengmu’s initial public offering
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 15 July 2014, representing around a 4.25% equity
interest of China Shengmu. The fair value of the listed equity
securities is determined by reference to published quotations.
An increase in fair value for the year ended 31 December
2014 and an accumulated increase in fair value as of 31
December 2014 with an amount of RMB418,457,000 (2013:
Nil) and RMB418,457,000 (2013: Nil), respectively, had been
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The Group, as one of the beneficiaries, purchased 130,000,000
units in certain unit trusts set up and managed by an affiliate of
a substantial shareholder of the Company, at a consideration
of RMB130,258,000. According to the trust documents, the
trust shall apply the entire amount of trust fund invested by its
beneficiaries to finance certain specific projects owned and
operated by an independent third party. The investments in
unit trusts were unsecured with no guaranteed return amount
and with original maturity of more than one year. The balance
had been settled when due during the year of 2014.

The Group from time to time purchases various short term
unit trust investments. As of 31 December 2014, the Group
purchased unit trusts at cost of RMB327,000,000, with no
guaranteed return amount. The unit trusts as of 31 December
2013 had been fully redeemed and collected.

Included in the above balances, an amount of
RMB257,000,000 (2013: Nil) were invested in 257,000,000
trust units set up and managed by an affiliate of a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

27. %

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFR

HitEMEE @

Mhi-(ﬁ)

(®)

R-ZZE——FHA-_+HHB AEH
BA #9 125,322,000 i 7T ( #8 & AEM
98,531,000 T ) Y & — 3Etﬁ?t%
#95.81% g #E o #::—mi—ﬂ—aé
REABBRE B REENFIR(ZTT
nE)M~AEF%&Ek$&£%EE
LAREEREZeS ALM2E KRS
NERMEE  WIHAREEERAEEER
—IHRIRIRE  BEERREERNHRE
ﬁ%o%@ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%ﬁ@ﬁﬂw¢
BEHR )R -_ZT—NFLtA+RABESE
BHMARSHARARERERAFREE
% ZBRAREEEESBRAEPHERDY
269,869,6008% 3% {7 + 1 BB 4 £4.25%
feiE - ZE LFMRAZEFHA ﬁ@ﬁw%
EFAMBEMEE BHE-T—NF
+:Hz+famﬁrﬂﬁ§%MAEM
418,457,000 (=T —=F : )RR =F
—ME+-A=+—HRAABEZHEMNA
R#418,457,00070(ZF—=F : &) ' &,
REAM 2 EIRESER -

AEB(EAZZAZ ) UREBARYE
130,258,000 ClE A AR Al EZRER
BMEBARRYLEERNE TEMELEAN
130,000,0001E &7 » RIFEFEXNF @ %1z
AALESZZAFBRENETES28A
EERBILF - T HEREENE TR
FIEE - BUEANREAEEBE TR
REDHKSE  RIAPABB—F &
BER-Z— miﬂ%ﬁmﬁo

REEFEEAZBLSHEMETERE -
R_ZE—MFE+=-A=+—8 " $%@u
AR AR #327,000,0007T B AT R IRE
HEBENEMEL RZTE—=ZF+= ﬁ
=+ —BMEMEEEREER RKE -

£ L errh - Hep AR % 257,000,000
T(ZZE—Z=ZF : )M RNEERENH
ARNREEREMNBB AR KL LEEN
257,000,0001E{Z L E (7 »
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27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

Notes: (continued)

()

The Group from time to time purchases various investment
deposits for treasure management purposes. As of 31
December 2014, the Group purchased an amount of
RMB7,967,743,000 in investment deposits from commercial
banks, with guaranteed return amounts. As at 31 December
2014, investment deposits amounted to RMB200,000,000
were pledged to issue the Group’s letter of credit (2013: Nil).

As at 31 December 2013, an investment deposit with an
amount of RMB64,000,000 was pledged to secure certain
short team bank loans (note 34).

Entrusted loans represent the Group’s loans to certain dairy
farmers via banks. The above entrusted loans are unsecured,
with annual interest rates ranging from 5.76% to 6.90% (2013:
5.76% to 6.90%). As at 31 December 2014, these entrusted
loans are neither past due nor impaired and have no recent
history of default.

28. INVENTORIES

27. Hih&mEE @

Wi (48)

(e)

AEBABEAZBRETR  L#ETT
EBER R-_ZE—NF+A=+—
A AEERHERTEABEARE
7,967,743,000 7T B R FE E R EHIRE
TR -R-_ZE—NF+-_A=+—H" A
#H A R¥200,000,000 LM & EFREDIE
HAAREAAESEERABEER(ZE—=
FofE) e

R-T—=F+-"A=+—8 " BEAR
#.64,000,000 TR EFRERKIFUAAE
TR BRI TERERR (MI5E34) -

ZRENREASERBRTAE THRIE
HEER - U LEZEERBERR - FF)
R TF5.76%ZE6.90%( —T—=F :5.76%
E£6.90%)  c RZZE—WE+-_A=+—
A ZESLZAEREAOBHITERE
HAJMEHE R GO EE ©

28. &

Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E—MEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT
Raw materials R 3,597,792 1,833,768
Finished goods EXm 744,500 743,310
Total inventories at the lower of cost and LR A B P B IR RE R
net realisable value BIEEENTERSE 4,342,292 2,677,078

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an
expense was RMB287,779,000 (2013: RMB277,000). This
was recognised in other expenses (note 6).

BRAEAINTFEMREEAEARE
287779000 L (ZE—=ZF : AR ¥
277,00070) © WHRHEAE B (H7E6)F iR °



29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
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29. BUWIRA R R

Group

AEE
2014 2013
—E-mE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Bills receivable el =i 116,946 64,628
Trade receivables JE I BRFR 1,191,066 762,577
Impairment B (159,826) (72,940)
1,148,186 754,265

The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers which
is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice dated and
net of provision, is as follows:

Within 3 months 31E A AR
4 to 6 months 4Z6ME A
7 to 12 months 721218 A
Over 1 year 1A

AEEBERTEFPREEERE  YA&
FEBE TEITHAR - AEETE S8
REEEER - ER XA R AKE R R
RARDEAETFRBRNEFAR R E
EXEESTRR - AEEYEEH B
R EFEEAERRREMERRT - &
Y BR R P A A8 o

RB|EMR - KRR EHNRYEERT R RE
REZBHMERROMDT

Group

AL E
2014 2013
—Z-mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT
1,018,735 635,620
82,420 95,743
20,722 11,3583
26,309 11,549

1,148,186 754,265

®
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29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

29. EWERA KR EE @)
FEURER SR BB BN E BT ¢

Group

REE
2014 2013
—E-{F —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
At 1 January wn—H—H 72,940 16,701
Impairment losses recognised ERERAREER X 100,972 83,762
Amount written-off as uncollectible R 71~ BT Wi [e] 1 0 68 9 3R B (2,041) (26,478)
Impairment losses reversed A EDERERIEES (12,045) (1,045
At 31 December W+—A=+—H 159,826 72,940

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

18 51| 2k 42 58 35 175 12 ol (B P 8 ) B MR AR SR A
BRI T -

Group
REEE
2014 2013
—E-mEF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Neither past due nor impaired BB EA TR E 1,046,463 663,488
Past due but not impaired BB B ERE
— Within three months —3fE@ AR = -
— Over three months —3fE A E 2,887 2,731
1,049,350 666,219

Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Trade and bills receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

R BT ERE < BURKAR R R T EA
ETFRERNEF AR - WEEOHTERE
RFIAZ 8% -

B EAR (HE I R (B 2 R IR e SRR TS £
—UBYEFPER  REEFPEAKENRNE
REFWEARLE - REBELSR  ARAE
ERREFTRZSHEHHERERE - BH
EEEENEARNEE AR HEA
AIAZERE -
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29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continuea)
The amounts due from associates of approximately
RMB495,534,000 (2013: RMB305,692,000) are included in
the above balances. These above balances are unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and are repayable on credit terms similar
to those offered to other major customers of the Group.

29. EWERAR K EE @)
T EHBEREERBEEQRRBEHAR
40553400 (ZE—=F: AR
305,692,0007T ) ° it & &k A EK IR R G
B HEFEHRATALEEEMEFERF
AEE ©

As at 31 December 2013, certain bills receivable of the Group
amounting to approximately RMB50,000,000 have been
pledged to secure the bills payable of the Group, details of
which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

RZB—=F+-RA=+—H F~&EEHE
#/ AR#50,000,0007T 2 & T EWREL
EHEM - ERXAKERNEERZER  #15
N B IRAMES2 -

As at 31 December 2014, none of bills receivable were
endorsed by the Group (2013: Nil).

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RZZE—NFE+ZA=+—H  x5EHE
BEEMNERER(CT—=F : E\)-

30. AR » BERHEMEYIE

RECEIVABLES
Group
IREE
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Deposits e 34,651 19,888
Prepayments SEIREN 717,139 1,685,729
Value-added tax recoverable AR E R 281,982 272,934
Other receivables E U IR 370,413 337,798
Corporate income tax recoverable AR FETSH 40,369 30,433
Land use rights — current portion TR A RE — BDERER
(note 18) (M15E18) 22,724 22,329
Long term prepayments (note a) RAEBTE R (Fista) 269,479 405,331
Total prepayments, deposits and TEIHR - e REAE
other receivables W B4R 5 1,736,757 2,774,442
Less: Long term prepayments — A - RERTE R — FERNER
non-current portion (note a) o (FizEa) (163,704) (289,145)
1,573,053 2,485,297
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30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 30. AR > &R EMEWRIE @)
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: BT
(a)  During the year, the Group has entered into various long term (a FA AEEEEZETFRAEIFQAGLE
raw milk supply contracts with certain milking cow raising DERARHENHESD - BEZESA
companies. In accordance with these contracts, the Group 4o KEBBRAR -_ERFERENHERE
prepaid for raw milk supplies for the next two to five years. TEfT A o
(b)  As at 31 December 2013, the amount due from an associate by M-ZZT—=F+-A=+—8 " Liitks
of approximately RMB2,000 is included in the above balances. IR — R & A R RIEH AR 2,000
These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are Lo Ll AEIRELRE  WAHAEE
repayable on demand. SKEERF SRR o
Company
RAE]
2014 2013
—2-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Dividends receivable FE U AR S 224,540 224,540
Loans to subsidiaries FEUWF R RIFIE 769,168 575,111
Others Hi 100,184 40,814
Total Bt 1,093,892 840,465
The loans to subsidiaries included in other receivables A B E A EW R IBER FEIR A B B A
above are unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable within MK TR HBRN —ERNERE - BITFA
one year. The carrying amount of the loans to subsidiaries AIREMNEDEEEALERSE -

approximates to their fair value.



31. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS
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31. RERBITHEEFERREBEEX

Group
REE
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
Cash and cash equivalents BeMEeEEY 3,607,033 3,354,590
Pledged deposits RESTH 255,589 711,709
Time deposits EHFR 2,235,413 4,830,538
6,098,035 8,896,337
Less: Short term pledged deposits for W RITRE CRHIRE S
banking facilities (note 32 and 34) TR (MI5E325%34) (255,589) (561,709)
Less: Long term pledged deposits for W RITREC RERES
banking facilities (note 27 and 34) TR (5227 %34) = (150,000)
Less: Long term time deposits W KEIE BE R
(note 27 and a) (FtsE27 Ma) (1,192,886) (1,083,548)
Cash and bank balances in the consolidated 4 & BBz ZIRE R
statement of financial position IRITHETE 4,649,560 7,101,580
Note: PaE
(a)  The effective interest rates on long term time deposits as at 31 (8 RZTE—WNF+ZA=+—H KHETEH

December 2014 varied from 3.3% to 5.6% (2013: 3.3% to 5.6%)

per annum and will mature in two to four years.

TR BERENFEHF33%E5.6%(—
T—=% :33%ZE56%) " WHRMEN
FAEIH -

Company
RAE]
2014 2013
= ik —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 1,594,262 245717
Pledged deposits RESTFR 9,015 469,592
Less: Pledged deposits for banking facilities 5 : R1TRVE 2R ESTHER
(note 34) (f17¥34) (9,015) (469,592)
Cash and bank balances in the statement BSIORR N & &
of financial position RITETT 1,594,262 245,717
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31.

32.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND

OTH ER DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank
balances of the Group and the Company denominated
in RMB amounted to approximately RMB3,014,880,000
(2013: RMB6,638,405,000) and RMB254,752,000 (2013:
RMB147,867,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and five years depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective
time deposit rate. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

31.

32.

RERBITHERAREFER@®

RMERR  AEBEREAQENIES RIR
THEFHEUUAARBREN  DRHNAAR
#3,014,880,000 L (= —=4F : AR®
6,638,405,0007T ) & A R # 254,752,000 7T
=44 AR¥147,867,0007T) ° A
REWIEATEELBABEHMEY - AW - R
E B KRR INE B IR0 R AETE - EER
FEERAT  AEERBEEBERELET
INEETEHIRTT SARBERSEME
ﬁé; o

RITFEFREBETISFERE - ERFEHIIR
FARAEENEREFRMENF—BER
FONEERIF - A RAREE 17508
KB - RITEFELRRESFRIDFRRE
BRI B BT R CERAIRTT -

EARRRER
7R 05 1 BRI RS AR S B R O AR
ST

Group
AEER
2014 2013
—E2-mF
RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT
Within 3 months 31E A AR 4,200,799 4,199,004
4 to 6 months 4%26{EA 752,738 524,303
7 to 12 months 72128 A 30,792 29,127
Over 1 year S 7,518 8,864
4,991,847 4,761,298




32.

33.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continuea)

The amounts due to associates of approximately
RMB224,475,000 (2013: RMB253,976,000) are included in
the above balances. These balances are with similar credit
terms to those offered by the associates to their major
customers.

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable on demand.

Except for an aggregate balance of approximately
RMB301,395,000 (2013: RMB152,325,000) secured by
the pledge of certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to
approximately RMB90,823,000 (2013: RMB49,805,000)
(note 31), bills payable are unsecured. As at 31 December
2013, certain of the Group’s bills receivable amounting to
approximately RMB50,000,000 have been pledged to secure
the bills payable of the Group (note 29). The above balances
are non-interest-bearing.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

TREEFUERRAR
—T—UFEFR
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32.

33.

Eﬁﬁ%&?%@)
EHeEEMBERRFENHAR
M224,475,0007c(:$—_¢ CARK
253,976,0007T) ° ZFEEH EE A&
ARAMEEZEFRHERE -

NEEHEMES
SKEERFEE ©

AREEAR RS RARE

AEH# AR ¥301,395000t( 2 —=
i AR¥152,325,0007T ) H &~ Z i 45 64
Th AR B A E 4 AR #90,823,0007T( =
T—=4F : AR%49,805,0007T)HE T1F

A (HIFES) RIS - BN RIE R E
R -R-_FT—=F+-A=t—RH &K

B 24 AR #50,000,0007T Y & T KRR
BEEER  UARKEENRER(ME29)1E
R DAESRRRE -

RIERFARE M

Hiv Y=

Group
REEE
2014 2013
—F-MF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Advances from customers BEPEMNR 905,654 1,408,658
Salary and welfare payables e Fe kENE 678,839 597,865
Other payables Eofth FE T RRIB 2,969,927 2,348,317
4,554,420 4,354,840
As at 31 December 2013, included in other payables is an RZE—=F+ZA=+—H st AEME

amount of RMB3,192,000, which represents unrealised fair
value losses of white sugar commodity futures contracts.

The amounts due to associates of approximately
RMB25,089,000 (2013: RMB63,405,000) are included in the
above balances. The balances are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and are repayable on demand.

1"JL¢ THH KR A R %3,192,0007T 7 B 18 %
HEANMARBRAAERERE -

EHBREENBERARRNBBHAR
’i%(250890007c(_-- —E¢ AR
63,405,0007T) ° EHREER  RE

NBRENRER -
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34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 34. GtERITRHEMEE
BORROWINGS
Group
piN-
2014
—E-mE
Fixed Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate Maturity rate rate
WA EEAE  FEAE AHE  ETFER  OFEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
Current EN &R
Short term bank loans, secured R EIRITER(HHEA) 2015 216,000 156,431 2014 16,000 4,375,693
Short term bank loans, unsecured 52 HA$R1TE F (B ) 2015 1,052,903 2,660,139 2014 1,523,036 2,099,508
Current portion of long term bank  REIRITE 2 (A7) 8
loans - unsecured BNERER 2015 275,145 = 2014 447,269 -
Non-current JEENER
Long term bank loans, secured ~ RHIFITER(FEHH) 2017 - 468,187 - -
Long term bank loans, secured ~ REIFITEF(FER) 2019 79,000 = 2015 - 47,084
Long term bank loans, unsecured  REIIR1TE T (EIEH) 2019 34,205 = - -
Long term bank loans, unsecured R EIIR/TE F (MIKIR) 2016 488,977 = 2016 178,025 -
Long term bank loans, unsecured & ERSE/TE R (EER) 2017 - 1,365,551 - -
US$500,000,000 3.5% R-E—=ZF%72
bonds issued in 2013 500,000,000 7T
EBRI5% 7 EH 2018 3,028,130 - 2018 3,010,426 -
5,174,360 4,650,308 5,174,756 6,522,285
The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows: IRITERRERBHOT
Group
REE
2014 2013
—E-mE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Within 1 year —FR 4,360,618 8,461,506
110 2 years —EWF 488,977 47,084
2 to 5 years MERF 4,975,073 3,188,451
Total interest-bearing bank loans STRSRITE B 9,824,668 11,697,041
Less: Amount due within one year included & : BIERREBETR 2
in current liabilities —FREERRIE (4,360,618) (8,461,506)

5,464,050 3,235,535
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34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 4. T ERTREMEE@®
BORROWINGS (continued)

Company
LN
2014 2013
—E-OF “E-=F
Fixed Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate Maturity rate rate
HHE EEFE FHAE AMAE  EEFE  FERAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AR¥TR ARETT ARETT
Current DR
Short term bank loans, secured HHEIRITER
(FiEE) 2015 - - 2014 - 3,839,907
Short term bank loans, unsecured B HIRITE (K
biih) 2015 - 2,541,339 2014 - 1,954,508
Non-current FEEN
Long term bank loan, unsecured RERITER
(M) 2017 - 1,212,575 - -
US$500,000,000 3.5% RB—=F%(7
bonds issued in 2013 500,000,0003 7T
F&E35%7 &5 2018 3,028,130 - 2018 3,010,426 -
3,028,130 3,753,914 3,010,426 5,794,415
The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows: RITERRERENT
Company
AKATF
2014 2013
—Z—[F —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Within 1 year —FR 2,541,339 5,794,415
110 2 years —EWE - _
2 to 5 years MERF 4,240,705 3,010,426

6,782,044 8,804,841
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34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 34. FFERITRAEMERE @
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: PisE -
(@)  As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group’s interest (a RZE-—NWFER-_ZF—=F+-_A=1+—
bearing bank and other borrowings were secured as follows: B AEBZBRTREMEEIRTS
SR
2014 2013
—=E—NmEF —T—=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Secured by pledged deposits MR B 17 51K 8 141,431 522,296
Secured by investment deposits LA B 5 R4 = 60,574
Secured by land use rights and property, plant A+ {5 FIRE A R 2 -
and equipment R K s R 310,000 16,000
Secured in the form of a general security DA ML FIZLEGR
agreement over all the assets of Yashili NEIMBEAEN—K
New Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd.* R 5 s AR 468,187 -
Secured by Yashili Shares* DA FI B $E 4 - 3,839,907
Unsecured A 8,905,050 7,258,264
9,824,668 11,697,041
# The share price of Yashili as at 31 December 2013 # HEFRDERR-_Z—=F+=
was HK$4.75, and the total amount of pledged A=+—HBA4758 7T  MEBERK
shares calculated based on the share price was MERTENDERRNDLES
HK$11,499,305,000, equivalent to RMB9,041,098,000. 11,499,305,000/& 7T * HHE RN ARK

9,041,098,0007T °

* The bank loan was secured in the form of a general * WITERUATAEBELTFILEER
security agreement over all the assets of Yashili New NEIFEREN —RERGEER
Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. with a total carrying amount of {EIEIE - BEEEEN-_T=—NE+—
RMB985,640,000 as at 31 December 2014. A+ —HWREEEAEARK

985,640,0007T °
(o)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and (o) AEEATIEEENSIRTREM
other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: EEMEmENT

2014 2013

—E—NEF —F—=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFTT
Hong Kong dollars BIT 1,036,181 1,109,764
United States dollars =TT 7,369,339 7,024,704
Euro BT 38,005 -
RMB AR 1,381,143 3,562,573

9,824,668 11,697,041




34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  The floating annual interest rates of the secured short term
loan, unsecured short term loan and the unsecured long
term bank loans had been made by reference to the London
Interbank Offered Rate at LIBOR+0.7%, LIBOR+0.85%
and LIBOR+1.2% (2013: LIBOR+0.7%, LIBOR+0.85% and
LIBOR+1.2%) respectively.

The fixed annual interest rates of the short term bank loans
varied from 1.74% to 9.47% (2013: from 1.17% to 9.47%).

The fixed annual interest rates of the long term bank loans
varied from 2.08% to 6.72% (2013: from 2.09% to 2.70%).

(d)  On 27 November 2013, the Company issued five-year
bonds due 2018 with an aggregate principal amount of
USD500,000,000 at 99.456% of the face value. The bond will
bear interest from and including 27 November 2013 at the rate
of 3.56% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 27
May and 27 November each year.

35. OTHER LOANS

Short term loans

HER

FERFAEERAT
—T—UFEFIR
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ATERITREMEE @

BifeE - ()

) FBEMAEHER SEHESHERLER
MRGBRITERNIHEMNRE S BIER
FERITRZEREMESH - FFE5H B ALBOR
H00.7% - LIBORHN0.85% X LIBORHI1.2%

—ZE—=4 : LIBOR/N0.7% - LIBORN
0.85% & LIBORNT.2%) °

EHRITEFNEEFFENF1.74% =2
947%(—F—=F  117%29.47%) °

REBRTEROEEFANEN T2.08% =
6.72%(—ZF—=4 : 2.09%Z£2.70%) °

d WNZE—=F+t—AZ++tHB K2FEH
T2 N\FRHzLFES  A2RHE
#$99.456% M {8 2 500,000,000 7T ° f&
HFRHE-E—=F+—A-t+LtH(BEE
H)RIZFNEI 5% - RAAZ+tH
Rt+—AZ+tHEFFRE—R -

35. HithE®X

2013

—E =
—=

RMB’000
AR®BT R

RMB’000
ARETT

118,365 92,565

Except for an other loan of RMB30,000,000 (2013:
RMB33,500,000) with a fixed interest rate of 5.76% per
annum which was secured by certain property, plant and
equipment (note 15(b)), other loans are unsecured and
interest-free. There were no repayment terms for the Group’s
other loans.

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities
in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group’s
establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.

B H B 5 A R #30,000,0000( —E—=
& ARBE33,500,00070) (LAE T - B
B R R I3 (M 5E15(b)) ) 3% B E 4 7| R
5.76%:H B5  HttERAEIEIFREE -
ANAREAME R EERE -

HpER2MHEPE T EAE R AIRER
SEEPRZEN T RELEREMEDL -

v
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36. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

36. TTAETRITA

Group
b8 |
2014 2013
—E-MmF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE af B BfE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETR ARETT ARETT
Forward currency contracts and ~ iEHISMEA 4]
currency collar EEFEETR (a) = 2,027 - -
Interest rate swaps Fil s 5 (@) = 7,618 - -
Forward currency contracts BRENEAL (b) 17,455 = - -
Interest rate forward contracts FIZRHAY (0) - 2,479 - -
17,455 12,124 - -
Portion classified as non-current: S AIEREZ L5
Interest rate swaps ki 1 = 7,618 - -
Current portion: MENE S - 17,455 4,506 - -

Forward currency contracts
Interest rate forward contracts

2014

Company
N
K]

—g-pe

Assets
BE
RMB’000
ARBTR

EHINERH (o) -
MEEHED (o)

Liabilities Assets Liabilities
afE BE =(
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTR ARETT ARETTT

2,479 - -




36. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(@)

The fair value of these derivative financial instruments
are determined by the Westpac Bank, the counterparty
of these hedge arrangements, and reviewed by the
directors of the Company, based on contract value with
reference to their forecasted LIBOR and exchange rate
of United States dollar against New Zealand dollar.

Forward currency contracts and currency collars — cash
flow hedge:

Forward currency contracts and currency collars
are designated as hedging instruments in respect of
forecast future contractor payments from October
2014 to June 2015 for the construction of Yashili New
Zealand’s plant in New Zealand dollar, to hedge the
cash flow change associated with foreign exchange rate
of United States dollar against New Zealand dollar. The
balances of forward currency contracts and currency
collars vary with the levels of expected construction
payments and changes in foreign exchange forward
rates.

Interest rate swap contracts — cash flow hedge:

Interest rate swap contracts, which start from
September 2014 and mature in August 2017, are
designated as hedging instruments in respect of future
interest of Westpac Bank bank’s loans with a floating
rate of one-month LIBOR, to hedge the cash flow
change associated with LIBOR’s change during the
period. The balances of interest rate swap contracts
vary with the levels of expected withdrawal of bank
loans.

36.

4=

T

(@

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFIR

@I Emwm

ZETESRTEANRAAENHRZS
L BER 22 5 ¥ FWestpac Bank#E
2 E % % 788 LIBOR & 25 7T 5 ¥ PO
THERREBEANEEET  TAA
NEEREZ o

EHINERNREER R ETR -8

SmEEH

EHINERNREER R ETREE
REBE_T-NFTAE-_T—1
FINA AR B T BUR T L FFT R
B 5 1) TEBI R SR A B R A R R T
B o DA B3T3 R B T Y SN E
NEFENRERELD - EHINE
BHREENE ETRAMBBERER

RS TREK T R B R
1 -

MERPEN-REREL T

BE-E—NUFLAERIRN_F—+
FNANREBHNFRERE LIETE
137 — @ ALIBORKZ & F K5t B 1Y
Westpac BankiR{TEFRHIREKFIBH
BRI T A - DA EIAELIBOR
MEHEBENRESRELZE - FI Xz
HEAnsEARRTERNIERS
BUKFEfE ML o
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36. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(@)

(continued) (a)

Since the nominal amount of the forward currency
contracts and currency collars match the terms of the
construction payment commitment and the terms of the
interest rate swaps match the terms of the bank loan
agreements, the hedged rate is determined at 1 to 1.
The main source of ineffectiveness include counterparty
non-performance risks, which is considered to be
insignificant. As at 31 December 2014, a net loss of
RMB8,388,000 was included in the hedging reserve as
follows:

36. STEER T Em)

(&)

AR ERIINEE N R G E TR
O TE B B2 2 3R A BURE A IS S B A AT
A RFRie G EIRITE SRR
MR EERE  BUEY LR A
1t o SR EME DT EHRETOH
TEYOMNRBTES  MABRRE
B e A -T—MNFE+_F=+—
B E8%5E A RH8,388,000 T2 51
A - BT

2014 2013
“E-NEF “E-=%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR
Total fair value losses included in hedging reserve 5t A% B A 71 B 1E4E 13,032 -
Deferred tax on fair value losses (note 25) DA EBENELERIE(HF25) (1,816) -
Reclassified from other comprehensive income  #tE {2 ERETEHHER
and included in construction FAERIRE
in progress (3,387) -
Deferred tax on transfers to construction ERSERTIROELRE
in progress (note 25) (Ff5x25) 559 -
Net losses on cash flow hedges RenedrBERTE 8,388 -
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36. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. STEER I AEwm

(continued)
(b) In addition, the Group has entered into various (b)
forward currency contracts and interest rate forward
contracts to manage its exchange rate and floating rate
exposures. These forward contracts are not designated
for hedging purposes and are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A net fair value gain on forward
currency contracts of RMB17,455,000 (2013: Nil) and
a net fair value loss on interest rate forward contracts
of RMB2,479,000 (2013: Nil) were recognised in the

gEoh - AEBERI N Z DR INES
HRFERRPEL  NREBEEERL
FEIFERR - ZERBAHIIEE
FEEETEMNRARAAETEAHE
Bt ABm o BHINESHNARE
Iy 25558 AR ®17,455,0000( =&
—=F  E)RANERBEOND A
BEEBFEAREK2479,000t (=%
—=F E)RFABREEREER

consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year. = o
37. LONG TERM PAYABLES 37. REEANRIE
The Group’s long term payables represent the amortised NEBNEHENFIBIEAGSES £ E%
costs of the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase DEIST N RIEBR B AR - BEATERY
of production equipment. The effective interest rate used for ERFRAETHAR - BREAGEHAERIM

the amortisation is the prevailing market interest rate. The T

balances are repayable as follows:

Group
A EE
2014 2013

—E-lF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT

Within 1 year 1R 66,828 58,915
1to 2 years 1&22% 41,305 51,300
2 to 5 years 2FE54F 22,507 49,378
Total long term payables KA RIBERE 130,640 159,593
Less: Amount due within one year BT ARBEER
included in current liabilities E A RIER
under other payables —F N EIEIFIR (66,828) (58,915)
63,812 100,678
Certain long term payables are secured by the Group’s ETERHEMZREURETNYE  BEL

property, plant and equipment (note 15(b)). B VE IR (BIRE15(b)) ©

v
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38. DEFERRED INCOME 38. IEIEW S

Various local government authorities have granted ZEAMW SRS BEERAEERTETY
certain property, plant and equipment to the Group for nil 2. BENEE WARSEER A mAE
consideration and provided finance to the Group for the EiIREHE  EAEREELETWE - BE
purchase of certain property, plant and equipment by way L& - ME  BEMRERED SRS
of a cash donation. Both the property, plant and equipment AR ESER - BUWERA B &R A
and grants are recorded initially at fair value. The grants TS BIEWEEEDE  BELRED
received are regarded as deferred income, which is amortised (HetrlfE A EREE Y - AR X SR Pl
to match the depreciation charge of the property, plant and EVXE BERXENTEERR - FAZE
equipment granted or purchased in accordance with their SREVE BT ¢

estimated useful lives. Movements of the balances during the
year are as follows:

Group

AEE
2014 2013
—F-NF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
At beginning of year F7) 219,715 234,796
Received during the year R YER 94,788 4,304
Amortisation during the year (note 5) FREHE(HES) (20,489) (19,385)
At end of year FR 294,014 219,715
Current portion BIEAEE 7> 23,537 19,389
Non-current portion JEBNHRZL 5> 270,477 200,326

294,014 219,715




39. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
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39. HtFERBEMERE

Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Present value of contingent FLARBRE
consideration (@) 137,199 134,605
Present value of considerations to be #R—FE 2
paid beyond one year REBHEE (b) 8,901 17,259
Present value of redemption amount  AJ g BE R &
for potential acquisition of puttable eSS Sy
non-controlling interests fEE e rEEAE (©)/(d) 2,192,641 512,095
2,338,741 663,959
Notes: I3 -

(@) The fair value of the contingent consideration arising from the
Group’s acquisition of Mengniu Arla was RMB120,131,000 at
the acquisition date of 1 January 2013 and was re-measured
to RMB137,199,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013:
RMB128,665,000).

During the year, the Group has agreed to pay on demand the
contingent consideration of RMB6,026,000 arising from the
Group’s acquisition of Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy Co.,
Ltd. in 2011. The amount has therefore been reclassified to
other payables and accruals. As at 31 December 2013, the fair
value of the contingent consideration was RMB5,940,000.

(b)  The fair value of the remaining considerations with the
principal amount of RMB10,000,000 (2013: RMB20,000,000)
to be paid beyond one year arising from the Group’s
acquisition of Mengniu Arla at the acquisition date is re-
measured to RMB8,901,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013:
RMB17,259,000).

EfBAEERBRESTFZHARE
RUERSH(AI—_ZE—=—F—H)2Z
AAEAANRM120,131,0007T » I #
—TE-ME+-_A=Z+-HEBAAR
#137,199,000 L (—E—=4% : ARK
128,665,0007T) ©

FR - AEERERERIAHAREA
R#¥6,026,0007T - EEABAEEAR=-ZF
—— FRBAERAEELBLRNIAEEARA
A Al EEFOBEEEMENKE
LERER R =F+-_A=1+—
B AREZ2REARARKS5,940,000
5T o

R-ZE—MFE+-_A=+—H AXEHR
RIEBHKERERFMAR —FEX
Nz A& EARE10,000,0000(—FE—=
F - AR#20,000,00070) 2 EHAHREZ A
RIEEHRAARKES1,000T(—E—=
F . ARMA17,259,0007T) °
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39. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

According to the equity purchase agreement entered
into among the Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling
shareholders of Junlebao, the Group granted a put option
to the non-controlling shareholders under which the non-
controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the
Group has an obligation to buy the 49% equity interest in
Junlebao after 2016. At 31 December 2014, the Group
derecognised the carrying amount of non-controlling interests
of RMB384,460,000 (2013: RMB324,804,000) and recognised
a financial liability at the present value of the amount payable
upon exercise of the option of RMB591,470,000 (2013:
RMB512,095,000) and accounted for the difference in equity.

Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone Asia Pte Ltd. (“Danone”)
dated 9 August 2013, an option was granted to Danone
to terminate the Equity Joint Venture Contract and sell the
entire Danone’s Stake to Inner Mongolia Mengniu at the
Exercise Price within a 15-day period at the beginning of each
biennial (2-year) period from the seventh (7th) anniversary of
the relevant closing date under the Amended and Restated
Framework Agreement, subject to compliance with the then
applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing Rules)
by the Company, including the then relevant Listing Rules in
connection with connected transactions. As at 31 December
2014, the Group derecognised a non-controlling interest of
RMB502,323,000 (2013: Nil) and a financial liability at the fair
value of RMB1,601,171,000 (2013: Nil) payable upon exercise
of the option and accounted for the difference in equity.

40. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

JRTE ¢

39. HttFRBEME Ew@m

BifRE - (A&

()

RIEARES BRERELENIEEBR
R VHBRABE Hen - AEERIEER
BRERERAE Bt R=ZT—RF
BIEEBRBRRARELE  RASEEAER
THEELEIONEE N —NF
+-A=+—8 ANEEK I -BEAEE
% A% 51 4 75 A BR T (B A R 384,460,000
T(ZZE—=%F : AR¥324,804,0007T)
MBRTERAEREMRENREAR
501,470,000 T (S — =4 : AR
512,095,00070) ER AT EE » Wi5E
Rt AKERS o

BERSFFEERDNAR QG ([E
BEDR-_Z—=ZF)\ANBIUNAEL
EAR - EEEE—IEREE - LS
R R ERTMIERE R ZEERZE B R 7)E
F - BMR)FEZHBETARAKILES
BEEAR - WHERRESIBIRITERE
EFRREF  BARAIMNABTERDN
EAEG MER (BB ETARRDMEE -
PREER ETHRNBREERSHNRTE -
MR-E-NE+-A=+—08  KEHEK
1EFERIEE R A R AE 25 A R #5502,323,000
TT(ZE—=F ) RIRITERIZREE
NHwerBEAREARE1,601,171,000
TL(ZE—=F &) WS AER -

40. B

BAXE(EO. 178 7T A E WA

2014 2013

= ik —F=F

RMB’000
AR®BT T

RMB’000
ARBTT

319,235 319,235




40. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

TERFAEERAE
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40. B @)

Number of
ordinary shares
ZEREE

’000 RMB’000
TR ARETIT

Issued and fully paid: EETRAR

At 1 January 2014 RZZE—NE—H—H 1,835,263 186,476
Shares issued under the equity-settled R4& AR D S 1~ BE AR
share option scheme T BB 1TRD (@) 2,092 166
New share subscription and issuance % {5 288 & %77 (o) 121,236 9,604
At 31 December 2014 RZZT—HEF
+—-—A=+—H 1,958,591 196,246
Number of
ordinary shares
ZREREE
’000 RMB’000
TR ARET T
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 January 2013 NWZE—=%—H—H 1,768,232 181,151
Shares issued under the equity-settled 1E3% LAIR D X MBI BB IK
share option scheme REET BT D @) 67,031 5,325
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=4F
+ZRA=+—H 1,835,263 186,476

Notes:

(@) Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 43 to the
financial statements.

(b)  On 12 February 2014, Danone, COFCO Dairy Investments
Limited (“COFCO Dairy”) and the Company entered into a
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to issue and allot 121,236,357 shares to
COFCO Dairy with a total consideration of HK$5,152,545,000.
The transaction has been completed on 27 March 2014.

@ ARRERESERREBEZEBITORE
MR R IB BRI B TS 4R R P 7E43 -

by R-ZZT—MNF_A+=-H E& FEI
EREARAB([FRIE]) REQFF]
YREWE B AARERERER
iR Pl 2 3417 R Al 3$121,236,357 AR A 1)
R (E R5,152,545,000 7T - ZXFHER
TE-FE=F - F++tHTK -
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41. OTHER RESERVES 41. HnfEE
(A) Group (A) *EE
The movements of the Group’s reserves and the REBNHEBELRAFEFERBTEEN
movements therein for the current and prior years are EEES  HPRPBERREI052F
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in 106 E MR RAZEFHRA -

equity on page 105 to 106 of the financial statements.

(B) Company (B) A&A1TE
Movements in the reserves of the Company during the FERN - NARNEEEEIWOT -
year are as follows:

Foreign  Financial Share option
currency assets reserve/
Share  Contributed ~ translation  revaluation ~ Retained Share Award
premium surplus differences resenve earnings resernve

KR  BAEH B BiRE il
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARMTT AR®TE ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 27
Pt27
At 1 January 2013 RZE-=F-f-H 8,692,992 387,574 (1,151,384 (33,868 108,540 817416 8821270
Profit for the year (note (c)) REFB () - - - - 121657 - 121657

Other comprehensive loss for the year:  REE 2 EER :
Change infairvalue of fnancil S REERLERD -

assets, net of tax NBHE - - - (33419 - - (33419
Exchange difference between M REREHEEH

functional currency and EAEE

presentation currency - - (08863 - - - (2886%2)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) EERENA/(BR)EE

for the year - - (288632 (33,479) 121,657 - (200454)
Shares issued under equity-settled BEARAT6ERE

share option amangements ZHETRG 1203377 - - - - - 12233717
Eouity-settled share option WD A EREL S

anangements (note 43) (Fz£43) - - - - - 52,382 52,382
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~ {7(F B IER &,

exercise of share options BRERE 587,616 - - - - [587,616) -
Transfer of share option resenve upon ~ INEIREL L ERE

forfeiture or expiry of share options ~~ EEH{EE PR 4 - - - - 95,49 (95499 -
Share award scheme (note 44) RE R8I (f344) - - - - - 51,665 51,665
Final 2012 dividend declared BER-E-—EERRE - - - - (290488) - (290489
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=F

+2A=+-8 10503985 8754 (1440016  ([E7347) 3201 23835 9G5ITR
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41. OTHER RESERVES (continueq) 41. EMREE@
(B) Company (continued) (B) AT (4)

Foreign  Financial Share option

currency assets reserve/

Share Contributed translation revaluation  Retained Share Award
premium surplus  differences reserve  earnings reserve Total

KBRS SHEE BRERS/

BiveR  REEH B EfERE  REEN RRRAER it
RMB000  RMB0O0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTZ ARMTR ARETR ARETR

Note (a) Note 27
Htla) Wter
At1 January 2014 RZE-HF-A-H 10,503,985 387,574 (1,440,016) (67,347) 35,201 238,355 9,657,752
Loss for the year (note (c)) RESR(HC) - - - - (163,108) - (163,108)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  REE 2 EER :
Change in fair value of SREELREEY.
financial assets, net of tax nBHE - - - (198,763) - - (198,763)
Exchange difference between M REREHELH
functional currency and EiEE
presentation currency - - 15,139 - - - 15,139

Total comprehensive income/(loss) EE2ERN/(BR)EE

for the year - - 15,139 (198,763)  (163,108) - (346,732
Issue of shares ki 4,072,139 - - - - - 4,072,139
Share issue expenses khenEE (7,769) - = = = = (7,769)
Shares issued under equity-settled BEN RO AHERE

share option arrangements RUERIRG 39,130 = = = = - 39130
Equity-settled share option RGN ERERE

amangements (note 43) (PH3%43) - - - = - [(46935)  (46,985)
Transfer of share option reserve upon 7B RER &L

exercise of share options TiEeE 20,450 - - = - (20450 =
Transfer of share option reserve upon IR BiRk

forfeiture or expiry of share options B TRiEREE - - - = 492 (492) S
Shares vested under share GERRRREEN

award scheme & 12,921 - - - - (37909)  (24,988)
Share award scheme (note 44) R E Histad) - - - - - 8112 851
Final 2013 dividend declared BER-E-=FHRRE  (391,060) - - - - - (391,060
At 31 December 2014 RZ5-WF

+-A=1-R 1424979 387574 (1424877)  (266,110) (127415 217,741 13,086,709
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41. OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Contributed surplus

The balance of the contributed surplus of the Group represents
the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued
in exchange therefor, and the excess of the amount of capital
injected by the minority shareholder over its additional interest
in the subsidiary’s net assets attributable to the Company’s
owners was recorded as contributed surplus of the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net assets value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in
exchange therefor.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
the PRC domestic companies are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after income tax, as determined under the PRC
accounting standards and financial regulations, to the statutory
common reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as set out in
the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the statutory common
reserve may be used to offset against the accumulated losses,
if any.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2014 dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company was RMB259,627,000 (2013:
loss of RMB102,883,000), excluding the dividend income from
subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB96,519,000
(2013: RMB224,540,000).

On 11 November 2013, the Group disposed a 13.24% equity
interest in Yashili to independent third parties. The disposal
was accounted for as an equity transaction, which resulted in
the Group’s equity interest in Yashili decreasing from 89.82%
to 76.58% without loss of control. As a consequence, the
difference between the disposal of the non-controlling interests
and the fair value of the consideration received was recognised
directly in equity as a reserve.

Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between
Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Danone dated 9 August 2013,
Danone injected additional capital to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Danone Dairy Co, Ltd. (“Mengniu Danone”), which resulted
in the Group’s equity interest in Mengniu Danone decreasing
from 100% to 80% without loss of control. As a consequence,
the excess of the amount of capital injected by Danone over its
interest in the Mengniu Danone’s net assets was recognised
directly in equity as a reserve.

. H @

BiaE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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42.

43.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During 2014, the Group purchased property, plant
and equipment by means of long term payables with a
total contractual amount and a total amortised cost of
approximately RMB42,058,000 (2013: RMB24,282,000) and
RMB39,822,000 (2013: RMB22,533,000), respectively.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers and any person or entity that provides research,
development or technological support to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 28 June 2005
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval and adoption of the Share
Option Scheme provided that the Group may at any time
seek approval from its shareholders to refresh the limit to
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval by
the shareholders in a general meeting where such limit is
refreshed. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of these limits is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

42,

43.

FESFAEERLA
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43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 43. Eﬁﬂi*g%ﬂ'%ﬂ(%)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
20 business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than seven years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Share Option Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date of the
share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

MARRES FETHRABREERER
BEZEMBBEARD ZERENELE
VIEHITERERAE o AN IR+
@A EARA - AmARE E B R E T IE
WITEEREE 2 EMBEAR L Z(EAHE
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0.1% 4 E (LE H B BA R R ID Z Ui
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R AE FREERE -

A AR L R R 2 55 H AR 20 (E & 2
AARXHRBERES KB TRALLE
& REBREZITERHESERE 17
EHAR - BBRRES RETBBR LB
hEEZERCFZBBERESZHA
(ABRBEREKL
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43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Particulars of share options

Date of grant

R BH

26 October 2006

—EEXRF+AZFKH

9 November 2007

—EELET—ANA

18 August 2008
—ZEZNENA+NH

23 November 2009

—EENF+—A=+=H

6 December 2010

—T-TF+-AAA

10 October 2011
—E——F+A+H

TERFAEERAE
—E-NEER

Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HizE

Exercise period of share options
(both dates inclusive)

BRENTEUE(BEEEWA)

26 October 2007 to 25 October 2012 (note a)
T F+AZFNEE
—E-——F+A=-+RHB(MH3iFa)

9 November 2009 to 8 November 2013
(note b)

—EThF+—ANBE
—E—=F+—ANB(fzEb)

18 August 2010 to 17 August 2014 (note b)
—T-ZF/\A+N\AE
—ZT—mENA++E R (FiFb)

23 November 2011 to 22 November 2015
(note ¢)

—E——%F+—A=+=HZE
—ZT—RF+—A=-+=H8(KiFc)

6 December 2012 to 5 December 2016
(note d)

—E——F+ZARNHZE
—E—XFE+-AREB (M)

10 October 2015 to 9 October 2018 (note e)
—E-RF+A+AE
—ZE—)\F+ANAKEe)

43. R EE )
BIRREEE

Exercise price
per share
option (note f)
SHBREN
7 6215 (B =EF)
(HK$)

(Bx)

13.40

32.24

22.03

24.40

22.80

24.10

Weighted
average fair
value per
share option
BHBREN
MEFEH A A
(HK$)
(&7T)

4.82

10.61

7.60

8.50

7.25

8.37

J



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
Annual Report 2014

43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(@)

The share options will be vested in four equal batches
with 25% of the share options granted vesting on the
first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date
of grant. In addition, the share options will only be
vested if and when the pre-set performance targets of
the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee
are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the
share options will lapse.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches
with 50% of the share options granted vesting on the
second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. In
addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the
division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse.

The share options will be vested in three batches with
20%, 40% and 40% of the share options granted
vesting on, respectively, the second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the date of the grant. In addition, the
share options will only be vested if and when the pre-
set performance targets of the Group, the division of
the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of
these targets are met, the share options will lapse.

Out of the 89,025,000 share options granted, in
aggregate, 20,116,500 share options are granted
in exchange for and replacement of the outstanding
share options previously granted on 9 November 2007
to better achieve the objectives of the Scheme (the
“Replacement”).

The share options will be vested in three batches with
20%, 40% and 40% of the share options granted
vesting on, respectively, the second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the date of the grant. In addition, the
share options will only be vested if and when the pre-
set performance targets of the Group, the division of
the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of
these targets are met, the share options will lapse.

43. FBERAETT 8 m)

(@)
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43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Particulars of share options (continueq)

(e)

The share options will be vested in two equal batches
with 50% of the share options granted vesting on the
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant. In
addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the
division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse.

The exercise price per share option was the average
closing share price for the five business days
immediately preceding the grant date or the closing
price of the shares on the grant date.

Except for the options granted on 10 October 2011,
which have a contractual life of seven years, the
contractual life of the above options granted is six years.
All the above options granted have no cash alternatives.

Movements of share options

2014

Date of grant

As at
1 January
2014

Granted
during
the year

it 23

—-A-H Ehik

FERFAEERAT
—T—UFEFIR
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43. BERAETTE )
A )

C

BRESEBD RMED  50% K%
50% A ED BN B L B HES
PO REBFFE -t - fHEEER
REE - FRAPTBEPI RARAZ
BEXRBBE  MBERBRELNER
B - A ER LA 2MAE - RIF
RARB AR G RN o

BOHBRENTEEDEZR LAY
A LA % % A P By e B sl
th B A A T (E

BRTR-_ZT——FTATERENE
BREANFHRLEFIN  EBMAEH
BRENSHNFHR/NEF - LME
REMBRESYERSER M

WRERE
—s-mE

Exercised
during
the year

Enfife

Exercisable

Expired Asat at

during 31 December 31 December
the year 2014

Forfeited
during
the year

ERRK

26 October 2006 “EEEHACTAA - - - - - - -
18 August 2008 “EZ\E\BT/R 382,303 - (382,299) - (1) - -
23 November 2009 “EENET-AZ1=R 3,692,252 - (1,348,995) - (40,733) 2,302,524 2,302,524
6 December 2010 S P 1,188,000 - (360,000) - - 828,000 828,000
10 October 2011 I S R 44,100,000 - - - (55000000 38,600,000 -
Total &t 49,362,555 - (2,001,287) - (B540744) 41730524 313052
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Movements of share options (continued)
2013

Date of grant

43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea 43. B AERT &l m)

BRESE @)
—E—=F

Exercisable

Exercised Forfeited Expired Asat at

during during Curing 31 December 31 December
the year the year the year 2013

EmfE AR FRER 1=

26 October 2006 ZEEETRCTAA - - - - - - -
18 August 2008 “EE)\ENATNR 37,290,904 - (36,908,601) - - 382,303 382,303
23 November 2009 “EENE+-AZ1=H 68,297,395 - (29548134) (7,995,589  (27,061,450) 3,692,252 3,692,252
6 December 2010 “E-2E+CARA 4,070,000 - (574,000) - 2,308,000) 1,188,000 200,000
10 October 2011 “5--Fth1H 53,000,000 - - - (8,900,000) 44,100,000 -
Total &t 162,658,299 - (67,030,735 (7,995,559  (38,269,450) 49,362,555 4,274,555

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, out of
the total outstanding share options of 41,730,524 (2013:
49,362,555) as at 31 December 2014, 17,208,463 (2013: Nil)
share options had lapsed due to the unfulfiment of vesting
conditions.

The Group reversed an expense of RMB46,935,000 relating
to the share options lapsed due to the unfulfilment of vesting
conditions under the Share Option Scheme in 2014 (2013:
recognised an expense of RMB52,382,000) (note 7).

The 2,091,287 share options (2013: 67,030,735) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 2,091,287 (2013:
67,030,735) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of RMB166,000 (2013: RMB5,325,000) and share
premium of RMB39,130,000 (2013: RMB1,223,377,000), as
further detailed in note 40 to the financial statements. The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these
options was HK$38.14 (2013: HK$27.10).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 3,130,524
(20183: 4,274,555) vested share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 3,130,524 (2013: 4,274,555) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital
of RMB247,000 (2013: RMB336,000) and share premium
of RMB58,966,000 (2013: RMB80,703,000) (before issue
expenses).

R-ZT—mWE+-A=1+—BHpEREE
541,730,524 (== — =4 : 49,362,555
D) ERRFESB AT - 17,208,4631D BEAHE (=
T—=F  E)RAREINRBIEEMRRE
HAR 18 R -

R-T—MF  AEERELOEGEBRERR

BERETT I BB B AT BT T O 53 8 1 1 1 25 2

B2 A R 46,935,000 ( ZF — =4 :
RFI X AR¥52,382,0007T) (FIFE7)

2,091,287 (Z & — =4 : 67,030,735 )
BRERFRNITE - BEfE 172,091,287
f% (== — =4 : 67,030,735% ) A Q=@ &
B EEFRABAREK166,0007T (=
T—=4F : AR¥5,3250007T) @ BHMDEE
AR¥39,130,000c(ZFE—=F : ARK
1,223,377,0007T) * #FBE R EHREM T
40 - ZEERETEEOMETHRES
3814 (=T —=F : 2710/ 7T) °

RIEEER - A QR £E3,130,5241 (=
T—Z4F 4274555 ) stEIBTHE R
BARITEHEERE - ARG BRI 2R AL
o 2EITE MG ERES S| BRI
173,130,524 % ( — T — = 4F : 4,274,555
B%) AR A EEE R ARB247,0007T (=
T — =4 : AR¥336,0007T )58 IMNE A K&
AR¥58,066,000C(ZF—=F : AR
80,703,000 ) A& {7 & (B (FORR 31T E A AT ©



44, SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The share award scheme of the Company was adopted by
the board on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the share award scheme is to provide an incentive
to encourage the participants for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the share award scheme and the
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to
any eligible person it may in its absolute discretion select to
accept the grant of an award over such a number of shares
as it may determine. Existing shares of the Company will be
purchased by the trustee of the share award scheme from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be
held in trust for the relevant Participants until such shares
are vested with the relevant Participants in accordance with
the provisions of the share award scheme. The shares of the
Company granted and held by the trustee until vesting are
referred to as the treasury shares and each treasury share
shall represent one ordinary share of the Company. Shares
will be acquired by the independent trustee (the “Trustee”)
of the share award scheme on the market out of the funds
contributed by the Group and be held in trust in accordance
with the provisions of the share award scheme.

No shares shall be purchased pursuant to the Shares Award
Scheme, nor any amounts paid to the Trustee for the purpose
of making such a purchase, if as a result of such purchase,
the number of Shares administered under the shares
award scheme shall exceed 5% of the issued capital of the
Company, and the maximum number of treasury shares
which may be granted to a Participant at any one time or in
aggregate may not exceed 0.5% of the issued capital of the
Company at the Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
board, the share award scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 5 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

44.

FESFAEERLA
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BEREREE
AARREEMH BN -"T—=F= A
—+AR(HRMB ) REERRM - BF
i8S ERM S RE BEATEENE
ERBERIEHES -

RERRZRTEGRELTRA  EFE
AR RIS ERALERELN  BAE
MALTHIEEERZRETERER L 2ER
B BB 2 2R - BSR EER At B 2 EREALA
AEBEHENRENMS LEEARRREA
Bty RAGEREAREB2EERE &
EREFRORBEREE S 2 FXRBEN
HEZ2EER[LE EROMAXFEARER
ERBZARBBRNHEREFRN  MEE
TFRD AR R — B @A o B i B X
EREFEZBIRZFEATZTEADRTE
RAKEREZESHE - WIRIERE R
BRI ERER A °

BERORIEARZREAZEREE T8
MSEFEASMNERAFIEAMEHEEEE - i
REREE @ BUEARE EZRE ST R
MBBBERNRADEITRAZ5% « RME
REAER TE-2RENBFREHE
FRFABIFEERMAHARRREELT
AR 20.5% °

XENREEGRRETE ZEARERL IR
SREF BRI RA A R A FHRAR—
BABRRER -
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44. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 44.

Parti
sche
2014

Date

culars and movements of share award
me

Fair value
per share

SROAE
(HK$)
of grant ()

ERBEEm
ERBFEFERES

e

As at Granted Vesting As at
1 January during year during the year 31 December

R+=A

m-A-H FRRH FREE =t-H

26 April 2013 ZE-=FMAZFA (@) 21.65 17,569,400 - 10,159,600 7,409,800
17 April 2014 “E-WERA++A (o) 40.95 - 6,055,000 - 6,055,000
Fair value As at Granted Vesting As at
per share 1 January  during year duringtheyear 31 December
W“+=R
RN—HA—H FREIH FREE =t-AR

Date of grant B A
26 April 2013 ZE-=FMAZFA (@) 21.65 - 17,569,400 - 17,569,400

Notes: M3 -

(@

On 26 April 2013, a total number of 17,569,400 treasury
shares, representing 0.99% of the issued capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date, were granted to the
Selected Participants. Out of the total shares granted,
8,425,800 treasury shares were granted to the Chief Executive
Officer, who is also an executive Director of the Company,
which would vest in five tranches each on the first, second,
third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the Grant Date in
accordance with certain vesting conditions (including the
Group’s performance targets), subject to the publication of
the full-year results of the Company for the relevant financial
year. The grant of the treasury shares to other directors, senior
management, heads of departments and other employees of
the Group was vested in full during 2014 in accordance with
the vesting conditions (including the Group’s performance
targets).

RIZE—=ZFMNA=-+/xH  AQRMAK
EFE2HEER B A H17,569,400 i E 17
B AEAR RN B B 2 BB TR
0.99% » RER RN B+ - 8,425,800
BREGRG HETER (AR RRRIT
FE) ZEROBRESETRBIEG (R
BAEERREE)  2RAEIXER -
REAB R AAREAMSEE— = -
= ARARBE - HEAFARQR AR
FRFETSE2FEEER  HAEE -7\
AEEHEMESR  SRETEAE - WME
EREMBEERLZETRY  BRERE
B (BEAEERREER)  RZT—N
FREEHEE -



44. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  On 17 April 2014, the Company further granted 6,055,000
shares under share award scheme to the Selected Participants,
representing approximately 0.34% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the Adoption Date. This batch of treasury
shares shall vest in full by 30 April 2015 in accordance with the
vesting conditions (which will include the Group’s performance
targets in 2014), subject to the publication of the full-year
results of the Company for the relevant financial year.

The fair value of the treasury shares granted was calculated
based on the market prices of the Company’s shares at
the respective grant dates. No dividend will be considered.
The fair value of the treasury shares granted during the year
was HK$40.95 (2013: HK$21.65) per share. The Group
recognised the expenses relating to the share award scheme
of approximately RMB219,434,000 (2013: RMB151,108,000)
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year.

During the year, the Company acquired 12,783,000 of the
Company’s shares (2013: 16,215,000) through purchases
on the open market under the share award scheme. The
total amount paid to acquire the shares during the year was
HK$456,388,000, equivalent to RMB361,341,000 (2013:
RMB394,121,000).

During the year, 10,159,600 (2013: Nil) shares with a total
amount of RMB266,387,000 (2013: Nil) were vested and
exercised under the share award scheme, resulting in the
transfer out of RMB174,590,000 (2013: Nil) from the share
award reserve, with the difference of RMB91,797,000 (2013:
Nil) debited to share premium account. The weighted average
share price at the date of exercise of these Awarded Shares
was HK$32.14 (2013: Nil).

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFIR

44, RERBE @m0

BeE - ()

) RZZT—NFMA++H  ARFRER
EREpAEE—TAKETL2EERD
6,055,000%f& 7 15 AR BN R A Bl 2
O BITRLANL10.34% o B EFRD 51RE
REEG(EEEASER T —NFZX
RAE) R-Z-RAEWMA=1+HEHE
B WASARRRERYREE %R
FEFER  HAEE -

ERLEFRMDZARME @ HERAARR
MRERTBH2MENE P B TEE

Mg E o im&ﬂjz#THﬂﬁZME "B
tﬂx4o 5B TL(=ZZT—=F : 21.6587T) °
FR - AEBEREGEAIERRT  HRRE
EEET IS H 4 AR 219,434,000 (= F
—=% : AR¥151,108,0007T) °

FR - ARERIBERERETEEARFT
BB AN E12,783,0000% ( — T — =4 :
16,215,0000% ) g fn - FAEE ZERMH I
B & BEAH 5456,388,00087C © HE
RARE361,341,000L(ZF—=F : AR
#394,121,0007T) °

TN BFE A ARE266,387,0007T (=
T — =4 : ) W10,159,600 & B% 1 ( =
E—=F E\IERERERETEEE
RATE - BHERERBFEEE D AR
174,590,0007L(ZZF—=4F : &) - ZF¥A

R#91,797,0000t (=2 —=F : #)aRH
BRI - ZFEERM1TE B BBy hnsE
FHREEI214B (T —=F : ) -
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45. DEEMED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 45. REIHE—XTFA T

On 13 January 2014, Fuyuan, a then indirectly owned R-Z—MMFE—F+=H  NAREKEE
subsidiary of the Company, issued additional 584,000,000 BAEN T AR ®ERIZARKT700,800,0007T
shares to new shareholders at RMB700,800,000. The ] 36T A% 3R 488 25 584,000,000 A% P17 » 2B R
transaction resulted in the dilution of the Group’s interest in SEHNAEEANT BENERBE100%H#HEE
Fuyuan from 100% to 50.68%. As a consequence, Fuyuan 50.68% > ALt + IR B LK A 7N & B /Y 5
became an associate of the Group since then. /NI
2014
—E-{EF
RMB’000
AR¥T R
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale S ARFEFENESHNEE 1,371,611
Liabilities directly associated with the HEBEEFENEEERABNEE
assets held for sale (746,516)
625,095
Initial recognition of an associate TIIATER —KEE A A 719,998

Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary REHE —RFRala= 94,903
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION 46. (K&t

Beijing

On 4 July 2014, the Group acquired 100% equity
interests in Danone Shanghai and Danone Beijing from
Danone. Danone Shanghai and Danone Beijing are
mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale of low
temperature dairy products. The acquisition was made
as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share of low temperature dairy products in the PRC.
The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in
the form of cash, with RMB343,000,000 in total paid at
the acquisition date.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Danone Shanghai and Danone Beijing as at the date of
acquisition were as follows:

(@) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2014: (a R-ZE—DNFWREFLT:
Acquisition of Danone Shanghai and Danone WigEaE LB RERILL R

RZE—NFLANA AEBEHEZE
BE W BB i B B8 KoE eEdE A 100%
i o ERELBRERIREENRSE
REAMBERMEEREE - ZWEA
AREEBBEAERATPEEIDEST
BHENEEN—ID - ZWBERE
WIREFAINN  EREHARE
343,000,000 T AU BE B S A+F -

RUHE B ZRE BB MoEREE R Z AT &
AIEERBEZAREBELT

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
R B
ARE
RMB’000
AR®T T

Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment L E S 175,355
Land use rights T Hh s R4 43,308
Other intangible assets HEmmpaE 13,704
Construction in progress EETR 772
Trade and bills receivables FEWER R R = 131,587
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRI - e REMERER 23,668
Deferred tax assets BRI E E 1,464
Inventories & 11,649
Cash and bank balances Re MRITER 47,914
449,421

Liabilities a&
Trade and bills payables ERBRR R EE (85,286)
Other payables and accruals EHith e IERTEIRE A (88,731)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SERITREMBEE (38,000)
Income tax payable JETFTE R (1,442)
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE (35,525)
(248,984)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREYRZ TERBE

EEHARE 200,437
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 19) n s R EE R E (MEE19) 142,563
Purchase consideration at fair value BEARETEZWBERE 343,000
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 46. ¥ & 6t@
(@) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2014: (continuea) (@) R-Z=E—NFREFAAF (@)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition are same as
the gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables, which amounted to RMB131,587,000
and RMB18,200,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB560,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of Danone Shanghai and Danone Beijing for
the current year is as follows:

UL EE B RO FE AR BR R N E 4 FE U 3R R
NRED R AEARE131,587,0007T &
AR #18,200,0007t  HEEUREZR X
Hip W8 A MBEES -

AEERZWBEERIRAARS
560,0007T ° ZFXHRAEREAE
BRHWETATTRER -

AN 4 [ I S 108 B B AL TR Y
BoREAMT -

Cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

RMB’000

AR¥T T
RERE 343,000
gl & MRS EEY (47,914)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included

BREREEHELNASRE

in cash flows from investing activities ARIR e MRS EEWF R 295,086

Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash ~ BIFEKLEBEANIRSRE
flows from operating activities A EI IS X Z RS 560
295,646

Since its acquisition, Danone Shanghai and Danone
Beijing contributed RMB404,637,000 to the Group’s
turnover and net losses of RMB70,797,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2014,

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the year, the revenue from continuing operations of the
Group and net profit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014 would have been RMB50,400,967,000
and RMB2,554,759,000 respectively.

BHIEERE  Zg LB RERIERA
AEBHE-_ZT—NFEF+-_A=+—
HIEFEMEXBEREAHE 571
FELAR404,637,0007T K FE B A
R#70,797,0007T °

HEHRFNTR  B#E-_T—HNF
T oA+t HULFEAEEBER
BEBZBARKNEEFFES B E
A A R #50,400,967,0007C & A R
2,554,759,0007T °



46- BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Mengniu Arla

On 10 January 2013, the Group acquired an additional
49% equity interest in Mengniu Arla, a previous 50%
joint venture of the Group from the joint venture partner.
Mengniu Arla is mainly engaged in the production of
milk powder. The acquisition was made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand its market share of milk
powder in the PRC. Pursuant to the original joint venture
contract entered into in 2006, except for Mengniu
Arla, the Group was not allowed to establish or set up
other entities to run the milk powder business in the
PRC. Subsequent to this business combination, this
restriction was void.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was
in the form of cash, with RMB60,000,000 paid at the
acquisition date, an aggregate of RMB40,000,000
paid equally in the first, second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the acquisition date, and the remaining
RMB150,000,000 as a contingent consideration, which
is to be paid if certain operating results criteria can be
achieved or by the Group over the subsequent years.

FESFAEERLA
—T—UFEFIR

46. ¥ & 6t@

BB RS
R-ZZE—=%—A+H AKEEMRA&
ERHBBATHEEONRENA
B ERBIERAFREIN% B o B
SHZEEXBREEDY - ZWHE
RASBRAERPENNTHMNER
MBEEN—8D - RER-FTREF
FUMRBAZLEALN  KEHR
Foh - REBARKNZERIEME
B RhBEgENNER - Rl E
Wéﬁ& B BRI A 1ERE -

ZWEREUNRESFEAIMN  EFA
R #60,000,000t A EB S - &
H AR #40,000,0007t 8 R B W EEH
BEE— =  ZRNERFEEY
- Egp AR 150,000,0007T &8k &
RE BEAEERTERYEFEIE
TS S E R T -
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 46. %%éﬁ(ﬁ)
(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013: (continued) (b) R=ZE—Z=ZFWEFLA : @
Acquisition of Mengniu Arla (continued) BB S 4 ()
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities RUWEHBHSRF A #REENREA
of Mengniu Arla as at the date of acquisition were as BZAREWT :
follows:

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
TR B T R A
L]
RMB’000
AREFTT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment M - B R 335,508
Land use rights TR AR 12,796
Other intangible assets HEmEpaE 20,996
Trade and bills receivables FEWER R R =, 32,912
Investment in an associate REE R RIRIRE 2
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRI - R REMBKER 10,189
Inventories rE 114,451
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHER 52,696
579,550
Liabilities 8E&
Trade and bills payables FERTEBR R M =4k (213,542)
Other payables and accruals HtENFIBERIERER (416,828)
(630,370)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAARENRZTERR
FEEAE (50,820)
Less: Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share & : JEFE AR IR B 25 1% L 51 D1
of identifiable net liabilities ZAEBEEE (508)
Less: Goodwill previously allocated to Mengniu Arla 5 : SeRTD R ERE S rpgE 7,845
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 19) s W E AR E (EE19) 272,760
Purchase consideration at fair value BRAAREFEZWERE 214,603
The fair values of the trade receivables and other RS B &9 FE YRR 51 K E b e WG IR
receivables as at the date of acquisition are same as RNRED R AARE32,912,0007 &
the gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and AR #6,501,0007T + B EUER R R E
other receivables, which amounted to RMB32,912,000 L FEUWGRIE A W ARBBIESE -
and RMB6,501,000, respectively.
The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB3,680,000 AEBRZUEEERIKAARE
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been 3,680,0007T ° ZEX S AEREZE
expensed and are included in administrative expenses ZE =+ A=tT—HIEFEZ
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the RABERIIEWE AITTHER -

year ended 31 December 2013.
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continueq) 46. ¥ &t

(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013: (continued) (b) RZEBE—=FWEFALT : @
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the MAEEKWEFREESNESTRED
acquisition of Mengniu Arla for the current year is as MR -
follows:

RMB’000

ARETTT

Cash consideration HeRE 60,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrikBgIR & MR e SEY (52,696)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in  BIEEIREEHELENRESTE

cash flows from investing activities WEIE e MRS EEBWF R 7,304
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash ~ BIEEK L EKELNIR SRS

flows from operating activities WNE IS 22 5 P AR 3,680

10,984

Since its acquisition, Mengniu Arla contributed
RMB718,700,000 to the Group’s turnover and net
losses of 25,913,000 to the consolidated profit for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the year, the revenue from continuing operations of the
Group and the profit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013 would have been RMB43,356,908,000
and RMB1,861,988,000, respectively.

Acquisition of Yashili

On 13 August 2013, the Group acquired an 89.82%
equity interest in Yashili from independent third parties.
Yashili is mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale
of dairy and nourishment products. The acquisition
was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
market share of milk powder in the PRC. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of
cash, with RMB8,025,882,000 paid at the acquisition
date, and an 11.18% equity interest in China Menngiu
International Company Limited, an investment shell
company established solely for the acquisition of Yashili,
in which the Company held an 88.82% equity interest.
The fair value of RMB992,404,000 of the 11.18% equity
interest in China Mengniu International Company Limited
transferred was measured by reference to quoted prices
of corresponding Yashili shares. The Group has elected
to measure the non-controlling interest in Yashili at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of Yashili’s
identifiable net assets.

BHWER BHREAREEHE
—f——iJr A= + HIEFEE
MeEXBREETE - 23IEBIA
R #718,700,000 7T M % E 1B A R &
25,913,0007T °

HWEHRENTK  BE-FT—=
TZA=+T—HLEFEAERFER
BEBIWARKEEFNBEDRIER
A K ¥ 43,356,908,000 7T & A K #
1,861,988,0007T °

WEg L A
RZE—=FNA+=H "  AEEM
BN 2 = 7 U BE 7 - F189.82% A% 4 ©
LA EFEXEI DR REEMRE
NMEHE - (FER IR EE D A S B R
28D WIRARF RIS
0 - WESEZBEREUERES (R
Uk B8 B ERE > 4 A R #8,025,882,000
T RFBEZHEEERAR(ERK
BHLAmMERZZREERAT - &
AR R H88.82% ) 2 11.18%
BRESN  BEEBZPFRSFEES
RARI1.18% B AN BEARE
992,404,000 LEEETE » EHRELE
AR LTFRG 2RME - AEBERE
LA FE 122 B A% B4 o FE 1 7 = 7 ] B 5
RIBEFEZLOEH RN
FEFE AR AR S b s o
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 46. %i%éﬁ(?g)
(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013: (continued) (b) R=ZE—Z=ZHFWEFLA : @
Acquisition of Yashili (continued) I BB R (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUWEBRE > RSB EE K
Yashili as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEZARBELT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
W B R FERR 2
AAE
RMB’000
ARETTT
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment W BERRE 780,372
Construction in progress EETRE 355,952
Investment properties "EYE 115,623
Land use rights T b R4 277,469
Other intangible assets HEmmpaE 1,369,149
Deferred tax assets FIEFRIAE B 74,361
Non-current financial assets MBI EREE 680,000
Inventories FE 843,563
Trade and bills receivables FEER R R =45 28,386
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRI - R REMEKER 198,262
Other current financial assets EMnsemEE 214,000
Pledged deposits RESTFH 452,436
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHER 550,352
5,939,925
Liabilities =F
Trade and bills payables FEMBEFR M 22 iE (341,298)
Other loans EMER (33,500)
Other payables and accruals HiEMRIERIERE A (626,335)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHERITREMEER (404,246)
Income tax payable FET TS AL (37,373
Deferred income EFEW 5 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE (65,110)
(1,407,862)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREYERZ AT EEZE
FEEAS 4,532,063
Less: Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share & : JEFE AR A& B 25 1% L 151 D1
of identifiable net assets Z AR E EFE 461,364
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 19) o WEEEAEREE(MFE19) 4,947,587

Purchase consideration at fair value

BAARESEZNBERE 9,018,286




46- BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2013: (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition are same as
the gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables which amounted to RMB28,386,000
and RMB105,566,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB42,038,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of Yashili for the current year is as follows:

TEEFUERRAR
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46. (%5 0F@m)

(b) R=F—=FWEFAT : @
UL BE B HA A 8 U BR 2R K H 4t 8 LR
HARED R A ARE28,386,0007T
M AER#105,566,0007T © £ & ER
R E M EUCGRIEA Y REERSE -

AEBBRREAMBEEEEEARE
42,038,000 L Z R GKA c ZER
SRAROCNEE-_T—=F+_A#
S+ HLFEZHEABRERIHER
SFATHER -

RAFE  BEABRLIANKEREZR
ERAMFEOT

RMB’000

ARKETTT

Cash consideration HeRE 8,025,882

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BRBRS RIESEEY (440,852)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in ~ (f AR EFSHELNIR S RE

cash flows from investing activities ReRBSFEWN T F5E 7,685,030
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash ~ Et AL EEBELMRESRES

flows from operating activities WHEEIHAZ S A 42,038

7,627,068

Since its acquisition, Yashili contributed
RMB1,499,067,000 to the Group’s turnover and
RMB128,615,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning
of the year, the revenue and the profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2013 would have
been RMB45,756,462,000 and RMB2,168,573,000,
respectively.

BlEER IR EMAEEHZE
T—ZF+ A=+ HILFEZZ
¥58 AR #1,499,067,0007T K47 & |
AR E128,615,0007T °

WEHFREVET  AEEHZE
ZE—=Ff+ZA=+—HLHF
EzR=EMNBESAEAR
¥ 45,756,462,000 7T K& A R ¥
2,168,573,0007T °
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47. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 47. HEF QA

On 26 August 2014, a subsidiary of the Group, Yashili
International Ltd. (“Yashili (BVI)”, the “Seller”) and a related
party of the Group, Zhang International Investment Ltd.
(“Zhang International”, the “Purchaser”), entered into an equity
transfer agreement to sell 100% of the equity interests in
Yashili International Investment Limited to Zhang International,
for a consideration of RMB213,445,000, payable in cash by
the Purchaser to the Seller on the date of completion of the
transaction.

On 19 September 2014, the transaction was completed and
Zhang International started to control Yashili International
Investment Limited’s operating activities.

The book values of assets and liabilities of the above
subsidiary disposed of were as follows:

R-ZE—NWENA=+5H  KEEBFA
RBEETFBEBRER AR (THLEFBV)]
[Eh ) HALEBEALTRKERKRES
BRAR([REKBEE] - [BH )T e
FEipE o UAKRKBEER TSR HELTFBEE
WEBRARMI00%KE  REAEARK
213,445,0007C * ERRX ZEKEHBRE R
LBReFAINTFES -

ZRPFENR_T-MFAATNATK B
SR EIFR PR T BRI E AR QA
HAEEERE

FREHEFRRINEE R BENREED
T

19 September
2014
—E-{EF
hB+HBE
RMB’000
AR¥T R
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE :
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHET 94,321
Construction in progress EETR 6,360
Land use rights - Hh 55 A A 86,854
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERGR -~ e R E M R AR R 12,716
Other payables and accruals HinfE I ahBRER (681)
199,570
Satisfied by cash consideration AR ESREZR 213,445
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & FRE AN G 13,875
The cash inflow arising from above disposal is as FMHEFEEENRSRA
follows: wmr
Cash consideration WERE 213,445
Less: cash and cash equivalent disposed of B HENReRREEED (94,321)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of HRELEFARINIRES N
the disposal of a subsidiary REFEEBMRNFE 119,124




48.

49.

50.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Aside from the disclosure in note 39, the Group had
contingent liabilities not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements at the end of the reporting period as
follows:
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48. ARERE
P30T EE I - AEENBS K

B M BBREAN REHIABETIH
T

2014 2013
—EB-F —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥ETTT
Guarantees given to banks in connection  FtUA T A LEREE M
with facilities granted to: MERTTIRHER -
Third parties F=F 174,000 114,000
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 49. EEIKH

Details of the Group’s bills payable, bank loans, other loans
and long term payables, which are secured by the assets
of the Group, are included in notes 32, 34, 35 and 37,
respectively, to the financial statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(@) As lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

50.

FREASENEEFERNAKRERNR
& RITER - RERREIEMN IR

& SRIMRHBHREME2 - 34 3B
37 e
REHERH

(a) ERHEA
RBERR - AEBERBEAATEHL
2HE - ARIHEKREMEPHRE
He@EmT

Group

AEE
2014 2013
—E—MEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Within one year 1FR 23,512 24,754
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2FZ5F (B EEMELN) 70,639 77,185
Over five years 5F LA - 39
94,151 101,978
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50. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 50. REHEZHFmw
(continued)
(b) As lessee (b) EREBA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total REMR  AEERBEERAET
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable FEZRENTAFELCEREENA
operating leases in respect of buildings and certain B NOSFERSBBHT -

production equipment as follows:

Group
£33
2014 2013
—E-mEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Within one year 1FR 104,546 91,985
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2FZ5F (B EEMELN) 138,837 119,020
Over five years 5F A E 31,075 31,945
274,458 242,950
51. COMMITMENTS 51. 7&iE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in BRFIRESOFF il A48 T E AR IE SN - IR AT
note 50, the Group had the following outstanding capital R AEEEBBENEZYE  WENK
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction of BEHE AESENT -
property, plant and equipment as at the end of the reporting
period:
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-mEF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Contracted, but not provided for EHEEESET 882,288 974,968
Subsequent to the end of the reporting date, the board of NEHERE  BTeeEARL (A
directors approved the capital expenditure (not contracted KETH) 4B A R #3,806,504,0007C( =&
for) amounting to approximately RMB3,896,594,000 (2013: — =& : A\R¥4,246,276,0007T) °

RMB4,246,276,000).

The Company did not have any significant commitments at RIRE IR - AN T3 AT B ARGE -
the end of the reporting period.
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52. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 52. BEEA LR B
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances which are @ BRAFERREGMEERENRS
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the KaEepsh » REBEEBE N LA
Group had the following significant transactions with its fbBARE A TEIT TOIERRZS ©

associates and other related parties.

Group
A EE
2014 2013

—Z—MmF —E—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT

()  Sales of liquid milk ) MEEEQRIHEE

products to associates TR BB E (@ (i) 4,274,390 4,665,579
()  Sales of ice cream Iy ABELRHEE

products to associates TGEEE S 0] 61,804 268,510
(l)  Sales of milk powder (ny mEEARIEE

products to associates YA E S (i) 8,087 11,736
(V) Sales of other (v) EEEQRHE

products to associates HMER (i) 10,385 18,445
(V) Purchase of raw materials (V) BZAXT—%

from affiliates of a major FERREH

shareholder of the B TEE

Company BRI (i) (279,274) (325,155)
(V) Purchase of raw materials (VI) ML AFIEE

from associates R 0] (3,199,061) (2,372,938)
(VIl) Purchase of ice cream Vi) rMEEAREE

products from an KOEHEE G

associate (i) - (87,350)

Note: KfzE -
()  The considerations were determined with reference to () EEIE2EEHMBER BER
the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged WEE = HERETE -

to third parties.

(o) Compensation of key management personnel of the (o) AEBMEEEEABMIRH
Group
Key management compensation is detailed in notes 8 FEEERABNRMFAHN T B HRE
and 9 to the financial statements. M FE8 M Y59 ©
Except for (a.V), the above transactions did not BT (@i iR SW AR T
constitute connected transactions as defined in the RAFTAENBERZS °

Listing Rules.
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53. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 53. RERETHEMIT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHR SEsENEeRTAMNERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as PN
follows:
Financial assets EREE

2014
= Sk
Fair value Fair value
Fair value through Fair value through
through other through other
Amortised profit or - comprehensive Amortised profitor - comprehensive
cost loss income cost income
RAREHE ROAEHE AEHE  EALEHE
BRgEIA  BEEBHA
S BE Ht2E4E ) Bl Ba Ht2Eks
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Trade and bills receivables EUETRES 1,148,186 - - 1,148,186 754,265 - - 754,265
Financie assets induded i~ BEEREAE B4R
prepayments, deposts and Aol
ofher receivables SREE 370413 - - 370413 337,798 - - 337,798
Equity investments RARE - 41,066 620,274 661,340 - 41,066 400,580 441,646
Unittrust investment Efy A - 327,000 - 321,000 - 350,258 - 350258
Entrusted loans st 83,114 - - 83,114 74453 - - 74453
Derivative financial instruments 47448 TA - 17,455 - 17,455 - - - -
Investment deposits RERR - 7,967,743 - 797,743 - 1,344,508 - 1,344,508
Pledged deposits RESER 255,589 - - 255,589 711,709 - - 711,709
Cash and bank equivalents BeRFnEEn 3,607,033 - - 3,607,083 3,354,590 - - 3,354,590
Time deposits with original maturity /% B A3fE AL L)
of more than three months THER 2,235,413 - - 225M3 4830538 - - 4830538

7,699,748 8,353,264 620274 16,673,286 10063353 1735832 400580 12,199,765
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53. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 53. REREITHWERM T Eum)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities tRMEE

2014
—g-MF
Fair value Fair value
through through
Amortised profit or Amortised profit or

cost loss cost loss
BRAAEHE BAR(EE
BHSEHA BHEFHHA
B B s  BEKA B @t
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AE%TR ARETR ARETT ARET:

Trade and bills payables ENEZRER 4,991,847 - 4991,847 4,761,208 - 4,761,298
Financial liabilities included in other payables & 3ER KA (3118 )2

and accruals BREE ERMAR | 2,908,099 - 2,903,009 2,286,210 3,192 2,289,402
Interest-bearing bank loans and other SRBITERR

borrowings HipfEE 9,824,668 - 9,824,668 11,697,041 - 11,607,041
Other loans Hi &R 118,365 - 118,365 92,565 - 92,565
Derivative financial instruments fTESBTIEA - 12,124 12,124 - - -
Long term payables RHENATE 130,640 - 130,640 159,593 - 159,593
Other non-current financial liabilities HitErasmas 2,338,741 - 2,338,741 663,959 - 663,959

20,307,360 12,124 20,319,484 19,660,666 3,192 19,663,858
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53. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIEER  SESENSR T ENEREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as PN

follows:

Financial assets

2014
Z2-|f
Fair value
through
other

Amortised comprehensive

cost

L
RMB000
ARBTR

Loans to a subsidiary note 22) JER—FFATEE

income
BAREHE
BHZHHA
A2 EhE
RMB'000
ARET T

53. ZERETHNEMIT Euwm

TREE

Company
AR
2013
“E-F
Fair value
Fair value through
through other
Amortised profitor  comprehensive
cost

3t
RMB'000
ARRTR  ARETS \RRTT  ARETR

i
RMB'000
ABRTR

(M3k22) 2,484,941 - 248494 2,476,625 - - 247662

Financial assets includedin ~ BERERT - K4 R

prepayments, deposisand ~ EfERERE

other receivables PEHEE 869,352 - 869,352 615,925 - - 615,925
Cash and bank balances BeRBnEs 1,594,262 - 1,594,262 245,117 - - 245,117
Investment deposts RERT - - - - 100,000 - 100,000
Pledge deposits RELER 9,015 - 9,015 469,59 - - 469,592
Equity investments RARE - 103,286 103,286 - - 302,049 302,049
4,957,570 103,286 5,060,856 3,807,859 100,000 302,049 4,209,908




53. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

Financial liabilities
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53.

RERESHNEMITEw
tWMEE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Fair value

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the
amount at which the asset could be sold or the liability
transferred in a current transaction between market
participants, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current
portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade
and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, current interest-bearing bank
loans and other loans, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

Company
NG
2014 2013

“Z-{F Z3-=F

Fair value Fair value

through through

Amortised profit or Amortised profit or

cost loss Total cost loss

RAfETTE N
BHSEHA &

B i - EI S5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TH ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARETT ARETT
Loans from subsidiaries FRTER 253,432 - 253432 531,32 - 53132
Other payables and accruals HiENTELEIRER 23,461 = 23,461 49 552 - 49552
Derivative financial instruments (TEERIA - 2,479 2,479 - - -

Interest-bearing bank loans and other SAEETR

borrowings HinfEE 6,782,044 - 6,782,044 8,804,841 - 8,804,841
7,058,937 2419 7,061,416 9,385,715 - 9385715
54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 54, SRITECZAARABRAABER

nRE
TREENRABZAREBEMS2EE LM
BRENRZ S (RAZEEHERIN R AL
EMEEXRBBRNABNEE -

TXEIAR A AR ERNTEMRR

RekRA2EFBMHIAE  RESFERN
BIERER Y~ BUPR AR RRE - BNERAK
FiE - BREREMNK - e REMEURR
MEMEE  BRENEMENRANERE
RHTEAE  REBRITERREME
EETAREHATHIMm RS 2 BREER

s

Eo

\

4
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value (continued)

The fair values of the non-current portion of other financial
assets, long-term pledged deposits, long-term time deposits,
the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and
long term payables and other non-current financial liabilities
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties, principally established commodity
trading exchanges or financial institutions with good credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including commodity
futures contracts, forward currency contracts and interest rate
forward contracts, are measured using quoted prices from
financial institutions with which the forward currency contracts
and interests rate forward contracts are entered into. The
carrying amounts of commodity futures contracts, forward
currency contracts and interest rate forward contracts are the
same as their fair values.

54.

EMTAZARERAARERR

(&)

A RE @)

HihemEEMNIENRES - RBRERT
K REEHER - ;T RTERERSE
NFIERSEREHS REMIERB e mEaE
MNARERBARAGELUGE EERR
KR F R T EMRTH RITINIBHIAR K

RenEstHE -

ERBRARENA A BIRARTISETE

AEEEZEZEF T (TERBAMR I K
EARFERFCNESRMBRE)FILITES
MIE -fTEsRMIARESRBEEER -
EMINEA W RN ERERAL  BERARIL
ZEHINEE N RN R ERE NN T RKE
MIEE - BmPEAR - EMINEEL
EFZEMEONEREEIEREAR
B
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 54, TRMITAZRAABERAAEBEEBR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value (continued) /L\\JLG{E iH)
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in TREFNETEMETRERKEFER AR
the determination of fair values of unit trust investments and BEFANGHERT(BRARBEEBRNE =
investment deposits, which falls within level 3 of the fair value &) RAEEFTA R E AT A B R A BUE -

hierarchy, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used
in the valuation.

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input  Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EERH BEXTUERBAYE #E BABEHAAENTE
Investment deposits  Discounted cash flow Expected yield 2.00% to 6.00% 10% (2013: 10%) increase (decrease) in expected
REER method BikE® (2013: 4.00% to 6.30%) yield would result in increase (decrease) in fair
ARAERE 2.00%%6.00% value by RMB4,961,000 (2013: RMB2,026,000)

(25251 4.00%%26.30%) BEMEREN (5D) 10%
(ZE-ZF 10%) BEHLA
& i) AR%4,961,0007
(ZF—=F: AR%2,026,0007T)

Discount rate 2.00% to 6.00% 10% (2013: 10%) increase (decreasg) in discount
FRx (2013: 4.00% to 6.30%) rate would result in decrease (increase) in fair
2.00%%6.00% value by RMB4,950,000 (2013: RMB2,022,000)

(ZE-ZF 1 4.00%Z6.30%) WREEM (L) 10% (ZF—=F : 10%)
BEBNAERD () ARE4,950,0007
(ZF—=%F: \R#2,022,0007)

Unit trust investments  Discounted cash flow Expected yield 7.00% to 11.00% 10% (2013: 10%) increase (decrease) in expected
BUfETERE method EaX (2013: 8.50% to 11.00%) yield would result in increase (decrease) in fair
TRBeRE: 7.00%%11.00% value by RMB800,000 (2013: RMB2,261,000)

(Z2—=F:850%%11.00%) FEHYEZEM (AD) 10% (ZF—=F : 10%)
RERRAAEEN () AKEB00,0007T
(ZZ2-=%: AR%2,261,0007C)

Discount rate 7.00% to 11.00% 10% (2013: 10%) increase (decrease) in discount
% (2013: 8.50% to 11.00%) rate would result in decrease (increase) in fair
7.00%%11.00% value by RMB798,000 (2013: RMB2,245,000)

(ZE-ZF :850%211.00%) IEREM (D) 10% (ZT—ZF : 10%) &
BYQAERD (8) ARE798,0007T
(ZF—=F: \R#2,245,0007)
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 54. EMTAZAREBERAIAERER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (#)

I NSTR U M E NTS (continued)

Fair value (continueq) NAEE

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and AREEBRANTZEm T E(BEREEA
the Company’s financial instruments, other than those with hEAEMHAEYSMITEN) ZEEAER
carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, NREWNT

are as follows:

Group REE

Carrying amounts Fair values
fREE DRE
2014 2013 2014 2013

—2-NE —T—=F —ZT-NFE —_T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARETT AR®TR ARETT

Financial assets SRMEE

Long term entrusted loans RHPZAER 39,833 24,472 40,216 24,566
Long term pledged deposits EHRESEFER - 150,000 = 148,572
Long term time deposits REEAIF R 1,192,886 1,083,548 1,152,365 1,031,305

1,232,719 1,258,020 = 1,192,581 1,204,443

Carrying amounts Fair values
fREE DRE
2014 2013 2014 2013

—E2-NE —T—=F ZT-NEFE —_T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETT AR®TR ARETIT

Financial liabilities - NN
Other non-current financial HEmIEmgemiE

liabilities 2,338,741 663,959 2,338,741 663,959
Interest-bearing bank loans and 5 ER1TEZR X

other borrowings — HEMEE—

non-current portion ERBE D 5,464,050 3,235,535 = 5,484,636 3,242,102
Long term payables EHfE 7B 63,812 100,678 58,886 92,244

7,866,603 4,000,172 = 7,882,263 3,998,305
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 54. SRITAZAREBERAAEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value (continued) /L\\JLG{E(?RE)
Company AT

Carrying amounts Fair values
BREIE RRE
2014 2013 2014 2013

—F-OF —T-=F —FT-NOF —T-=F
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARWTR ARETT

Financial liabilities cRAE
Interest-bearing bank loans and ;T BER1TER X
borrowings EE 4,240,705 3,010,426 @ 4,359,664 3,038,344
4,240,705 3,010,426 4,359,664 3,038,344

Fair value hierarchy AREER

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and REERANTESNBEERFESRTA

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: BIASRE -

Level 1:  fair values measured based on quoted prices F—&: BEBEHAREESBERERMS
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets RRECREAR)FTEAAE
or liabilities

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation FH s AREBEAEERMGE B2
techniques for which all inputs which have a B ATRSEN AR BEEERTE
significant effect on the recorded fair value are B ABUR S ] ik HEER
observable, either directly or indirectly 125

Level 3:  fair values measured based on valuation F= . AREENEERIMGE - BE
techniques for which any inputs which have a SRS AREEERTE
significant effect on the recorded fair value are not K8 A BB B IEE R AT R
based on observable market data (unobservable TGS (GERT #2288 A ZUR)

inputs)
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continueq) AAREBRE
Assets measured at fair value: BRARBEFENEE :

ARE
2014
—F-mF

Hong Kong listed equity investments &% i fRAH &
Unlisted equity investments FEETRARE
Unit trust investments BEHARE
Investment deposits BEGR
Derivative financial instruments THESRIA

Quoted
prices

In active
markets
(Level 1)
RIERT 5
HRE
(E-8)
RMB’000
ARETR

620,274

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXTEZ
BARE
(B=%)
RMB’000
ARBTR

17,455

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
EXFTHE
BAHE
(B=8)
RMB’000
ARBTR

41,066
327,000
7,967,743

st
RMB’000
ARBTR

620,274
41,066
327,000
7,967,743
17,455

BELTRARE

Hong Kong listed equity investments

Quoted
prices

In active
markets
(Level 1)
RIERT 5
B
(BE—#)
RMB’000
ARETR

103,286

Company
N
2014

—2-DE

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXTEE
BARE
(=)
RMB’000
ARETR

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
EXTABE
BAHE
(B=84)
RMB’000
ARBTR

st
RMB’000
ARBTR

103,286
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 54, €T EZARERAAEBRER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ()
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NREERHE)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BARBETENEE : (#)

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
In active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2)
NI EDNGIF- 22
HRE BASE A
(=) (B=/R) F=1 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETFT

Hong Kong listed equity investments BB ETMRARE 302,049 - - 302,049
Unlisted equity investments FEMBRAEE - - 139,597 139,597
Unit trust investments BRETRE - - 350,258 350,258
Investment deposits RERR - - 1,344,508 1,344,508

302,049 - 1,834,363 2,136,412

Company
ARE
2013

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
In active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
NERE EDNGIE-2:
HRE BARR ~
(E—&) (E=8) (BE=H) ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTL  ARETL  AREBTL  ARETI

Hong Kong listed equity investments BB LMRAEE 302,049 - - 302,049
Investment deposits BREFR - - 100,000 100,000

302,049 - 100,000 402,049
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54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 54, TRMTAZRAABERAAEBEEBR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continueq) ARERERE)
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAREFENARE

Group
A%
2014
—E-|mE

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

In active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERTS EXTHE EATABE

HRE BARE BAHE
(E-%) (=) (B=#) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Other payables - white sugar commodity E b JEfS F0E — A 7 (B3t

futures contracts at fair value ENOEEDHESD - = = =
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBMTA - 12,124 - 12,124

- 12,124 - 12,124

Company
N
2014
—Z-lmE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
In active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RIERT S EXTHRE EATAHE
HRE BARE BARE
(5—#%) (=) (B=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR

Other payables - white sugar commodity Efth e 58 — 12 A 7 BT

futures contracts at fair value ENORERHBELD - = = -
Derivative financial instruments fTESBMIA - 2,479 - 2,479
- 2,479 - 2,479




54. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value: (continued)

Other payables - white sugar commodity E#hfERZIE —Z A AL
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54. EMIBEZRAAREBERAR
(#8)

RAEREHR
BARERENEE (8

EHE®R

Quoted
prices
In active

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
BAUHE
AR
(B=8)
RMB’000

AREFTE

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
BEANAER
A&
(B=8)
RMB’000
ARETT

markets
(Level 1)
T
HRE
(F—8)
RMB’000
ARETFR

Total

it
RMB’000
ARBFT

futures contracts at fair value HEMARERBERL 3,192 - - 3,192
Derivative financial instruments fTHESRIA - - - -
3,192 - - 3,192

Other payables - white sugar commodity Eft {508 — 522 £ (B 5t
futures contracts at fair value ENAEEREEAN

Derivative financial instruments fTHESRTA

Company
AR
2013

Quoted
prices

In active
markets
(Level 1)
RERTS
H3R(E
(=)
RMB’000
ARETFTE

Significant

observable

inputs
(Level

EpN|

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
NAE
BAHIE
(B=1)
RMB’000
ARETT

EX

o

it
RMB’000
AT

RMB’000
AREFTT

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2013.

R-ZE—=F+-"A=+—8  AQFIE
AR AR ETENSETE -
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 55. BiIEREEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and payables, other receivables and payables,
balances with related parties, interest-bearing bank loans,
other loans and long term payables. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly
commodity futures contracts, forward currency contracts and
interest rate forward contracts. The purpose is to manage
the commodity risk, the exchange rate and floating rate
exposures arising from the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks.
Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its risk
management.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 39 to the financial
statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has no significant interest rate risk and has not used
any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk.

AEBZTESHTAATETARIN BRI
RekReFEY  RREEMERER - Hi
FEU N FEASTSRIR - ERRAEE A TEVAEER - FER
RITEE - At ER R RMEMREA - %F
TRMTATZEEANEAREENLESERE
T ARBERABEERKAEEBHE
hEMEENEE - PIIEUERR R BN

Eo
A °

REETITER S T BARAHES
0 EHREANRFEERAL - AR
EEAREMEBFELNBDAR - EXR
FEFEER -

REAEEeRTIANFTZRRARXR
b SNERR - EERR MR BN E R &R
AEREAR ZEFERSREEASTHE
T8#  OMASBEMAZNER - WHIE
RAEERRNEE - AEE—RERAEE
EVERBR B IR AR -

i) FER@ER
AEBAZNTISN XSS ER T E
BERAASENZERE - AEEEH
B M EEEBEERERAELL
xR HWHMERBETEIER o &
KB RTE RN R LR RN
WRMEOWE - EFZRR - A5HE
WEBANKER - IR GEBEMA
) b B e ) K g o
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 55. BISEKREEEERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continueq) ISR ETE(E)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FI=EE)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to TRIREAEMEBEEZTER
a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with IR - FIRA]gEH IR & I8 & 8) ¥ K
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s EEMAABECGEREEEENTE)
profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate S 2 -
borrowings):
Group
rEH
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax
RREREM . BATREEM
(R2) (R2)
RMB’000
ARBTR
2014 —E—E
RMB AR 50 (798)
RMB AR® (50) 798
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (10,048)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 10,048
United States dollars E5T 50 (9,581)
United States dollars Ep0 (50) 9,581
2013 —F—=4F
RMB AR 50 (317)
RMB AR (50) 317
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (7,860)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 7,860
United States dollars eV 50 (6,520)

United States dollars £ (50) 6,520
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally located in
Mainland China and substantially all transactions
are conducted in RMB, except for the purchases of
imported machinery and equipment and sales of dairy
products to Hong Kong and Macau. As at 31 December
2014, substantially all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB except for the cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB1,369,770,000
(2013: RMB244,157,000), RMB60,491,000
(2013: RMB193,832,000), RMB64,520,000
(2013: RMB2,024,000), RMB124,400,000 (2013:
RMB9,960,000) and RMB24,513,000 (2013:
RMB13,202,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Euro, New Zealand
dollars and Danish Krone, respectively, a long term
investment deposit due within one year of approximately
RMB151,233,000 (2013: Nil) which was denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB1,036,181,000
(2013: RMB1,109,764,000), RMB4,341,208,000 (2013:
RMB10,035,130,000) and RMB38,005,000 (2013:Nil)
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United
States dollars and Euro, respectively, and the long term
payables of approximately RMB35,518,000 (2013:
RMB50,447,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars. The fluctuation of the exchange rates of
RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group’s
results of operations. However, in the opinion of the
directors, the foreign currency risk exposure is under
management’s control.

BEREEEREE

(ii)

Z N BUER )

ShEs LB
AREEBNEBR TSR PR KRE
RTHESBEAKEERBEURRSE
/%flJ/EAFEJHj ILEGI BRI
RHGEUAREEERMNEE - =
T—mWFEF+-_A=+—H A&£H
MEERBEEY - Bfw%%zi’])\
R #1,369,770,000T( — T — =4 :
AR ¥ 2441570007 ) « AR
60,491,000 (ZF—=F : AR®
193,832,0007T) *+ A R #64,520,000
T(ZZT—=% : AR®2024,000
7T) + AR #124,400,000L (= Z
—=%F : AR%¥9,960,0007T) & A
R # 24,513,000 (=& — = F :
AR #13,202,0007T ) MR & &R
THEESRINNERT BT BT
BTN ERRAAEM B —
FREPHEHPRETRHARE
151,233,000 C( = — =4 : £&) A
BILBEMN FFERITREMEER
# AR #1,036,181,0007( =T —=
F: AR#1,109,764,0007T) * AR
#4,341,208,000 c( — & — = & :
AR #10,035,130,0007T ) & A R
38,005,000t (= —=%F : &) 1%
BILABTL - ELRBTAEAM - UK
RHEAE I L A R 35,518,000
—E—=% : AR®b50,447,0007T)
THAETT BB AN - BREIEDEE
LEBEHAUAREARBEMN - ARBRE
INEREEEE RS - AR ERE
BMEEEE  BESRABINERR
EEBEBHIERZF -
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 55. B EBEREBERBE@®

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) MERERREE(E)

(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) IMEREBE(E)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRINTREMBHMESEFTTED
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rate as BRAT  AREEHZET Bt &
compared to United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, T AT AR E RN R
Euro, New Zealand dollars and Danish Krone with all eI A B (REKEERBRE
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit B R B2 B E ) B R S B 7 Al A
before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary KRR E

assets and liabilities) and equity:

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
RMB rate before tax in equity

ARMER Bi AT F ez
R (FRE) 8/ 0Bd) &/ (hd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% AR®TRT AR¥TxR

2014 —ZE—-{F 5 (843,804) (817,722)
(5) 843,804 817,722
2013 —E—=F 5 (257,726) (75,755)

5) 257,726 75,755
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged
deposits, of the Group are mainly deposited with state-
owned commercial banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on
a cash basis. The Group has implemented policies to
ensure that sales of products are made to distributors,
who wish to trade on credit terms, with an appropriate
credit history which is subject to periodic reviews.
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise deposits and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these assets.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading
over a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.

55.

B EREEER
BERREE

(iii)

Z N BUR ()

(%&)

EERR

REBNRE e MRITEFUARRES
GH - FEGRTPBRRERNE GRS
HRAT ©

AEBAROHHEDRA S EEE
17 - AEBEC BB IARREME
ETHABEEECHLABUARK
FAETRZNEHEE  YHEEE

AEETEMNER - AKE—EHF
BERBUIRN AR AEEYE

EK%EEJ—LB/\A

MR ZTENELHRE MHEME
WO IR AR B AN SR B B At 2 B B A RO
FERBREEREEFNILEFEEN
BREE -

Br At E SN ZSEIE’JHM/%/F&y%
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continueq)

(iv) Liquidity risk

55. BiEBREEEERBEw@m

R EE ()
(iv) REMEREE

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its
liquidity with regard to the industry characteristics,
market conditions, business strategies and changes in
the Group’s state of affairs and adjusting the current
and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group
aims to ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility
through the use of various means of financing and by
keeping committed credit lines available.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2014 based
on contractual undiscounted payments.

AEBEEHERBETERR  THR
B RIBORE MR BB O HO &
£ BEBEHNRDEETRS RE
B BELLRBSRABAEEREERS
BN R JERN AR Y - B R BN IE
BB o tbSh - ANERETNE BB AR
MBETARRE - ENAKEER
BAERESWEEERERE -

TREIIR -_F-—F+_A=+—
BRESMNETIENTNAEE S R
BEMNIIHER -

2014
—E-mF
Less than 1to  More than

On demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total

REX —FLR —Zhf EENL st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR%®Tn AR%Trn AR%Trn AR%Tn
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t B8R1T M E A&

borrowings g - 4,399,624 5,501,726 - 9,901,350

Other loans HiER 118,365 - - - 118,365

Trade and bills payables ERERRER - 4,991,847 - - 4,991,847
Financial liabilities included in ~ BFERE A& 3k
other payables and accruals, BRERERAZ
excluding current portion of long £ @& & - T8
term payables EREEMZE

#ENEE S 6,025 2,897,074 - - 2,903,099

Long term payables REEMNTE - 72,862 70,795 - 143,657

Other financial liabilities HtteRaE - - 1,010,363 2,157,932 3,168,295
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 55. KRR EEEERBEX @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued) BEEREE(E)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) RENERBS(E)

2013
“E-=F
Less than 110 More than
On demand 1 year 5 years 5 years
REX —FUA —EhF AFMNE @st
000

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMBJ"
ARETRE ARBTR ARETZ ARMTR ARMTR

Interest-bearing bank and other 5 ERTTREME

borrowings g - 8,696,648 3,714,867 - 12,411,615
Other loans HEfEH 92,565 - - - 92,565
Trade and bills payables ERERREE - 4,761,298 - - 4,761,298

Financial liabilities included in PR E A T R
other payables and accruals, ELRERERAC
excluding current portion of long £ F&E - 78

term payables EREEMZE
EIENEREE > - 2,289,402 - - 2,289,402
Long term payables REEMNFE - 67,414 108,557 - 175,971

Other financial liabilities EthemEE - - 1,026,388 - 1,026,388




55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Financial risk management (continueq)

v)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual equity investments classified as equity
investments (note 27) as at 31 December 2014.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at
the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the equity investments, the impact is
deemed to be on the financial assets revaluation reserve
and no account is given for factors such as impairment
which might impact the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

2014

—E-mF

Hong Kong listed equity investments Z&# & A% &

55.

FERFAEERAT
—T—UFEFIR

Notes to Financial Statements 81 7% #R & Mz

BEEREEEERBE®

Pt B B 2R (4]
(v) BAERRRE
Hx$€’;7f%ﬂ[ﬁ7%ﬁxm?a%l7k$&flﬁu
ERBEEHERRAZLSAAE
TE¢ZH BeR—_T—ME+_-A
=t—HB ARERHZEAERE
R E D ERIRAKRE (E27) Z @
BIRRAIE

TRETEEMABAERZERT
FRRFTAEMARBREZBERT
BAREZ DA EE5%E S Z B
B - DREARERRERR KR
BFtE - AT E - HRBRAK
B BRESHMEEEGLREENT
E UEFLAEZERABRRDN
Hz= - fIanREE -

Carrying
amount
of equity Change
investments in equity
IR A% & B AR B PRS2 E)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥T R

620,274 31,014

)
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 55. BiEKBREEEERBEw@m

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(v) Equity price risk (continued)

Hong Kong listed equity investments &5 F &A1& &

(v) BRAERERERE

Carrying
amount

of equity
investments

Change
in equity

AR AR IREE PR A

RMB’000
ARBETT

RMB’000
ARETT

302,049 15,102

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December
2018.

EXrEE
AEEEAEENERB RN ERHARER
BEEMBENRRFBEOEARLE - X
REXBRIESBRRER -

AEBEREEARZEE  WHEBLEREN
BULABEENRBRBEBIELAZE - A
HRAREAZRE  AEBAESHER
N TFREMRE « BREAE AL R ZEHTH
e REBEZE_TE—NF+_A=F+—HK=
E—=F+-_A=+—BHULFEEBRELRE
EHERER  BURRRF I EEs) -
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55. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 55.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings,
trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals, other
loans, long term payables and other financial liabilities, less
cash and bank balances and long term time deposits, and
excludes discontinued operations. Capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as
at the end of reporting periods were as follows:

BEEREEEERBE®

BEXREE(H)
AEEBNERGELERETER  EXREE
EFEERINEAER N EFEEZ
Mo FABREAEBTERNEMEE -
JEMBER N ER - Bt EMNZKIANTBIRE
A -H2HtExR  REEMFENLREME R
e  BREMBETETFERHAERTHR
WABIEE R LR - EARAZIEARA
HAEANEENER - RBEHRNEREE
RN

Group
REEHE
2014 2013
—Z-mF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Interest-bearing bank and FERITR
other borrowings HibfgE 9,824,668 11,697,041
Trade and bills payables ERERAREE 4,991,847 4,761,298
Other payables and accruals EMENAZRIERTBIRER 4,554,420 4,354,840
Other loans HEaBER 118,365 92,565
Long term payables REIEN A 63,812 100,678
Other financial liabilities HiesmaE 2,338,741 663,959
Less: Cash and bank balances IR MIRTTEE (4,649,560) (7,101,580)
Less: Long term time deposits B REFEERTER (1,192,886) (1,083,548)
Net debt FAE 16,049,407 13,485,253
Equity attributable to owners of the ViNINEIE Z =N
Company IR 21,489,400 15,360,918
Capital and net debt BEAREZEE 37,538,807 28,846,171
Gearing ratio BEARBRL R 42.75% 46.75%

D
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56.

57.

58.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 30 October 2014, Yashili, Mengniu International and
Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone Asia”)
entered into a subscription agreement pursuant to which,
among other things, Danone Asia has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for and Yashili has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue 1,186,390,074 subscription shares (representing
approximately 25% of the entire issued share capital of
Yashili as enlarged by the allotment) at the subscription
price of HK$3.70 per subscription share. Upon completion,
the interests of Mengniu in Yashili (through its shareholding
interests in Mengniu International) will be diluted from
approximately 68.05% to approximately 51.04%. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, Yashili will remain as a
subsidiary of Mengniu. As at 12 February 2015, the conditions
precedent of the subscription agreement are fulfilled and the
allotment has completed.

On 31 December 2014, China Dairy (Mauritius) Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into an equity
interest transfer agreement to acquire an approximately
6.6862% equity interest in Inner Mongolia Mengniu from
the sellers at an aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB2,505,732,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,162,166,000) in form of cash within 10 business days
of the obtaining of the approval of the Ministry of Commerce
of the PRC. Upon completion, the Company is interested in
directly and indirectly through China Dairy (Mauritius) Ltd.,
approximately 99.9775% shareholding interest of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, which is the main operating subsidiary of
the Group.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2, the Group has early adopted
IFRS 9 (2009) retrospectively, the comparative information
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and in note 27 has been re-presented to reflect the new
classification of the Group’s financial assets under IFRS 9
(2009).

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2015.

56.

57.

58.

REHRRBREIE
R-ZZT—MF+A=Z+H #ELH  ZFH
B% % Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd.
(MZgedmM DT LRE WS - B (A e
) EeeMe B RGREREMELF
2B R E B3 & #171,186,390,074 %
RGO (BENEREEBBAENELF 2
BEBITRAL25%) @ REEATRAE
BR738.708 7L - EEKE - BHE(EBRER
SERBRPOERERS) EHETR PR
15 1 #768.05% B E = 4951.04% ° AR AIE
ERE BLFENESTFHFAR] - K=
T—RAF-A+=8 ' REBHO RGN
B RELEE T o

RZFE—NF+=ZA=+—H  AQaz
& F /A @) China Dairy (Mauritius) Ltd. 5] 32
BEEZRZ UEAEHFRBRAREFYH
6.6862% 1 - HEREAGHNWAARK
2,505,732,000 7t ( #8 55 7 49.3,162,166,000
BIT) - AR ERE RIS B it X
BIOEEE RN - RTAE - AAF
i% 3B China Dairy (Mauritius) Ltd. B # & &
EREAEETZEETFTRAAREFY
99.9775% %1 o

EE & 2R

M E2E - P HEE - AKECRTE
PERMBERM B RELENEIR(ZFTH
F) HEETERERLMETMLRER
EREY  URBRAKESREEEBIFRES
BREENER(ZZTTNF)NHOES
7 o

#EM B ®R
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B H 4B

The following is a summary of the audited financial statements of T 7| AFRKFIEGR AR ([ ARF ) RET
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its R ER T EFEE 7 KEZTEMERME o
subsidiaries for the respective years.

RESULTS E S

Year ended
BZE+-A=+—HLEE
2014 2012 2011 2010

—F-mF —FCfF ZF—% CZT%F
RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RWMB000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTR  ARERTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR

Revenue A 50,049,243 43,356,908 35,999,990 37,387,844 30,265,415
Profit before tax from continuing TABECEER L
operations BRTAE 3,150,008 2,204,503 1,733,863 2,060,630 1,538,102
Income tax expense S (459,292) (366,713) (245,476) (276,081) (182,185)
Profit for the year from continuing TABECEER L
operations AERE 2,690,716 1,837,790 1,488,387 1784549 1355917
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued & 8 2 4 |H &£ 7
operations AEFE/(B8B) (63) 24,198 429 - -
Profit for the year KEFH 2,690,653 1,861,988 1488816 1,784,549  1,355917
Attributable to: AT &
Owners of the Company AREEBA 2,350,803 1,630,925 1,303,101 1589274 1,237,273
Non-controlling interests FERRR R 339,850 231,063 185,715 195,275 118,644
Proposed dividend Bk B 548,406 367,053 282,917 349,953 278,078

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 2872 &) & @ AR A A JE(S
equity holders of the Company (RMB)  GREF(ARETT)

(note (i) CiE()
For profit for the year AERE
- Basic —-EK 1.210 0.904 0.737 0.908 0.712

- Diluted -& 1.203 0.896 0.737 0.905 0.711
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE - BERER

At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

—E-QmE —T—= “£-——F ZT——F ZT-I%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Total assets BEE 47,080,792 40,339,396 20,915,894 19,999,679 17,305,841
Total liabilities Baf 22,587,919 22328258 7,794,787 7,950,859 7,088,332
Equity attributable to owners of the AREEE AL ER
Company 21,489,400 15,360,918 12,489,245 11,471,058 9,758,064
Non-controlling interests R AR R s 3,003,473 2,650,220 631,862 577,762 459,445
Note: Bt &

()  The calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to (i) RARIEBRBEEEABLSREFNNGTER
ordinary equity holders of the Company is set out in note 14 to the BRI A M IEIREMFE14 ©
consolidated financial statements.
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